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ISARIA Wohnbau Group
Key Parameters

Highlights 2014

Profit after tax: 

€9.3 million 
|  previous year € 1.1 million |

EBIT increased
+629 %

hidden reserves 
in plots of land and developments  
| previous year € 77 million |  

€ 89
million

Sales revenue 

|  previous year € 38 million |

€ 160 million 

Equity increased  
by 9.3 million 

+68 %

apartments 
completed and 
handed over

300

Operating performance indicators 
in € million

01/01/ - 12/31/2014 01/01/ - 12/31/2013 Q4 2014 Q4 2013

Sales revenue 160.2 37.7 94.8 18.1

Total output 170.3 42.4 89.6 16.0

Gross profit 42.7 13.0 25.3 2.4

EBITDA 24.6 4.2 18.1 -0.2

EBIT 21.6 3.0 16.4 -0.7

Financial result -10.9 -10.4 -3.1 -3.3

Consolidated result after taxes 9.3 1.1 11.2 4.5

Gross profit margin 27 % 34 % 27 % 14 %

EBIT margin 14 % 8 % 17 % -4 %

Profit-turnover-ratio 6 % 3 % 12 % 25 %

Balance sheet ratios  
in € million

12/31/2014 12/31/2013

Current assets 262.3 185.1

of which: Properties held for sale and 
other inventories

136.4 126.3

Equity 22.9 13.6

Equity ratio 7.6 % 6.0 %

Financial liabilities & compensation 
liabilities

189.6 133.8

of which: non-current 36.3 26.3

Balance sheet total 300.4 227.2

Key sales figures 
in € million

01/01/ - 12/31/2014 01/01/ - 12/31/2013

Notarized sales of the period 127 111

12/31/2014 12/31/2013

Orders on hand * 84 113

Employees 12/31/2014 12/31/2013

Number of employees 60 50

* Amount of notarized sales of units not yet transferred to the customers



In 2014, we completed 300 
homes and handed them over 
to their new owners. This 
represents a sales volume of 
€ 105 million in retail sale. 

An impressive indication 
of the service capability of 
ISARIA Wohnbau AG.

Sales revenue

in € million

Gross profi t

in € million

Gross profi t margin

in %

Notarised sales

in € million

Orders on hand Dec 31

in € million

Infl ow from One Group Funds

in € million

Financial expenses

in € million

EBIT

in € million

Consolidated result after taxes

in € million

Facts



ISARIA Wohnbau AG is 
a project developer for 
residential properties. 

We develop, build and 
sell apartments.
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Milestones 2014

JANUARY 2014

Executive board  
increased to 3 members 
Signalises new acquisitions and fast pace of 
project development

Capital increase and  
integration of One 
Group Hamburg
ISARIA subsequently with its own financing 
platform FE

BR
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Contract with CEO  
renewed
Michael Haupt will now manage the  
company until the end of 2017

Handover of the  
310th home in the 
Hirschparkterrassen 
“ISARIA has finished” construction in one  
of Munich’s largest development areas

Completion of  
the 2nd  
APP.ARTMENT product
Handover of Vogelweidestrasse 5 with 167 
units begins

First new acquisitions
since 2011. Option on large development 
area in Hamburg secured

M
AY
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Stock price trend  
changes 
and full support of the annual  
shareholder meeting

New APP.ARTMENT project 
purchased in Munich

First new bank  
financing 
concluded in the high double-digit  
million range
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Oktoberfest begins 
O‘zapft is

Full placement of the 
ProReal Deutschland 
Fund 3 
in the amount of € 75 million 

OCTOBER 2014

444th Karlsfeld buyer  
welcomed
100 buyers are still being found

NOVEMBER 2014

2nd location Hamburg 
Strategic decision to pursue market expansion

Sale of completed  

project development 

Significant increase in the sales and result 
forecast

APRIL 2014

One Group acquires 3rd  
investment in Hamburg
after its first engagements have already been sold 
at a profit

JUNE 2014

35 town houses in project 
nido handed over

JU
LY
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97 homes
completed in four construction phases in the  
large-scale project nido

Project Tower
Munich city council launched an initiative for  
the development plan
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Dear shareholders,
dear friends and business partners 
of ISARIA Wohnbau AG,

With this 2014 annual report, we are pleased to 
report a positive annual result for ISARIA Wohnbau 
for the third year in a row. In fact, this is the best 
annual result in our Company’s 20-year history.

At the same time, we feel that we now come into 
our own as a long-time market leader with attrac-
tive projects in an outstanding market environ-
ment, we deliver the corresponding good results. 

We have done away with the burdens of the past. 
As a capital market oriented company, we won’t 
lean back in our current position. On the double 
page above, you have read about how we set im-
portant milestones for our further development 
in the area of acquisition, regional growth and fi -
nancing in 2014. We will continue to pursue the 
same focused approach in 2015.

Record revenue and profi t
In 2014, we successfully handed over 300 new 
apartments to buyers. Through the completion of 
four additional construction phases in connection 
with the large-scale nido project in Karlsfeld, the 
fourth quarter 2014 proved to be a strong one as 
expected. Furthermore, the sale of a completed 
project development reported in the ad-hoc an-
nouncement of 05 November 2014 was success-
fully executed. At € 160 million (previous year € 38 
million), we exceeded our previous revenue record 
of 2011 (€ 156 million).

The gross yield of € 42.7 million (previous year 
€ 13.0 million) and the EBIT of € 21.6 million 
(previous year € 3.0 million) emphasise the sig-
nifi cant increase in the Company’s profi tability. 
Due to lower interest rates, the fi nancial result 
remained nearly constant despite the increase 
in the project volume (total assets € 300 million 
versus € 227 million in the previous year) in the 
amount of € -10.9 million (previous year € -10.4 
million). Compared to 2011, the year following 
our initial public offering, the annual expenditure 

of our interest-bearing liabilities dropped by ap-
proximately 5 percentage points.

Overall, the Company generated an after-tax re-
turn of 5.8 % p.a. with a consolidated net profi t of 
€ 9.3 million (previous year € 1.1 million).

Equity position further improved – high level 
of undisclosed reserves
Our good result signifi cantly contributed to impro-
ving our equity as reported on the balance sheet 
for a current total of € 22.9 million versus € 13.6 
million in the previous year. Undisclosed reserves 
of approximately € 89 million in our properties and 
projects under development, which we present in 
the group management report in the context of 
the net asset value assessment, are not accoun-
ted for in this respect. These undisclosed reser-
ves were created in recent years primarily as the 
result of steadily increasing property prices and 
successful project development. If we, like listed 
real estate portfolio managers, were able to report 
our projects at their respective market values in 
accordance with IFRS and not at acquisition and 
production costs, our equity would have amoun-
ted to € 112 million. As the result of the completion 
of our projects on-time in the coming years, these 
undisclosed results will, in addition to the devel-
oper yield typical of the market, be successively 
transformed into equity reported on the balance 
sheet.

Focus on further growth
Our continually improved fi nancial structure helped 
us to push forward important strategic decisions 
for the further growth of the Company in the fi scal 
year passed. We have already reported on the fi rst 
properties acquired since 2011.

To date, the Company with its project companies 
only operated in the high-growth greater Munich 
area where it has been one of the market lead-
ers for many years. We will be able to maintain 

this position through the acquisition of new prop-
erties; however, there is no feasible possibility 
of expanding this position in future. With this in 
mind, the strategic decision to expand the geo-
graphical scope of business activities to Hamburg 
as a second location was made in November 
2014. This was also due to the fact that the price 
level for owner-occupied apartments is well be-
low Munich in Germany’s next largest city – while 
population and the purchasing power of private 
households are at a comparable level. As a result, 
the Company has operated an offi ce in Hamburg 
since December 2014. Munich continues to be the 
home for the Company and for all of its central 
functions.

We will also continue to push growth ahead in 
2015 through the strategic acquisition of further 
properties and other suitable measures.

Market environment continues to be 
favourable
An outstanding market environment continues to 
prevail in the residential construction sector – par-
ticularly in Munich, but also in Germany’s other 
metropolitan regions. Despite the substantial price 
increase in recent years, we still believe that we are 
far from seeing a price bubble as the demand for 
living space in German metropolitan regions con-
tinues to signifi cantly exceed current supply and 
the lower interest rates keep things affordable for 
our customers.

In the current market situation, ISARIA Wohnbau 
has attractive offers based on the project volume 
of over one billion Euros in Munich and Hamburg, 
which has been built up over the last few years.

Outlook for 2015
The Company will start 2015 with an order book of 
notarised sales of € 84 million, which will permit a 
high level of planability with respect to company 
sales in the current year again. For 2015, the Com-
pany is forecasting a consolidated net income after 
tax in the high single-digit million Euro range. The 
record-setting year of 2014 was not an exception. 
ISARIA Wohnbau is now permanently in a strong 
earnings position and is benefi ting from increased 
prices as well as the aforementioned project vol-
ume. The continued high level of profi tability of 
the Company is set to further improve its equity 
situation also this year.

The achievements of the past fi scal year would not 
have been possible without the outstanding com-
mitment of our employees and the confi dence of 
our business partners. We would therefore like to 
take the opportunity to express our sincere thanks.

Dear shareholders, the price of the ISARIA Wohn-
bau AG share has increased by 44 % in 2014 and 
we are confi dent, in consideration of the current 
growth outlook, that the foundation has been 
laid for the continued positive performance of our 
company’s share over the long-term.

Michael Haupt Christian Dunkelberg Jan von Lewinski

Munich, March 2015

- The Executive board -



Executive Board 

Michael Haupt
Spokesman | CEO

Christian Dunkelberg
CIO

Jan von Lewinski
COO
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Supervisory Board

In the reporting year, the Supervisory Board per-
formed the tasks assigned to it by law, the articles 
of incorporation and the company by-laws.

Supervisory Board Meetings
In 2014, the Supervisory Board convened a total 
of 7 times, either in person or by phone. Numer-
ous phone calls were also made among the mem-
bers of the Supervisory Board. No member of the 
Supervisory Board attended less than half of the 
meet-ings. No committees were formed in 2014.

In 2014, the subject matter of the Supervisory 
Board meetings primarily focused on:
• monitoring the overall activities of the Executive 

Board,
• passing resolutions on transactions requiring 

approval,
• overseeing the integration of the One Group, 

project statuses and liquidity planning,
• expanding the regional activities of the  company 

to Hamburg through specific acquisitions and a 
general decision on company locations, 

• passing resolutions regarding new rules of pro-
cedure for the Executive Board,

• ongoing exchanges with the appointed auditor 
for the audit of the 2013 financial statements 
and the 2013 management report as well as the 
2013 consolidated financial statements and 2013 
group management report according to Article 
171 of the AktG [German Stock Corporation Act],

• Recommendations of the “Government Com-
mission on the German Corporate Governance 
Code“.

Supervision of the Executive Board 
The Supervisory Board monitored and advised the 
Executive Board in accordance with legal guide-
lines and to the extent possible. The reports and 
documents provided by the Executive Board com-
plied with the specifications of Article 90 of the 
AktG.

For important issues, the chairman of the Super-
visory Board also received reports in addition to 
the regular reports pursuant to Article 90 of the 
AktG.

Furthermore, the chairman of the Supervisory 
Board was also in regular contact with the Execu-
tive Board between meetings to discuss questions 
relating to strategy, planning, business growth, the 
risk situation, risk management and the company’s 
compliance.

In 2014, the Executive Board managed to elimi-
nate significant financial and legal burdens on the 
company, which originated in the past, in a man-
ner satisfactory for the company. The structuring 
of the company’s corporate planning and reporting 
departments, which began in 2011, was also suc-
cessfully completed in 2014.

The activities of the Executive Board and Supervi-
sory Board continue to focus on strategic project 
development, expansion, financing, risk control-
ling and project work. In 2014, key projects within 
the Executive Board were discussed to be initiated 
in this regard.

Supervisory Board Report 
pursuant to Article 171 II Sentence 1 German Stock Corporation 

Act (AktG) 

Dear shareholders,

Robert Unger
Deputy Chairman 

| Attorney  
| Berlin

Prof. Dr. Raimund Baumann 
Chairman  

| Attorney and Tax Adviser  
| Stuttgart

Michael Kranich

| Excecutive Director 
| Switzerland
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The auditor participated in the meeting, explained 
his audit and was for questions by the board. In 
addition, the auditor confirmed that the early risk 
detection system set up by the Executive Board, 
is suitable on the whole for recognising develop-
ments at an early stage that could endanger the 
Company’s continued existence and that there are 
no material weaknesses in the internal control and 
risk management system with regard to the ac-
counting process.

The Supervisory Board concurs with the auditor’s 
results, and as a result of its own review of the 
annual and consolidated financial statements and 
the respective management reports, it ascertained 
that no objections are to be raised.

In particular, the Supervisory Board shares the as-
sessment of the Executive Board in the manage-
ment report and the group management report. 
The Supervisory Board required the Executive 
Board to closely monitor the risks described in the 
group management report and to continually re-
port to the Supervisory Board in this regard.

At its meeting on 13 March 2015, the Superviso-
ry Board approved the company’s annual finan-
cial statements as at 31 December 2014 and the 
consolidated financial statements as at 31 De-
cember 2014.

The financial statements of ISARIA Wohnbau AG 
are thus adopted.

Expression of thanks
The Supervisory Board wishes to thank the mem-
bers of the Executive Board and all employees for 
their high level of commitment and the successful 
2014 fiscal year.

Corporate governance
In March of the reporting year, the Executive 
Board and Supervisory Board issued a joint dec-
laration of conformity with the recommendations 
of the “Government Commission on the German 
Corporate Governance Code” in accordance with 
Article 161 of the AktG. The declaration of con-
formity is available on the company’s website. 
The details of the corporate governance of ISARIA 
Wohnbau AG are described in the Corporate Gov-
ernance Report, which is referred to (part of the 
annual report).

No conflicts of interest occurred for members of 
the Executive Board or Supervisory Board requir-
ing immediate disclosure to the Supervisory Board 
during the reporting period. In an action brought 
against the company, Supervisory Board member 
Michael Kranich was named as an employee of 
the plaintiff. Mr Kranich explained not to be an 
employee of the plaintiff, neither in the past or to 
date. Nevertheless by way of precaution Mr Kran-
ich did not take part in the deliberations of the 
Supervisory Board on said action.

The requirements for independent financial ex-
perts within the meaning of Article 100 para-
graph 5 of the AktG continue to be met by the 
chairman of the Supervisory Board. 

Personnel matters
Jan-Christoph von Lewinski (COO) has served as 
an additional member on the Executive Board 
since 1st January 2014. The contract with the 
spokesman of the board (CEO) Michael Haupt was 
extended. Apart from this, there were no chang-
es to the Executive Board or Supervisory Board of 
the company during the reporting year. 

Annual and consolidated financial  
statements 2014
Nörenberg • Schröder GmbH Wirtschaftsprü-
fungsgesellschaft, Hamburg, audited the annual 
financial statements and management report of 
ISARIA Wohnbau AG as well as the consolidated 
financial statements and group management re-
port for the fiscal year 2014 and issued these with 
an unqualified auditor’s opinion in each case.

The annual financial statements and manage-
ment report were prepared in accordance with 
the provisions of the German Commercial Code 
(HGB). The consolidated financial statements and 
group management report were prepared on the 
basis of international accounting standards IFRS 
as they are applied in the EU in accordance with 
Directive (EU) No. 1606/2002 and Section 315a of 
the HGB.

The auditor performed the audit in compliance 
with the generally accepted German standards 
for the audit of financial statements established 
by the German Institute of Independent Auditors 
(Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer – IDW).

The chairman of the Supervisory Board was in 
continual contact with the auditor and in the pro-
cess, obtained information, among other things, 
on the jointly determined audit focuses and audit 
process.   

The documents for the financial statements as 
well as the audit reports of the company were 
forwarded to all Supervisory Board members 
on time and discussed extensively at the meet-
ing for the adoption of the financial statements on 
13 March 2015. Prof. Dr. Raimund Baumann | The Supervisory Board

Munich, March 2015
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 69.18%

 10.05%

8.84%

5.26%

3.79%
2.88%

Shareholder structure as at Decem
ber 31, 2014

ISARIA Wohnbau AG’s share 

Analysts evaluated the ISARIA Wohnbau Group and 
the share of ISARIA Wohnbau AG in 2014. Analysts of 
M.M.Warburg & Co. and FIRST Berlin are very confident 
with respect to the medium to long-term potential of 
our Group. Both companies’ quarterly reports include a 
“Buy“ recommendation for the share of ISARIA Wohn-
bau AG with a target price last amounting to € 4.60 
(Warburg Research) and/or € 5.50 (FIRST Berlin).

With a gain of +44.5 %, the ISARIA share outperforms industry 
indices EPRA Europe and EPRA Germany in 2014

Analysts estimates show 
substantial upside potential 

After two strong years, Germany’s leading index, the 
DAX, experienced a turbulent roller coaster ride in 2014. 
Though the flood of inexpensive monetary funds from 
major central banks stabilised things time and again, 
it still failed to lead to spectacular growth as the year 
drew to a close. In this respect, every high was immedi-
ately followed by a decline and vice-versa. For the first 
time in its history, the Dax broke the 10,000-point mark 
in June. Later, trouble on economic horizon and interna-
tional crises, particularly Russia‘s Ukraine conflict peri-
odically dampened sentiment. In mid-October, Germa-
ny‘s market indicator slid to 8571 points. Things picked 
up again towards the end of the year. The leading index 
again reached a trading high of 10,093.03 points in early 
December - the highest in its history - not lastly due to 
the fact that ECB President Mario Draghi emphasised 
that, if need be, the market would be inoculated with 
additional monetary funds. The Dax closed the trading 
year with a meagre gain of 2.65 per cent at 9,805.55 

points – compared to the 25 per cent gain the previous 
year. Even the MDAX, the index for medium cap stocks, 
returned a sobering result. In 2014, it also only man-
aged to gain a mere 2.2 %.

In 2014, the share of ISARIA Wohnbau AG initially fol-
lowed a lateral trend up to the sale of the company 
founder’s shares in June. Following this announce-
ment, long awaited by numerous observers, the share 
price initially jumped a good 20 % to over € 3.30. Fol-
lowing the announcement of an increased sales and 
result forecast for 2014 on 07 November 2014, the price 
of the share gained renewed momentum and broke 
the € 4.00 mark in December, climbing to € 4.40. On 
31 December 2014, it settled at € 4.00. Over the en-
tire year, the ISARIA share therefore gained 44.5 %, 
outperforming the relevant industry indices: the EPRA 
Europe Index (+22 %) as well as the EPRA Germany-
Index (+40 %).

Share price performance in 2014

ISArIA Wohnbau AG’s Share | EPrA Europe | EPrA Germany

The Executive Board of ISARIA Wohnbau AG believes 
this increase in the share price confirms that the mar-
ket has taken notice of the company’s turnaround. At 
the same time, however, it is still convinced that the 
share of the ISARIA Wohnbau AG has yet to reach its 
true value. Compared to the previous year, the aver-
age daily trading volume has doubled compared to the 
previous year at nearly 11,000 shares daily (2013: 5,200 
shares). With the 2014 annual report presented here, 
which reports the third positive annual result after tax 
in a row as well as the significantly improved equity 
situation, the company is well positioned to embark on 
further growth as planned. For these reasons as well as 
the anticipated development of business in 2015, the 
Executive Board expects the share price to post further 
gains in 2015.

Shareholder structure

Over the course of 2014, our company’s 
free-float has nearly doubled. This 
was primarily due to the departure of 
the former company founder whose 
share package went over into the 
free-float following the temporary 
entry of a family office. Furthermore, 
the shareholder structure continues 
to be characterised by institutional 
and private investors pursuing a 
predominantly long-term investment 
strategy. 
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Market access, know-how, 
acquisition strengths and  
a clearly defined strategy  
for growth are the foundations 
for a positive development  
of the ISARIA share.

In 2014, ISARIA Wohnbau AG published 35 notifications 
of voting rights in accordance with Section 21 (1) German  
Securities Trading Act (Werpapierhandelsgesetz/WpHG).  
All notifications of voting rights received by the com-

Notifications of voting rights published

pany can be found on the company’s website in the 
section Investor Relations / financial news / notifica-
tions of voting rights.

The investor relations of ISARIA Wohnbau AG focus on 
achieving prompt, comprehensive communication with 
the financial community, continuity and the highest 
level of transparency and are implemented in continual 
dialogue with analysts as well as existing and potential 
investors.

In this context, we presented at two capital market con-
ferences during the fiscal year past: the German Equity 
Forum at the end of November in Frankfurt and the 18th 
Munich Capital Market Conference in December. We 
also maintained an ongoing dialogue with our analysts 

Investor relations

as well as existing and potential investors to maintain 
close contact with them. The management of ISARIA 
Wohnbau AG considers personal contact and regular 
interaction with capital market participants an integral 
part of capital market communication.

We also provide detailed information on the topic of 
investor relationships, our company and our share at 
www.isaria.ag, key word Investor Relations. In addition 
to up-to-date news and dates, you can also access pres-
entations as well as our annual and quarterly reports 
here.

Key data for ISARIA Wohnbau AG’s share 

Stock market ticker IWB

Type of stock No-par value transferable shares

ISIN DE000A1E8h38

WKN A1E8h3

market segment regulated market, Prime Standard

Designated Sponsor m.m. Warburg & Co., hamburg

Stock exchange All German stock exchanges 
including Xetra

IPO 10 November 2010

highest price  
12 months (Xetra) € 4.40

lowest price  
12 months (Xetra) € 2.36

Closing price on  
12/31/2014 (Xetra) € 4.00

market capitalisation in 
million Euro 95.1
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Hamburg
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only 

Munich
Home base 

AP
P.

AR
TM

EN
TS

Re
vi

ta
lis

at
io

n

Ne
w

 
Re

sid
en

tia
l 

De
ve

lo
pm

en
ts

 

Strategy

One Group provides ISARIA 
Wohnbau AG with its own 
financing platform. 

Under the ProReal Deutschland 
Fonds brand, the One Group 
issues project development 
funds for residential building 
projects in Germany.
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In Germany, more and more people are moving to cities 

to work and live. Young people in particular are attracted 

by better opportunities with respect to work and training 

not to mention the more appealing recreational possi-

bilities offered in an urban environment. According to 

forecasts, this trend will gain momentum in the coming 

years. The Cologne Institute for Economic Research (IW) 

has forecast population growth totalling over 2 million in 

the seven metropolitan regions of Berlin, Munich, Ham-

burg, Stuttgart, Frankfurt, Cologne-Bonn and Düsseldorf 

(so-called A cities) by 2030.

Germany’s 
TOP 7 Metropolises

Munich has been the home of ISARIA Wohnbau AG for 20 years. 
Since 2014, we have begun developing a second market in Hamburg. 

After 20 years in Munich, why has ISARIA started operating in 
Hamburg 800 kilometres away?

Income per capita in 2013

Frankfurt

Berlin

Cologne

Dusseldorf

Stuttgart

munich

hamburg

€ per capitaSource: real-estate market in Germany 2014/15

0 2,0001,5001,000500

Income 5-year change 2008 – 2013

in %Source: real-estate market in Germany 2014/15

0 4.03.02.01.0

Dusseldorf

Cologne

hamburg

Berlin

munich

Frankfurt

Stuttgart

households 2003 – 2013

Source: bulwiengesa
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The demand for living space in Germany’s major metro-

polises, which offer a high quality of living and attracti-

ve career possibilities, will therefore continue to grow. 

In addition to the general trend towards urbanisation, 

this development is also being driven by an increase 

in the number of single households. According to the 

calculations of the German Federal Office of Statistics, 

they will account for 43.4 % of all households by 2030 

(2011 40.4 %). In attractive major cities like Munich or 

 Hamburg, over 50 % of all households are now occupied 

by persons living alone.

Citizens of Hamburg have a level of disposable income 
comparable to that of citizens of Munich.

One Dax company is based in Hamburg while six 

are based in Munich. Hamburg business scene is 

defined by a broad array of small and medium-

sized businesses with a strong focus on export.

Income levels have caught up to Munich sig-

nificantly. As a result, Hamburg households 

have as much disposal income for living as 

Munich households do.
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Market prices

Development of purchase prices for new commonhold apartments 2005 – 2014

Change in %

Quelle: bulwiengesa

■  Average prices in %

100 %0 40 %30 % 50 % 60 %20 % 70 % 80 % 90 %

munich

Frankfurt

Berlin

Cologne

Dusseldorf

hamburg

Stuttgart

Despite comparable purchasing power, po-

tential buyers in Munich and Hamburg are 

confronted with very different market prices 

for residential property. As a result, the pur-

chase price for an average 100-sq m new 

commonhold apartment in Munich amounts 

to € 590,000 and € 415,000 in Hamburg! 

In fact, the increase in prices in our home 

venue of Munich has surpassed all other TOP 

7 metropolises in Germany.

In consideration of the price level in Munich, 

which has been at a very high level for dec-

ades, the payment capacity of average house-

holds in the area where ISARIA Wohnbau AG 

operates has reached its limits of potential 

growth after 20 years.

market purchase prices for new commonhold apartments 2014
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■  Average prices

Stuttgart munichCologne hamburg FrankfurtDusseldorfBerlin

With a monthly payment of 4 % for interest 

and repayment, a Munich household would 

pay € 1,967 while a person living in  Hamburg 

would pay € 1,303. A monthly difference of 

€ 664 means that significantly more house-

holds will decide to purchase residential prop-

erty and provide ISARIA Wohnbau with the 

prospect of further price increases in future.

10 %
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ISARIA Wohnbau attractivity atlas for Germany’s 
TOP-7 metropolises

ISARIA assesses the possibilities for the development 

and expansion of the company according to the following 

criteria:  

1. The demand for apartments in the next ten years 
in relation to the number of residents (demand).

 This value is based on the population and household 

forecast for the respective city in connection with the 

excess current demand.

 An important factor is also the number of building per-

mits actually issued by the authorities in recent years 

as well as the number of completed apartments. In 

recent years, some cities have managed to increase 

the number of building permits issued while in others, 

no real boom in the building industry occurred despite 

the high level of demand. This may be due to difficult 

decision-making processes on the political and admi-

nistrative level, but also simply to a lack of develop-

ment land. 

2. Ratio of household income to apartment prices 
(affordability) 

 How many years does an average household have 

to work and put aside its entire income in order to 

purchase an average newly constructed apartment?

The market for residential project developers

The current project volume of ISARIA 

in Munich amounts to approximately 

€ 800 million. For example, this 

amounts to nearly half of all pro-

jects developed in Stuttgart. Though 

 ISARIA intends to rank among the 

TOP 10 project developers in its re-

spective markets, it does not intend 

to exceed a market share of 10 % to 

the extent possible. For this reason, 

Stuttgart would only represent an 

interesting location for the company 

if a larger region with cities like 

Karlsruhe, Mannheim or Heidelberg 

can be covered from there.
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Despite predominantly equivalent living conditions in all 

TOP 7 cities, a broad range between 7.2 years in  Cologne 

and 11.7 years in Munich results. While expenses for food, 

vehicle(s) and holidays are relatively similar, there is a 

considerable discrepancy with respect to costs for resi-

dential property. A low value is indicative of high future 

price elasticity and a growing share of potential apartment 

owners in the total population.

ISARIA must also consider soft factors in this context. As 

a result, the inclination towards residential property dif-

fers greatly from region to region. Berlin, for example, 

is traditionally considered a renter’s city. Furthermore, 

savings for equity components in Germany vary greatly 

from region to region. 

3. Volume of the demand for apartments
 ISARIA only develops large-volume projects with up 

to 500 dwelling units or more. However, the company 

does not intend to clearly dominate the market with 

the first project, but instead wishes to have the pros-

pect of satisfying demand with large projects over the 

long term. 

Source: bulwiengesa

Total volume = € 59.50 billion

Size of the circle corresponds to 
absolute demand for apartments 
up to 2025
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Project developer Completed under
Construction Planned Total

 1. Bayer. hausbau 45 12 159 216

 2. Baywobau 84 45 60 189

 3. Isaria Wohnbau 78 9 76 163

 4. Demos 66 53 39 157

 5. Accumulata 3 0 90 93 Source: bulwiengesa

 6. hubert haupt 12 0 75 87

 7. Concept Bau 34 5 35 75

 8. Terrafinanz 53 4 13 71

 9. Corpus Sireo 15 4 50 68

10. Pandion 34 0 31 65

Market position of ISARIA Wohnbau and competitors in Munich 
and the TOP 7 cities

Select residential project developers in munich 2014 (thousand sq m of living space)

Project developers of ‘A’ cities 2014 (thousand sq m of living space)

Source: bulwiengesa

Project developer Completed under 
Construction Planned Total

12. Interhomes 75 42 41 158

13. Demos 66 53 39 157

14. Behrendt  
 Wohnungsbau 49 55 47 151

15. Bauwens 48 24 76 148

16. Kondor  
 Wessels 23 74 50 147

17. Frankonia  
 Eurobau 30 65 45 140

18. Amand Gmbh 135 0 0 135

19. Patrizia 0 77 47 125

20. PrOJECT PI  
 Immobilien 10 43 68 121

Prior to the financial crisis of 2008, Germany did not take 

part in the global real estate boom. Of the developed in-

dustrialised companies, only Japan and Switzerland remai-

ned at a comparatively low level.

The German housing market 
compared to the rest of Europe

France   
(existing buildings)

The Netherlands   
(existing buildings)

Great Britain  
(existing and new buildings)

Spain   
(existing and new buildings)

Germany  
(existing and new buildings)

Source: European Central Bank (ECB)
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The development of real-estate prices compared with the rest of Europe and select metropolises 

Compared to this long-term development, the increase 

in prices over the last four years only represent a small 

correction. Even the prices in our home market of Munich, 

which is considered to be high priced, still increased at a si-

gnificantly lower level than in other major European cities.
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Project developer Completed under 
Construction Planned Total

1. NCC 250 134 124 508

2. hochtief 137 121 100 358

3. Wilma Wohn- 
 bau Gmbh 127 50 114 291

4. Bayerische  
 hausbau 51 53 165 269

5. Baywobau 110 61 97 268

6. Bouwfonds 63 72 108 242

7. Pandion 67 57 116 239

8. Groth Gruppe 47 44 95 186

9. Zech Group 11 38 120 169

10. Corpus Sireo 59 10 96 165

11. Isaria  
 Wohnbau AG 78 9 76 163
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A project develops

It’s a long journey from identifying a suitable building plot to handing over the completed apartments to the 
new owner. The important milestones in this process are shown in the diagram below.

The Steps ISARIA Wohnbau AG uses to plan and realise 
residental real estate projects.

01 IDENTIFICATION
Careful observation of city developments, offers from 
plot sellers | groups of heirs / real estate agents | personal 
network.

03 PURCHASE
Of course ISARIA Wohnbau AG is not without its competitors when 
buying a real gem, or what would appear to be a gem. Many real 
estate companies want to join in the fray. However, profound ex-
perience and a large network help us to find excellent sites and 
properties, and avoid awkward bidding.

05PLANNING PERMISSION PROCESS
While the architects are still involved in preparing the plans for 
the building, initial discussions already start with the authorities 
to prepare the application for planning permission. This all has to 
be thoroughly prepared. This is the only way to avoid disagree-
able surprises or interdictions by the responsible authorities.

06SELLING PHASE
In parallel to the planning permission phase, ISARIA 
Wohnbau AG already starts to prepare the sales 
documents. Only excellent sales and marketing 
management ensures rapid sales.

07CONSTRUCTION
Actual building work can only start once the approval has been issued. ISARIA 
Wohnbau AG’s projects generally take 14-16 months to build, depending on 
the construction project and its scope. Our construction partners are key to 
everything going smoothly. Here too, ISARIA Wohnbau AG’s long-standing 
experience and major im-portance on the market play a key role.

08HAND-OVER OF KEYS
After many months of hard work, we have done 
it: ISARIA Wohnbau AG hands over the new, top-
quality apartments to its customers. 

04 ARCHITECTURAL PLANNING
ISARIA Wohnbau AG supplies select architects 
with concrete ideas, who then have a period 
of three to six months to plan everything in 
detail.

02 TECHNICAL AND LEGAL FEASIBILITY | DUE DILIGENCE |

In inner-city locations in particular, a building’s foundations are also the foundations for its suc-
cess. What good is a 1A location, if the ground is contaminated with pollutants, or if it is not possi-
ble to construct proper foundations on this site? It is rare to be able to provide clear answers to all 
of the questions construction rights raise. In most cases, construction rights have to be obtained 
after the property is purchased. This demands a careful review and profound experience.
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05 PLANNING PERMISSION PROCESS
While the architects are still involved in preparing the plans for 
the building, initial discussions already start with the authorities 
to prepare the application for planning permission. This all has to 
be thoroughly prepared. This is the only way to avoid disagree-
able surprises or interdictions by the responsible authorities.

› Preparation to obtain general allow-
ance for construction 
(“Aufstellungsbeschluss”)

› Essential activities that are being 
conducted during that phase are:

 • Neighborhood hearings 
 (“Nachbarschaftsanhörungen”)

 • habitat investigations
 • Traffi c censuses

› Findings are submitted to city 
council to receive general approval /
rejection for requested project

Development plan specifi es type of 
use, e.g. regarding 

•  Building law for housing/commercial 
units 

• Share of social housing
• Establishment of schools /

kindergardens 
• Permitted fl oor space and sq m
• Type of housing 

(e.g. pitched vs. fl at roofs)
• Etc.

› Offi cial application to receive 
approval for construction project

› Submission of offi cial and detailed 
plan specifying the construction 
project, e.g. regarding:

 • Scope
 •  Number of accommodation units
 •  Timeline
 • Etc.

› Start of sales process – right of 
withdrawal for buyer

› As soon as construction license has 
been granted, project developer can 
offi cially start building project

Preparation Development plan Construction license

Elements of the planning permission process

We are converting a 
commercial building permit to 
a residential building permit. 

The committed project 
management of ISARIA Wohnbau 
AG is the key to ensuring continued 
value growth.



ProjectsTrack Record
More than 2,500 units built since 1994 Project developments * accounting for approximately 2,500 units 

completed

IsarLiving | IsarStadtPalais
198 units

2009|10

completed

Schillerstr. | 203 units

2011|12

planned completion

Tower | 328 units

2018

planned completion

Tübinger Str. | 276 units

2017|18
planned completion

nido Karlsfeld | 262 units

2015|17

planned completion

Diamalt-Quatier
593 units

2018|20

planned completion

Wohnpark Nord 
up to 1,000 units

2019|20
planned completion

Elsenheimer Str. | 245 units

2016|17

planned completion

Wohnpark Nord 
up to 1,000 units

20
planned completion

Wohnpark Nord 
up to 1,000 units

2019|20

IsarLiving | IsarStadtPalais

planned completion

Tübinger Str. | 276 units

18
planned completion

Tübinger Str. | 276 units

18

completed

Hirschparkterrassen
206 units

2011

completed

nido Karlsfeld
291 units

completed
Vogelweidestr. 5
167 units

2014

completed

Willy-Brandt-Allee | 181 units

2012 2012|14

completed

Hohenwaldeckstr.
261 units

2011

planned completion

Tübinger Str. | 276 units

18
nido Karlsfeld | 262 units

planned completion

Tübinger Str. | 276 units

2017|18

planned completion

Hamburg Kapstadtring 1
155 units

2017

* the indicated project developments are already in the portfolio of ISARIA Wohnbau AG 
and/or are secured with corresponding pre-emptive rights

selective compilation 
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posed by the German Energy Saving Regulation 2009 
(EnEV 2009) thereby fulfilling the KfW 70 Standard. As 
a result, the new owners are able to benefit from spe-
cial financing conditions offered by the KfW Bank not 
to mention the natural world thanks to the reduced 
consumption of resources following the commission-
ing of the new site. A modern ecological heat sup-
ply concept also ensures compliance with the KfW 70 
Standard. A central wood pellet district heating system 
combined with a gas cogeneration plant, which serves 
as a backup, particularly during maintenance periods, 
was built directly at the entrance to the property. The 
heat requirements of the entire complex are primarily 
met with renewable energy sources resulting in virtu-
ally climate-neutral emissions.

Heating with wood pellets is a prime example of how 
what may to some be considered ’waste’ can be used 
for a different purpose. In light of the experiences of 
the oil crisis in the 1970s, scientists began relentlessly 

ISARIA Wohnbau AG takes a committed approach to 
the topic of sustainability in all its projects. The effects 
of our actions go well beyond the confines of our com-
pany. By developing and implementing sustainable 
business practices, we meet the operational require-
ments of a company serving the market as well as 
our commitment to society and the environment. We 
are convinced that taking a socially responsible and 
environmental-conscious approach to our operations 
will further improve our reputation and the value of 
our company.

Project nido in Munich-Karlsfeld in particular fulfils 
both legal guidelines and the ambitious standards of 
ISARIA Wohnbau AG with respect to sustainable ener-
gy production. On a site covering 145,000 square me-
tres, previously occupied by a transformer, 553 units 
are being built for 1300 residents. The new buildings 
and apartments in the nido residential park are 30 % 
lower than the strict legal energy saving limits im-

We build for tomorrow
The wood pellet district heating system in the new construction project nido

looking for alternative forms of energy production. 
Existing resources are optimally used to keep the en-
vironmental impact to a minimum. Why not grind up 
the large quantities of saw dust, wood chips and waste 
wood occurring around the entire world in saw mills 
and press them into wood pellets for use in heat pro-
duction? Initially, wood pellets were only used to heat 
small dwelling units, however, technical advances have 
now made it possible to heat entire districts. The wood 
pellet heating system built for the nido new construc-
tion project has converted approximately 650 tons of 
wood pellets into heat for residents in 2014. Wood pel-
let heaters strengthen the local economy and eliminate 
reliance on continually fluctuating oil and gas prices. As 
a result, project nido not only stands for the modern 
conversion of land once used for industrial operations, 
it is also a distinct symbol for the energy transition: 
away from the large-scale facilities for centralised en-
ergy production of the past and towards the intelligent 
decentralised solutions of the present. 

nido, the residential building project from above

Wood pellet heating system

Wood pellets | a renewable resource
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Handovers in 2014 Acquisitions in 2014

Following the successful completion of the develop-
ment phase, the property holding of Wohnbau Objekt 
Prinzregentenstrasse GmbH was sold at the end of 2014. 
The majority of this project company was acquired in 
2014 before so that the aforementioned sale could be 
accounted for in the sales and result reported in these 
consolidated financial statements. The favourable mar-

Under the brand name APP.ARTMENTS, the company has built over 350 apartments in former office buildings to date. 
On the basis of systematic research of the market and suitable sites, new projects in the revitalisation segment are 
continually being identified and acquired. In the first half of 2014, a suitable office building was acquired in Hamburg 
(through a majority interest of One Group) and in Munich. Together, both projects offer forecast sales revenues of 
approximately € 100 million.

Vogelweidestr. | Revitalisation 

The APP.ARTMENTS revitalisation project in Vogelwei-
destrasse 5 in Munich-Bogenhausen consists of 167 
apartments in total. The construction activities in com-
mon proporty were completed at the beginning of 2014. 
149 apartments with a sales volume (sales revenues) of 
nearly € 43 million have already been handed over to 
the new owners.

Elsenheimer Strasse | Munich 

A valid building permit for the building acquired on Munich’s Elsenheimer Strasse for convension into a board-
ing house is now in place. A major German bank has guaranteed project financing up to completion.

Kapstadtring | Hamburg 

This property will also make it possible to realise the 
APP.ARTMENTS concept in Hamburg. The procurement 
of the building permit is already underway.

Wohnpark Nord | Hamburg

In the New Construction segment, the company has ini-
tiated a potentially significant residential development  
in Hamburg in 2014. Due to the confidentiality, to which 
both partners have committed, no further details re-
garding the property can be provided at this point in 
time.

ket situation in Munich made it possible to realise the 
results previously planned for 2016 and 2017 in the 
2014 fiscal year. The profit from this sale significantly 
contributed to the positive income situation in the 4th 
quarter and 2014 overall while also strengthening the 
Group‘s equity situation.

Prinzregentenstr. | Development Project

nido Karlsfeld | new construction

The nido residential park with its wide range of apart-
ments, town houses and single-family homes as 
well as penthouses and terrace homes is among the 
foremost residential building projects in the Greater 
Munich Region in the last years. On a former indus-
trial site in the community of Karlsfeld north-west of 
Bavaria’s capital, a family-friendly living space close 
to the city with an outstanding infrastructure was cre-
ated. nido offers a total of 553 units, 291 of which have 
already been handed over to new owners. The share 
for 2014 amounts to 142 units with a sales volume of 
€ 60 million.
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Corporate Governance stands for responsible business 
management and supervision of companies with the 
objective of long-term creation of value. The Executive 
Board and Supervisory Board of ISARIA Wohnbau AG 
consider it to be an essential prerequisite for sustain-
able business success as it strengthens trust on the 
part of shareholders, employees, business partners 
and the public with respect to the company’s leader-
ship and management. In their corporate governance 
the Executive Board and Supervisory Board observe 
the latest valid version of German Corporate Govern-
ance Code (hereinafter also referred to as the ‘Code’). 
According to item 3.10 of the Code, the Executive Board 
and Supervisory Board are issuing the following report 
on Corporate Governance at ISARIA Wohnbau AG. The 
Corporate Governance Statement pursuant to Section 
289a German Commercial Code [HGB] has been made 
permanently available in the Investor Relations area of 
the company website (www.isaria.ag).

Declaration of Conformity 
from the Executive Board and 
Supervisory Board pursuant 
to Article 161 German Stock 
Corporation Act [AktG]

Article 161 AktG stipulates that the Executive Board 
and the Supervisory Board shall issue annual declara-
tions stating that the recommendations of the Code 
have been or will be met as well as which have not 
and the reasons for this. The updated version of the 
Declaration of Conformity from March 2014 was the 
subject matter of the Supervisory Board meeting of 
20 March 2014. At this point, reference is made to the 
Declaration of Conformity with respect to the reasons 
for divergences from the recommendations of the 
Code, which has been made permanently available to 
the shareholders in the Investor Relations area of the 
company website (www.isaria.ag).

Executive Board and 
Supervisory Board

Management structure

ISARIA Wohnbau AG is a stock corporation under Ger-
man law. The company‘s administration is subject to 
the regulations of German Stock Corporation law, capi-
tal market provisions and the provisions of the company 
statutes and rules of procedure for the Executive Board 
and Supervisory Board. The Executive Board and Super-
visory Board of ISARIA Wohnbau AG provide a split man-
agement and supervisory structure. The shareholder’s 
meeting is the third body of the company.

Compliance as a management function 

The Executive Board must ensure that legal provisions 
and internal company guidelines are complied with 
and observed by the group companies (compliance). 
These measures for complying with the law and inter-
nal guidelines are essential management functions at 
ISARIA Wohnbau AG.

Composition of and remuneration for  
positions on the Executive Board

Together with the Executive Board, the Supervisory 
Board ensures that there is long-term succession plan-
ning, and takes into account the fact that ongoing con-
tracts may possibly end in different periods. The Su-
pervisory Board will, in the event of upcoming changes 
within the Executive Board, also take steps in the inter-
est of diversity and in particular endeavour to consider 
women for filling positions on the board accordingly. 

Composition of the Supervisory Board and diversity

Pursuant to 5.4.1 (2) of the Code, the Supervisory Board 
is to define specific goals with respect to its composi-
tion, which account for the activities of the company, 
potential conflicts of interest, the number of independ-
ent members in the sense of item 5.4.2 of the code, an 
age limit to be defined for members of the Supervisory 

Report on Corporate Governance  
at ISARIA Wohnbau AG
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Board and diversity where steps are taken to ensure 
adequate participation of women in consideration of 
the specific situation of the company. For the reasons 
provided in the Declaration of Conformity, the Super-
visory Board has disclosed a variation from this rec-
ommendation. It addressed the question as to which 
special knowledge and skills should be represented on 
the Supervisory Board:

• In addition to the knowledge, skills and professional 
qualities of the members of the Supervisory Board, 
which are already required, expertise and experi-
ence with the German real-estate and capital market 
should also be contributed in order to critically evalu-
ate the decisions of the Executive Board;

• as a result of the great importance of litigation and 
legal risks broad-scale and particularly legal expe-
rience and knowledge is necessary, and should be 
added to the board, and

• already based on the specifications of Article 100 
(5) AktG, special expertise in the fields of account-
ing and auditing should also be present on the board 
particularly in order to critically evaluate the annual 
financial statements to be complied by the company.

Remuneration of the Supervisory Board

The remuneration set by the general meeting for the 
members of the Supervisory Board is regulated in Ar-
ticle 13 (1) of the Articles of incorporation of ISARIA 
Wohnbau AG. This is based on the company’s size and 
the responsibility and scope of activities of the mem-
bers of the Supervisory Board. The members of the 
Supervisory Board receive remuneration of € 15,000.00 
for each full fiscal year of their membership of the 
Supervisory Board, and an additional meeting fee of 
€ 2,000 for each meeting of the Supervisory Board. The 
Chairman of the Supervisory Board receives twice this 
remuneration, and his deputy receives 1.5 times this 
remuneration. Members who were not members of the 

Supervisory Board for the full fiscal year receive propor-
tionate remuneration.

Prevention of conflicts of interest and  
“directors‘ dealings”

The disclosure and transparency of transactions, which 
could lead to a conflict of interest, are an integral part 
of our Corporate Governance.

The Supervisory Board believes that it has a sufficient 
number of independent members serving on it in order 
to preventing any conflicts of interest; these members 
have neither a business or personal relationship to the 
company or the Executive Board. No former members 
of the Executive Board serve on the Supervisory Board.

Pursuant to Article 15a German Securities Trading Act 
(WpHG), the members of the Executive Board, Supervi-
sory Board and persons with close relations to either of 
these boards are required by law to disclose the acquisi-
tion and the sale of company shares or financial instru-
ments based on such transactions if the value of the 
transactions conducted within a calendar year reaches 
or exceeds an amount of € 5,000. No corresponding 
transactions were reported to the company during the 
reporting period.

Additional information on 
Corporate Governance

Risk management

Risks must be taken on in order to take advantage of 
opportunities for the company and reach targets. The 
responsible management of business risks falls under 
the principles of good Corporate Governance. It must be 
ensured that risks are recognised in time, properly eval-
uated and properly managed. The company endeavours 
to define provisions for the identification, evaluation 
and management of risks, which are also subject to 
critical examination by the auditor. Details on the risk 

management process are provided in the risk report, 
which is part of the management report.

Transparency

Important information is available in German and Eng-
lish on the company‘s website.

Furthermore, immediately after receipt of a relevant 
notification pursuant to Article 21 German Securities 
Trading Act (WpHG), the achieving, exceeding or falling 
below of 3, 5, 10, 15, 20, 25, 30, 50 or 75 per cent of the 
voting rights in the company is published in an informa-
tion system that is distributed throughout Europe. 

Shareholders’ meeting

The shareholders will exercise their rights, including 
their voting right, at the shareholder‘s meeting. The 
shareholders will either exercise their voting right at 
the shareholder‘s meeting themselves or have it exer-
cised by an authorised representative of their choice or 
a company proxy, who is bound by instructions. Each 
share grants one vote.

The shareholder‘s meeting decides on all tasks as-
signed to it by law. This includes in particular deliber-
ating on the appropriation of profit, the discharge of 
the Executive Board and Supervisory Board as well as 
the election of auditors and Supervisory Board mem-
bers. The shareholder‘s meeting is also responsible for 
changes to the statutes and decides on all significant 
business measures such as inter-company agreements 
and conversions. The agenda as well as proposed reso-
lutions for the shareholder‘s meeting and the reports 
and documents required for the shareholder‘s meeting 
as well as the voting results will be published on the 
company‘s website.

Accounting and auditing

The Supervisory Board will retrieve a declaration of in-
dependence from the auditor before calling the vote. In 
particular, it shall agree with him that the Supervisory 

Board chairman will be advised of any grounds for ex-
clusion or prejudice, which encountered while perform-
ing the audit, to the extent they are not immediately 
rectified and such that the auditor reports on all find-
ings and events, which are significant for the functions 
of the Supervisory Board and encountered while per-
forming the audit.

Munich, March 2015 
Executive Board and Supervisory Board  
of ISARIA Wohnbau AG
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1. Basic principles of the Group

I. Business activities and group organisation

Business model

ISARIA Wohnbau AG (hereinafter also referred to as 
the “Company” or, in connection with its sub-sidiar-
ies and participating interests the “ISARIA Wohnbau 
group” or only “ISARIA Wohnbau”) is a project devel-
oper for residential properties in the greater Munich 
region since 20 years. The Group buys plots of land in 
attractive locations via independent special purpose 
entities/subsidiaries, plans residential properties in 
these locations, constructs these and then sells them. 
In most cases project development involves obtaining 
planning permission for residential properties for ar-
eas which were previously used commercially. In so 
doing, the company focuses on locations in which at 
least one hundred apartments can be realised. The 
business activities of ISARIA Wohnbau include the 
divisions New Construction of residential property 
and Revitalization of existing properties. The latter 
includes changing former commercial properties into 
residential properties under the APP.ARTMENTS brand.

The company’s business model is to sell all apartments 
and houses that it has constructed. ISARIA Wohnbau 
does not aim to rent or hold apartments or houses 
within a portfolio. To date, the company, together with 
its SPEs, has exclusively operated on the high-growth 
greater Munich region where it has ranked among the 
market leaders for several years. However this posi-
tion can only be upheld by making ongoing acquisi-
tions and it cannot be expanded in a reasonable man-
ner. Given this background, in November 2014 ISARIA 
Wohnbau took the strategic decision to expand its 
activities geographically and to include Hamburg as 
a second location. This is also in view of the fact that 
price levels in this city, which is next largest in terms 
of its size, are much lower than in Munich – while 
population growth is also strong and private house-
holds have comparable spending power. The company 

has had an office in Hamburg since December 2014. 
The company’s headquarters, with all of the central 
departments, will continue to be in Munich.

ISARIA Wohnbau has its own financing platform within 
the group with One Group GmbH, Hamburg and its sub-
sidiaries (hereinafter referred to as “One Group”) which 
it acquired on 31 December 2013. The business activities 
of One Group mostly comprise conceiving, structuring 
and issuing project development funds for residential 
construction projects in Germany. In ISARIA Wohnbau’s 
home location in Munich these funds invest exclusively 
in its projects. Investments can also be made in exter-
nal projects in other locations.

The investments always aim to sell the property dur-
ing the investment period. As a result, One Group does 
not hold any participating interests in real estate on a 
permanent basis in its assets.

One Group is run as a sub-group within the ISARIA 
Wohnbau Group. There is a separate segment One 
Group in this regard, which shows the earnings of this 
sub-group.

Products, sales and construction activities by ISARIA 
Wohnbau

The ISARIA Wohnbau Group’s claim is to offer top qual-
ity residences for purchase in attractive locations in the 
Munich region. The standard is set by the desires of 
typical owner-occupied households. Luxury properties 
are not part of the company’s core business. 

Owner-occupied apartments and houses are sold on 
behalf of the company by freelance employees who 
have been working for the Company for many years 
and who are paid purely on a commission basis. In 
addition, there are project-specific sales offices and 
sample apartments and houses. Sales have been 
set up to deal with the increasing number of inves-
tors as purchasers. For the first time, experience has 
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Projects Special purpose entity location Total number 
of housing 
units

Intended
completion

Status 

SEGmENT NEW DEvElOPmENTS
nido JK Wohnbau Objekt Karlsfeld 1 Gmbh;

Sections 5,7
Karlsfeld 
am Prinzenpark

50 03/2014 completed

JK Wohnbau Objekt Karlsfeld 1 Gmbh;
Section 1a, 1b

46 12/2014 completed

JK Wohnbau Objekt Karlsfeld 1 Gmbh;
Section 1c

31 12/2015 construction started

ISArIA Wohnbau Objekt Karlsfeld 2 Gmbh;
Section 9

35 06/2014 completed

ISArIA Wohnbau Objekt Karlsfeld 2 Gmbh;
Section 8b

18 12/2014 completed

ISArIA Wohnbau Objekt Karlsfeld 2 Gmbh;
Section 8a

37 03/2015 construction started

ISArIA Wohnbau Objekt Karlsfeld 2 Gmbh;
Section 10a

24 09/2015 construction started

ISArIA Wohnbau Objekt Karlsfeld 2 Gmbh;
Section 10b

24 06/2016 construction started

ISArIA Wohnbau Objekt Karlsfeld 2 Gmbh;
Section 10c

25 03/2017 preparation for start 
of construction

ISArIA Wohnbau Objekt Karlsfeld 3 Gmbh;
Section 12c

33 12/2014 completed

ISArIA Wohnbau Objekt Karlsfeld 3 Gmbh;
Sections 11a, 11b

65 12/2015 construction started

ISArIA Wohnbau Objekt Karlsfeld 3 Gmbh;
Sections 11c, 12a and 12b

56 12/2016 preparation for start 
of construction

Prinzregenten-
strasse

Wohnbau Objekt Prinzregentenstrasse 
Gmbh

munich-Bogenhausen 250 12/2014** Project development 
completed

Tübinger 
Strasse

Wohnbau Objekt Tübinger Strasse 
Gmbh* / Wohnbau Objekt 
hansastrasse Gmbh*

munich-Sendling/
Westpark

276 2017–2018 Plan B developed

Diamalt-
Quartier

ISArIA Wohnbau Objekt Am münchfeld 
Gmbh

munich-Allach 593 2018–2020 Plan B development

Wohnpark Nord ISArIA holding Gmbh & Co. 
Objekt hörgensweg KG

hamburg 500+ after 2019 Plan B development

SEGmENT rEvITAlISATION
APP.ArTmENTS living Bogenhausen Gmbh munich-Bogenhausen 167 03/2014 completed
St. Bonifatius gindiwo Gesellschaft für individuelle 

Wohnungsprivatisierung Objekt St. 
Bonifatius Strasse mbh – rear building

munich-Giesing 21 03/2014 completed

gindiwo Gesellschaft für individuelle 
Wohnungsprivatisierung Objekt St. 
Bonifatius Strasse mbh – front building

22 12/2014 completed

APP.ArTmENTS
Elsenheimer 
Strasse

ISArIA Gmbh & Co. Objekt 
metropolis KG

munich- Westend 245 12/2016 Plan B developed

Kapstadtring Objekt Kapstadtring 1 Gmbh hamburg-Winterhude 155 12/2017 Plan B development

Tower ISArIA Tower Gmbh munich-Obersendling 328 12/2018 Plan B development

also been gained with a nationwide real-estate sales 
organisation. Support for investors who take over en-
tire projects as rental properties, is provided directly 
by members of the Executive Board, who have long-
standing links to the world of institutional investors.

The company has a highly competent, experienced 
team of technical customer advisers and commercial 
employees, who support hundreds of customers each 
year from “sale from a plan” or during the construction 
phase through to the property handover. 

ISARIA Wohnbau realises its projects with external ar-
chitects, engineers and construction companies, who 
are technically managed by a team of project develop-
ers and project managers and commercial controlling.

The projects listed in the table will allow ISARIA 
Wohnbau to generate its future revenue volume. The 
project not included in the table Hirschparkterrassen 
(104 residential units) is being executed in coopera-

tion with Corpus Sireo Projektentwicklung Wohnen 
GmbH and is carried at equity by the joint ventures 
included in the consolidated financial statements. For 
this company no revenues are recorded at a consoli-
dated level. Instead, the proportionate result is ab-
sorbed. This project was successfully completed when 
the last unit was handed over at the start of the past 
fiscal year 2014. 

Organisational structure 

The group is headed by ISARIA Wohnbau AG. This com-
pany acts as an operating holding company, and as 
such it performs tasks for the entire ISARIA Group, in 
particular providing staff for the special purpose enti-
ties. These SPEs each own real estate projects (prop-
erties and unfinished properties held for sale). One 
Group GmbH and its subsidiaries form a separate sub-
group within the ISARIA Wohnbau Group. Within this 
sub-group, One Group GmbH also acts as an operating 
holding company, and as such it performs tasks for its 
subsidiaries.

*   ISArIA Wohnbau AG has already secured a majority interest in this company by way of a notarised agreement, for which execution is still subject to conditions precedent. The Executive 
Board of ISArIA Wohnbau AG believes that these conditions will be fulfilled during the course of 2015.     

**  property was sold as at December 31, 2014     

ISArIA Wohnbau‘s projects

A full overview of all group companies can be found in the accompanying notes to the financial statements.

Group structure

ISARIA Wohnbau AG

Projects in Construction phase

Projects in Development phase

Project Development 

New Construction

One Group

The Group’s own  
financing platform

Projects in Construction phase

Projects in Development phase

revitalisation
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Executive Board und Supervisory Board

ISARIA Wohnbau is run by its Executive Board based 
on statutory provisions and the bylaws issued by the 
Supervisory Board. According to its articles of incor-
poration, ISARIA Wohnbau AG’s Executive Board com-
prises at least two members. The Supervisory Board 
appoints the members of the Executive Board. It ad-
vises and supervises the Executive Board in manag-
ing the company. Its permission is required for mate-
rial transactions by the Executive Board. In addition, 
it can appoint the CEO or spokesman of the Executive 
Board and his deputy. According to ISARIA Wohnbau 
AG’s articles of incorporation the Supervisory Board 
comprises three members who are elected by the 
General Meeting. 

II. Group management

In order to manage our group successfully and geared 
to the long term, we have to keep an eye on all of our 
stakeholders.

•  Our shareholders expect a reasonable increase in the 
value of their capital employed.

• Our investors and fund investors expect a reasonable 
return on their funds and our ability to repay debts.

• We have to offer our employees secure jobs with 
 perspectives for the future.

• Our customers generally take one of the key invest-
ment decisions in their lives, and they look for qual-
ity of life and value retention.

• Our business partners and suppliers count on us 
 being reliable.

ISARIA Wohnbau’s planning and control system pro-
vides a wide range of instruments which can be used 
to evaluate current business growth and to derive 

future operating and strategic decisions. This aims 
to optimally exploit economic and entrepreneurial 
potential.

Financial key performance indicators

When managing the ISARIA Wohnbau Group the Execu-
tive Board uses the following financial KPIs in particular:

• Revenue
• Gross profit margin
• EBIT
• Financial expenses
• Earnings after tax
• Notarised sales
• Order book
• Cash inflow (One Group fund companies)

Notarised sales and the order book form the basis 
for our future revenues. This results in a high level of 
forecasting security.

At the One Group sub-group level, the capital acquired 
by the fund companies is the central financial KPI. It 
shows the group’s internal financing potential for our 
existing and future project developments.

In addition, the Executive Board manages the group’s 
operating business in its individual project develop-
ments and construction projects at an individual pro-
ject level using the KPIs of construction progress and 
sales level. Several coordinated IT systems supply data 
updated daily in this regard. This data is then prepared 
by our controllers based on target/actual comparisons 
and is provided to our Executive Board on a regular ba-
sis. As a result, our Executive Board is always able to 
put countermeasures in place and review the causes 
using deviation analyses.

Principles and objectives of ISARIA Wohnbau’s 
financial management

The ISARIA Wohnbau Group finances real estate projects 
using equity as well as borrowing. This borrowing com-
prises bank loans and, in the majority of cases, par-
ticipations by One Group for project development. As 
a rule, the real estate projects are held by the special 
purpose entities. As a rule, the SPEs receive the borrow-
ing they require directly from the investors, or from the 
fund products issued by One Group.

The ISARIA Wohnbau Group’s financial management 
comprises capital structure management, cash and 
 liquidity management, as well as managing inter-
est rates and counterparty risks. It aims to secure 
the group’s financial strength and thus to ensure that 
the group is financially independent by guaranteeing 
its liquidity. In addition, the costs of capital are to be 
optimised with an appropriate capital structure. Risks 
should be mostly avoided during this process. Regular 
liquidity forecasts are prepared in this regard. These are 
reviewed constantly based on target/actual compari-
sons, in order to be able to put corresponding activities 
in place if various scenarios occur.

III. Group strategy    

ISARIA Wohnbau aims to become Germany’s leading 
capital markets oriented residential project developer 
within the next five years. Various cities in Germany 
which are exhibiting long-term growth will provide the 
company with the foundations required for sustainable 
growth. Access to the national and international capital 
markets will secure this growth and constantly improve 
the equity and borrowing structure.

This revenue growth will be based on the project develop-
ments already taken on board, and a strategic acquisition 
pipeline. In organisational terms, all of the processes are 
structured so that quantity-based and geographic growth is 
scalable and so that profitability also increases constantly.

One Group supports this growth by providing the op-
portunity to participate in projects in new regions and 
with new partners.

IV. Research and Development

Due to the nature of its business activities, ISARIA 
Wohnbau does not perform any research or develop-
ment activities. It business activities do not require any 
patents or licenses. However, the company is strongly 
research-oriented.

All of the key German residential markets are ob-
served and compared in a top down view by our 
strategic project developers with regard to the oppor-
tunities these markets offer. In regional terms, oppor-
tunities for expansion are reviewed in urban regions 
and also in smaller districts. For eyample our product 
line  APP.ARTMENTS as well as new floor layout types 
have been developed to meet new and changed resi-
dential requirements.

Our customer support employees and sales use a bot-
tom up approach to observe our competitors products 
with regard to their quality, price and sales success and 
they provide information from discussions with custom-
ers, for example on fittings, floor plans and special re-
quests to our project developers.

The Group has protected key word marks and figura-
tive marks for the companies, financial and real estate 
products.

V. Sustainability    

ISARIA Wohnbau AG is dedicated to sustainability. Our 
activities have an impact that goes far beyond our own 
company. That is why we are responsible for developing 
and implementing sustainable business practices that 
meet the needs of both our operating requirements 
and also our obligation to society and the environment. 
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We are convinced that we can increase our image and 
also our enterprise value as a result of our socially and 
environmentally conscious activities.

Sustainability in acquisitions and construction 

Our sustainability efforts focus on our core business 
of project development. As one of the leading project 
developers, ISARIA Wohnbau AG holds a key function 
in society in the city regions where we operate, as our 
projects are, quite literally, sustainable and have an 
“impact that lasts for a long time”. Based on the Ger-
man Construction Code (Section 1 (5) of the BauGB), 
our plans should ensure sustainable urban develop-
ment which harmonises social, economic and envi-
ronmental requirements. Our plans should help to 
ensure an environment that ensures dignified human 
life, protects the natural foundations of life, and which 
maintains and develops urban development and the 
view of the city and the landscape in terms of building 
culture.

In view of the fact that around 40 % of energy, 30 % of 
raw materials and 20 % of water consumption world-
wide are due to the construction, operation and demo-
lition of real estate, sustainable project development 
goes without saying for us.

At ISARIA Wohnbau sustainable development not only 
means focusing on low or the lowest possible energy 
consumption during use of the building. A property’s 
energy consumption over its entire life cycle also 
 includes “grey energy” (used to produce the energy 
 required) and the mobility induced by the building. 
In the past, new property construction, ISARIA Wohn-
bau AG’s central business, was increasingly subject 
to statutory regulation. At the same time, the energy 
requirements that a building had to meet during op-
eration increased. Compared with the current stock 
of buildings in Germany, ISARIA Wohnbau AG’s new 
buildings consume far less energy than the average. In 
the current Karlsfeld project our apartments are 30 % 
lower than the statutory energy requirements in the 
German Energy Saving Directive 2009 (EneV 2009) and 
are thus in line with the KfW-70 standard. 

Based on the statutory principles set out above, ISARIA 
Wohnbau AG’s sustainable activities thus not only aim 
to reduce the energy consumed in operating the build-
ing. It is much rather the case that leveraging and 
identifying potential associated with “grey energy”, 
“sustainable mobility” and “brownfield” (using space 
that has already been used to build residential proper-
ties) are associated with sustainable activities for our 

company. The criteria listed below play a central role 
in our decisions to buy properties and land.

Corporate sustainability - purchasing criteria
General

• excellent quality of connections to public transport 
(rail as far as possible)

• local supplies of every day requirements

in addition when developing space

• greenfield sites only used in exceptional cases
• preference for revitalisation and re-use of space al-

ready used (brownland)

in addition when revitalising existing properties

• no further long-term demand for the previous use
• Surroundings and property structure allow apart-

ments for dignified living to be created

Corporate sustainability - construction criteria

General

• Upholding and over-achieving energy and material 
standards

•  Security and health safety at work are more impor-
tant than the price tag and time

Purchasing space, land and existing buildings is the cen-
tral instrument used to control sustainable activities in 
ISARIA Wohnbau AG’s project development activities. 
The purchasing criteria listed above form the guardrails 
for our entrepreneurial activities and are in line with the 
social and political discussions on the “Sustainable City”.

Reduction in energy consumption induced by 
location by using sustainable forms of mobility

In our opinion, sustainable forms of mobility (public 
transport, bicycles and pedestrian traffic) in urban re-
gions that can be used to get to work, school or the 

shops form the backbone of a future-proof city. As 
a result, well-connected local train stations (U-Bahn 
and S-Bahn) can be reached on foot in less than 15 
minutes for our projects. Grocery stores can also be 
reached on foot, as can child daycare centres and res-
taurants – this is a key element of our view of urban-
ism. Our view of sustainable activities is also in line 
with the fundamental resolution on “local mobility” 
passed by the state capital of Munich in 2013 and 
the “White Paper on Inner Cities” published by the 
German federal ministry for transport, construction 
and urban development in 2011. Sustainable forms 
of mobility include the well-known environmental 
components as well as economic components, which 
have not been paid quite as much attention in the 
past - these mean that mobility costs are lower for 
households over the long term.  

Reducing space used by revitalising brownfield sites

When purchasing land and space, we pay attention 
to ensure that we do not buy greenfield sites, but 
that we use brownfield sites (sites that have already 
been used for construction). Using ground economi-
cally and treating it with care is a central issue for our 
projects, and can also be found in the Federal Govern-
ment’s “30 hectare objective” or the “Ground protec-
tion clause” (Section 1a) in the German Construction 
Code. The Council for Sustainable Development (2004) 
concludes: “Recycling [...] urban brownfield sites is a 
strategy which is already being successfully imple-
mented to minimise the amount of space used and 
to revitalise our cities.” ISARIA Wohnbau has been 
operating in many major conversion sites for sev-
eral years, such as in Munich-Riem (previously: air-
port), Arnulfpark (previously: container station) and 
Hirschpark (railway and post-office site). The projects 
completed and in development in 2014 also prove that 
this is the case in the present and in the future. 
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Maintaining “grey energy” by revitalising  
existing buildings

When purchasing existing buildings we pay attention 
to ensure that the existing building structure can be 
flexibly adapted to new use. Our concepts are based 
on maintaining and continuing to use the building tied 
up in the existing building structure, for example that 
was used to produce concrete and steel. Maintaining 
so-called “grey energy” is a core element of our sus-
tainable activities when revitalising existing buildings 
– in addition to creating urgently needed residential ac-
commodation in Munich and Hamburg. Maintaining the 
former shell (in some cases with underground parking) 
when converting properties to apartments preserves 
the “grey energy” already employed to a substantial 
extent, and it means that this no longer has to be ex-
pended – in contrast to new buildings. In addition, it is 
often the case that new infrastructures such as media 
supply and road development are scarcely needed.

Sustainability in the project development phase

When realising all of our projects, in-depth coordina-
tion discussions are held with politicians and repre-

sentatives of public authorities. Involving the general 
public is a must have, and as part of this work the 
public, as well as public authorities, are given the op-
portunity to add their input. Any concerns or ideas 
expressed are considered and weighed up during the 
construction planning phase. During the construction 
planning stage, we commission expert opinions so 
that we can assess the impact that the plans will have 
on people, flora and fauna, the land, water, air, the cli-
mate and landscape, cultural and physical goods. If in-
dicators of damaging impact are ascertained as part of 
these investigations, these are subject to an in-depth 
review and opportunities for solutions are discussed. 
The impact on flora and fauna that is protected by 
European legal provisions is of particular importance. 
If habitats are impacted or impaired, extensive com-
pensatory activities are required that are worked out 
together with the local nature conservation authority. 
At the same time, in Munich ISARIA Wohnbau AG is 
bound by the “Sozialgerechte Bodenordnung” (SoBoN 
– Socially Acceptable Ground Use Directive) in almost 
all of its projects. This means that part of the planning 
profits is paid to the City of Munich in line with its 
purpose for the construction of primary schools, child 
daycare centres, public roads or green areas, and that 
apartments are built specifically for income brackets 
that are otherwise excluded from freely financed resi-
dential construction.

ISARIA Wohbau acts sustainably in its purchases, 
plans and construction

In summary, ISARIA Wohbau AG’s sustainable activi-
ties are based on several pillars. Energy standards in 
ISARIA Wohnbau AG’s new construction and revitali-
sation projects are subject to the strict regulations of 
the Energy Saving Directive and thus offer significantly 
lower energy consumption compared to average resi-
dential buildings. When purchasing land we pay atten-
tion to ensure that we deal economically with land, 
and treat it carefully, by giving preference to the use 
of space that has already been used. When purchas-

ing vacant existing buildings, we pay attention to the 
existing building structure, so that we can continue to 
use the energy already tied up in the buildings (“grey 
energy”). Finally, in all of our projects, we pay atten-
tion to ensure that local train stations can easily be 
reached on foot, and that shops and restaurants can 
also be reached on foot, to support sustainable forms 
of mobility.

vogelweidestrasse revitalisation of an insurance company’s 
vacant former offices 

Karlsfeld – nido 
project

New building on a former transformer 
station

Diamalt-Quartier
New construction and revitalisation of 
industrial monuments on the brownfield 
industrial site of the former Diamalt-Werke

Tower revitalisation of a vacant office block 
 previously used by Siemens

Elsenheimer Strasse revitalisation of a vacant former office 
building 

Kapstadtring revitalisation of a vacant former office 
building

hamburg-Nord
New construction on the brownfield 
site previously used by a plant nursery 
(greenhouses)
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2. Economic Report

I. Overall Economic Developments

After getting off to a surprisingly good start, the econo-
my in Germany cooled perceptibly during the course of 
2014. This was due to, in particular, the weakening of 
key sales markets and also the insecurities which grew 
due to geopolitical crises. In contrast, the solid domestic 
economy, based on a robust labour market, proved to be 
the sole growth driver in 2014. At present, the German 
economy is expected to stabilise in 2015. Estimates for 
economic growth are between 1.0 % and 1.7 %.

Residential construction will continue to benefit from 
these underlying conditions, in particular from the con-
tinued extremely low financing costs and also from the 
lack of alternative investments. According to the Institut 
für Weltwirtschaft (IfW) in Kiel, the signs of a real boom 
are increasing, with investments increasing there by 
3.3 % in 2015.

II. Developments on the real estate markets 
in Germany and Munich

The market for residential project developers

The real estate economy in Germany (which indicates 
the current situation) initially continued the growth it 
had enjoyed in 2013 into the first half of 2014. How-
ever this fell for three successive months in the third 
quarter of 2014 before leaping again in December. In a 
year-on-year comparison, in December 2014 it was up 
1.9 % compared to the 2013 year-end figure. The real 
estate climate (which indicates the perspectives) tend-
ed to grow hand in hand with the real estate economy 
in 2014, however at the end of 2014 it totalled 3.0 % 
lower than the level at the end of 2013. The climate for 
residential construction faired best here, with a year-
on-year downturn of just 1.0 %. This segment continues 
to be the most attractive asset class compared to the 
other classes, and is thus a “safe haven”. The underlying 
conditions in the real estate sector can thus continue 

to be regarded as being excellent. Residential project 
developers thus continue to enjoy an excellent environ-
ment in all of Germany’s high-growth regions.

On 01 October 2014, the German Federal Government 
passed a white paper for the introduction of a statu-
tory cap for rental prices for certain properties. As part 
of this process, when existing properties are re-let the 
new rental price would be capped (so-called rental price 
block). According to the government’s white paper, new 
properties which are used and rented for the first time 
after 01 October 2014 are not covered by the rent cap. 
This could make new residential properties even more 
attractive for both private and also institutional inves-
tors. If the German states issue the associated legisla-
tion for the corresponding areas, this white paper could 
come into force in the first half of 2015.

Developments on the housing market in Munich 

The real estate market in Munich continues to be 
highly attractive. Munich as a location continues to 
take first place in many national studies with regard 
to factors relevant for the real estate market, such as 
economic and structural indicators, location strength 
and future-proof locations. For example, Munich was 
the city with the strongest economy in the 2014 city 
ranking by Wirtschaftswoche and Immobilienscout24. 
This study examined 69 cities in the categories of real 
estate market, quality of living, labour market and 
economic structure, broken down into level and pace. 
Munich also continues to hold one of the top places 
in international rankings, for example it takes second 
place in the City Investment Intensity Index currently 
published by Jones Lang Lasalle ( JLL). Munich’s high-
performance economic structure can be seen in factors 
including the largest number of company headquar-
ters per resident. It is the most productive German city 
and is often called the “City of the DAX Groups”. As a 
consequence, Munich is also the highest-priced loca-
tion for residential real estate in Germany.

These sustainable and very positive underlying con-
ditions let to continued high demand on the Munich 
residential real estate market over the past few years, 
with a substantial increase in prices. The pace of this 
growth slowed somewhat in 2014 compared to 2013. 
For example, the Committee of Experts for the City of 
Munich reported a price increase for new apartments 
in excellent locations of just € 50/sq m from € 6,400/
sq m at the end of 2013 to € 6,450/sq m as of 30 Sep-
tember 2014 in its Q3/2014 report. However, for aver-
age locations - and this is the area in which ISARIA 
Wohnbau AG primarily operates - current selling prices 
per square meter show that prices have increased by 
7.6 % in the first nine months of 2014 from € 5,250/
sq m to € 5,650/sq m. JLL is currently even reporting 
a 9 % price increase in the second half of 2014 com-
pared to the second half of 2013. In the previous year, 
prices were up by a good 13 % over twelve months. 
The distinction between residential locations shows 
price elasticity is highest in average locations, i.e., that 
it is still possible to pay for apartments. Current price 
growth shoes that the trend is not yet turning around, 
but only that the extraordinary situation is coming to 
and end, and things are getting back to normal.

Recently, the subject of a “property bubble” has been 
increasingly discussed. If purchase prices increase sig-
nificantly faster than rents over an extended period, 
points to the market overheating, as no sustainable 
returns can be expected any more. This price growth 
would also have to part company permanently from 
the underlying economic conditions. The gap between 
rents and purchase prices for residential properties has 
been increasing substantially. Based on a study by bul-
wiengesa, rents have increased by 24 % since 2000, 
and purchase prices have increased by 73 %. How-
ever, just looking at price changes alone is not totally 
meaningful. At least in Munich, there are mostly fun-
damental reasons for this development. Demand for 
residential accommodation in Munich continues to be 
high. An average of 80 people move to Munich every 

day. In theory that means 50 new apartments every 
day. More than 300,000 people have thus moved to 
Munich over the past 15 years. In addition, most of 
these apartments have been “sensibly” financed - that 
means with a high proportion of equity and high re-
payments.

The continued high demand for residential properties 
in Munich has now perceptibly thinned out the offer-
ing on the market. The Committee of Experts in Munich 
ascertained a reduction in the number of sales on the 
market for owner-occupied apartments for the second 
successive year in its Q3/2014 report. In the first nine 
months of 2014 this totalled a further 5 % after 12 % in 
2013. The fact that there are not enough apartments 
available can only be overcome with a sustained and 
substantial increase in construction activities. The City 
of Munich’s Planning Department reports that the City 
of Munich covered the requirement for the construc-
tion of 7,000 new apartments annually as 7,026 apart-
ments were completed in 2014 (after 7,904 in 2013). 
However, this is not sufficient to compensate for the 
lack of building activities in the past few years. In ad-
dition, other institutions believe that actual annual de-
mand is much higher than the figure estimated by the 
City of Munich, for example the Institut der deutschen 
Wirtschaft puts this figure at 11,500 apartments per 
year. In addition, the space available for construction 
in Munich is continuing to decrease – in contrast to 
other German cities.

As a result, there are currently no indicators that the 
situation on the market will relax over the medium 
term, and this means that there is also no price bub-
ble on the Munich real estate market. Homebuyers are 
still prepared to buy properties, despite increasing or 
higher purchase prices – and this applies to both inves-
tors and also owner occupiers, with the properties on 
offer still being very limited.
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Developments on the housing market in Hamburg

Hamburg unites strong spending power with a high 
number of residents, as is the case in Munich. The real 
estate market in this city with its 1.8 million residents 
is the third largest in Germany in terms of requirements 
for new properties, following Berlin and Munich. Real 
estate prices in Hamburg are among the highest in 
the country. Hamburg is also similar to Munich in that 
it ranks among the German cities in which the popu-
lation is expected to grow substantially by 2030. As a 
result, demand is also expected to outstrip supply over 
the long term in Hamburg. At present, there is a lack 
of around 15,000 residential units in order to cover re-
quirements.

Competitive position of ISARIA Wohnbau in Munich

Competition for project developers for residential con-
struction is mostly fragmented throughout Germany. 
There are many smaller providers on the market, who 
develop a few, small-scale properties in the traditional 
housing estate structures. As a result of the strong 
growth in the population of Munich, which has been 
the case for decades, however, some major compa-
nies have become established, who mostly ensure 
urban development growth. ISARIA Wohnbau has 
ranked among these companies for several years. bul-
wiengesa has identified a group of five leading resi-
dential property developers in Munich. All of the other 
companies in this group have been family-owned for 
decades and the “second youngest” has already been 
operating on the market for 45 years. Based on a suffi-
ciently large and strategic project pipeline, developing 
residential properties in Munich is thus clearly one of 
the least crisis-hit business models in the real estate 
industry.

Competitive position of ISARIA Wohnbau in Hamburg

The properties secured in 2014 mean that ISARIA 
Wohnbau has laid the foundations to also rank among 
the top ten residential project developers in Hamburg 
in future. 

III. Key events in the period under review

Entry of capital increase

The capital increase from the contribution by One Group 
was entered into the commercial register on 11 Febru-
ary 2014. The share capital of ISARIA Wohnbau AG now 
totals € 23,764,000, comprising 23,764,000 no-par 
 value bearer shares.

New corporate bond issued

In February 2014 the company issued a new corporate 
bond for € 10.0 million with a term to February 2015 and 
an interest rate of 8.0 % p. a. This was fully subscribed. 
Since 21 May 2014 it has also been included in OTC trad-
ing (Quotation Board) on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange 
for corporate bonds with ISIN DE000A1YCPQ6 and was 
repaid on schedule in February 2015 after the balance 
sheet date.

New Authorised Capital

ISARIA Wohnbau AG’s 2014 ordinary general meeting on 
23 May 2013 resolved to cancel existing 2012 Author-
ised Capital, and to authorise the Managing Board to 
increase the company’s share capital, with the approval 
of the Supervisory Board, by up to € 11,882,000.00 by 
issuing up to 11,882,000.00 new no-par value bearer 
shares against cash or non-cash contributions on one or 
several occasions (2014 Authorised Capital).

As a rule, shareholders have subscription rights. Howev-
er, the Managing Board is authorised to exclude share-
holders’ subscription rights, with the approval of the 
Supervisory Board, in line with the proposal announced 
in the invitation to the company’s General Meeting on 
15 April 2014 under agenda item 6, as published in the 
Federal Gazette.

The corresponding change to the Articles of Association 
was entered in the commercial register of Munich Local 
Court (HRB 187909) on 13 June 2014.

Exit of a former shareholder

The former Executive Board member and company 
founder Mr. Josef Kastenberger parted company with 
his entire share package in May 2014. As a result of 
his exit as a shareholder, the company’s receivables 
from him in the amount of € 1.5 million were settled 
in full.

Repayment of JK Fonds I in line with prospectus

The last deposits were repaid to investors of JK Fonds I 
(JK Wohnbau Fonds I Beteiligungs GmbH & Co. KG) on 
30 September 2014. As a result, JK Fonds I has been fully 
repaid in line with the prospectus with a total amount 
of € 38 million over the last two years.

Full placement of the ProReal Deutschland Fonds 3

By the end of September 2014, all units for the ProReal 
Deutschland Fund 3 of the One Group had been placed 
with a planned issue volume of € 75.0 million. The pace 
of placement picked up considerably in the third quarter 
of 2014. As a result, all units were placed well ahead 
of the planned date at the end of 2014. The successor 
product, an Alternative Investment Fund (AIG), which 
is fully regulated under the German Capital Investment 
Code (KAGB) is currently in the final conception phase. 
Market introduction is planned for the second quarter 
in 2015.

Hamburg as a second location

Acquisitions in Munich are currently only possible at 
speculative prices. This caused the company to take the 
decision to expand its business activities in regional 
terms to include Hamburg as a second location for resi-
dential property development projects. The company’s 
headquarters, with all of the central departments, will 
continue to be in Munich. The Supervisory Board ap-
proved this expansion in its meeting on 07 November 
2014. As described below, the company has already 
secured suitable plots in Hamburg for both its New 
Construction of Residential Property and Revitalisation 
divisions.

Acquisition of property

The company has now created more than 350 apart-
ments in former office properties under the APP.
ARTMENTS brand. As there was no successor project 
in the project pipeline, systematic acquisitions were 
made in the Revitalisation segment.

During the first half of the year, corresponding office 
properties were acquired in Hamburg (majority acqui-
sition via One Group) and also in Munich. The pro-
jects, which have now been paid for and taken pos-
session of, will generate future revenues of around 
€ 100 million. In September, the building purchased 
on Munich’s Elsenheimerstrasse has already received 
financing from a major German bank up to comple-
tion. The building located on Hamburg’s Kapstadtring 
street was initially purchased with funds from the One 
Group.

In the New Construction segment, the company was 
able to link into a major potential residential develop-
ment in Hamburg in 2014. However, due to the confi-
dentiality constraints that have been agreed, no further 
details can be provided on this property to date.

Developments of projects

In contrast to the previous year, construction work con-
tinued practically without reduction at the start of 2014 
as a result of the mild winter and was also not impacted 
by negative weather conditions during the remainder of 
the year through to the end of December. The individual 
projects:

In the Hirschparkterrassen project, the last apartment 
was handed over at the start of 2014. The 104 apart-
ments in total had thus been fully sold, handed over 
and occupied on the reporting date, and the project had 
been fully completed. The project is being carried out in 
cooperation with Corpus Sireo Projektentwicklung Woh-
nen GmbH and is included in the consolidated financial 
statements at equity via the investment result.



ISARIA Wohnbau AG Annual Report 201464 65

In the St. Bonifatius revitalisation project, construction 
work in the rear property was completed in fiscal year 
2014 and the apartments were handed over. Work on 
the front property was completed in December 2014, 
with the exception of minor residual tasks and the ex-
terior areas. The remaining apartments are expected to 
be handed over in the first half of 2015.

Construction work for the nido project in Dr. Johann-
Heitzer-Strasse in Karlsfeld West benefited from the 
mild weather at the start of 2014. In the first three 
months of 2014 it was possible to hand over the re-
maining ten of the 50 units that had already otherwise 
been completed as of 31 December 2013 in building 
sections WA 5 and 7 to their buyers. In the second 
quarter of 2014, a total of 35 terraced houses in the 
next stage WA 9 were completed and handed over 
for individual ownership. During the fourth quarter 
an additional four building stages were completed on 
schedule with a total of 97 handovers. This means that 
a total of 142 units have been handed over to their 
owners in this major project in 2014. From 2010 to 2013 
a total of 149 residential units in six building stages 
were completed and handed over. ISARIA Wohnbau 
is constructing a total of 553 residential units in 12 
construction stages on the 115,000 sq m plot. Of these 
units, 291 had been handed over by the end of 2014. 
This means that this project thus reached “half time” 
in the fourth quarter of 2014. As of 01 January 2015 a 
total of 208 residential units were under construction, 
and all of these have already been sold. Sales start 
for additional construction zones currently depends on 
corresponding planning permission being issued.

In the APP.ARTMENTS revitalisation project in Vogel-
weidestrasse 5 in Munich-Bogenhausen with a total of 
167 apartments, 149 units had been handed over with 
a sales volume of € 42.7 million following finalisation 
of construction work in the common property at the be-
ginning of 2014. The remaining apartments are being 
sold and handed over on an ongoing basis.

In the two developments Diamalt-Quartier and Tower, 
obtaining building rights is being further driven. The 
intention to quickly create additional residential con-
struction rights has been clearly expressed; however 
this is being hampered by tedious implementation 
by the authorities, as a large number of public-sector 
players are involved in type of process. This makes it 
more difficult to estimate dates precisely in the on-
going development process.

In the Tower project in Munich-Obersendling, a discus-
sion forum with interested citizens was held in Febru-
ary 2014. The results were accounted for in a so-called 
key data resolution (“Eckdatenbeschluss”) from the 
federal state capital of Munich, which was passed by 
city council on 22 October 2014. According to planning 
regulations, the Tower project is integrated in the total 
“Campus Süd” area. The decision on key data has now 
been successfully received, and an urban planning 
and landscaping competition has been running since 
December 2014, and in parallel a planning process 
which includes multiple mandates. In general, the two 
subareas will be evaluated across property bounda-
ries during these two processes. The invitation texts 
and the dates have been coordinated with the federal 
state capital of Munich. The decision by the advisory 
body is scheduled for the start of May 2015 when the 
results are presented. Once this procedure is complete, 
urban land-use planning for the Tower will commence.

With respect to the Diamalt-Quartier project in 
 Munich-Allach, we are expecting a further key data 
resolution from the federal state capital of Munich, 
which is planned for the third quarter of 2015 follow-
ing scheduling. The content of the key data resolution 
and the invitation to tender for urban development 
and landscaping is being prepared at the same time 
and being coordinated with the department for urban 
planning and building regulation so that the tender-
ing process can be initiated once the resolution has 
been issued.

The building in Elsenheimer Strasse in Munich was 
acquired in 2014, and here we already have a posi-
tive preliminary building application to convert this to 
a boarding house. According to the company’s current 
plans, this is to be converted into apartments under the 
APP.ARTMENTS brand. We have already prepared a cor-
responding usage plan and submitted this to the City 
of Munich’s Building Authority in 2014. The building ap-
plication is currently being prepared and is scheduled to 
be submitted in the second quarter of 2015.

The former office building in Kapstadtring in Hamburg 
was also acquired in 2014 and during the past fiscal 
year three different alternative concepts for its use 
were worked out (hotel, boarding house, residential). 
The boarding house concept has bee pursued in greater 
detail. Discussions are currently being held with the City 
of Hamburg to prepare the documents for the building 
application.

At present, work is underway for the third property ac-
quired in 2014, in Hamburg Nord, to change the zoning 
(from commercial to residential).

Acquisition of a majority interest in a  
project development and sale of the  
completed project development

The company already announced the acquisition of a 
majority interest in the special purpose entity “Wohn-
bau Objekt Prinzregentenstrasse GmbH” in December 
2013 with a notarised purchase contract. Execution of 
this contract was subject to the condition precedent 
that it was approved by the financing partners. These 
conditions were met in November 2014. In parallel, the 
company also acquired the remaining 10 % interest in 
the special purpose entity with a contract dated 21 No-
vember 2014, and merged the company with the sister 
company ISARIA Wohnbau Objekt Willy-Brandt-Allee 
GmbH (previously JK Wohnbau Objekt Willy-Brandt- 
Allee GmbH). This merger was entered in the commer-
cial register on 11 December 2014.

After the project development had been successfully 
completed, the real estate ownership of Wohnbau 
Objekt Prinzregentenstrasse GmbH was sold via a 
 notarised contract dated 05 November 2014. Benefits 
and risks from the sale of this property were transferred 
on 31 December 2014.

As a result of the prior majority acquisition, the sale of 
this real estate is recognised as revenues and in profit 
and loss in these consolidated financial statements. As 
a result, earnings that had previously been planned 
for 2016 and 2017 have been pulled forward into 2014. 
This is possible thanks to the excellent market situa-
tion in Munich. The profits resulting from this sale had 
a material impact on the positive earnings in the fourth 
quarter and thus also in the whole of 2014 and has also 
reinforced the group’s equity.

Executive Board Membership Changes

With effect from 01 January 2014 Mr Jan von Lewinski 
joined ISARIA Wohnbau AG’s Executive Board as the 
new COO (Chief Operating Officer). He takes over this 
position from the former COO Christian Dunkelberg, 
whose contract, which has been in place since 2010, 
has been extended to the end of 2015 and who will 
be responsible for the CIO’s tasks (Chief Investment Of-
ficer) in future. As a result, the company will be run 
by a three-member Executive Board in future. The Su-
pervisory Board has created the new position of a CIO, 
and has thus signalised that the company will also be 
geared to expansion and acquisitions again in future.

Michael Haupt’s appointment as CEO and spokesman of 
the Executive Bord was extended to the end of 2017 in 
February 2014.
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IV. Financial position and results of 
operations 

In previous years, management has focused on improv-
ing the financing structure - and it has already recorded 
major success in this regard. In fiscal year 2014 the focus 
was back again to ISARIA Wohnbau’s core business, its 
building activities, in addition to further improving fi-
nancing costs.

In 2014 it was possible to generate notarised indi-
vidual sales of € 75.2 million (previous year: € 110.6 
million). This is coupled with a further € 51.5 million 
from the sale of a completed property development 
to an investor in 2014. The downturn in individual 
sales is mostly due to planning permission for the ma-
jor project nido in Karlsfeld not being issued quickly 
enough or to the required extent. As a result, it was 
not possible to match the speed of sales recorded in 
2013 and 2014.

Notarised sales less units already transferred resulted 
in an continued high order book of € 84 million on 

31 December 2014 (31 December 2013: € 113 million). 
This order book secures future revenues. With regard to 
the revenues forecast for 2015 from the sale of property 
units, more than 65 % of these units have already been 
notarised.

Results of operations

ISARIA Wohnbau’s earnings in 2014 were characterised 
by high revenues from handing over projects. These 
revenues are four times higher than in the previous 
year. This results in a significant improvement in prof-
itability compared to the previous year. This is also 
reflected in improved gross profit, EBIT, EBT and con-
solidated comprehensive income. Consolidated com-
prehensive income after taxes was up more than eight 
fold to k€ 9,272 (previous year: k€ 1,084).

In 2014, One Group’s earnings were included in con-
solidated earnings for the first time. The One Group 
is accounted for in the Group result after taxes to the 
amount of k€ 579 before pro-rata depreciation of the 
assets recognised from the purchase price allocation. 
Earnings are thus slightly positive in this first year of 

group membership, in line with forecast. ISARIA Wohn-
bau Group as a stand-alone (without One Group) closed 
the fiscal year 2014 with significantly positive earnings 
after taxes of k€ 9,857.

The revenue volume (proceeds from the sale of resi-
dential units, from leasing as well as from other deliv-
eries and services) amounts to k€ 160,224 in the fiscal 
year 2014 (previous year: k€ 37,705). As revenues are 
generally only recognized upon completion (handover) 
in the accounts, and not continuously in line with the 
percentage of completion, the amount of revenues dis-
closed every year depends on the respective comple-
tion dates of the individual construction properties and 
is thus subject to strong fluctuations.

Revenues are primarily governed by the income from 
the residential units handed over from individual 
sales in the respective period. In 2014 this mostly 
related to the hand-overs of residential units in the  
APP.ARTMENTS revitalisation project (Living Bogen-
hausen GmbH) which had been postponed in the last 
quarter of 2013, and also handovers for a total of 142 
units from five construction stages in the nido con-
struction project (ISARIA Wohnbau Objekt Karlsfeld 1 
GmbH, ISARIA Wohnbau Objekt Karlsfeld 2 GmbH and 
ISARIA Wohnbau Objekt Karlsfeld 3), completed in 
2014. In addition, to a lesser extent there were hando-
vers from completions in the revitalisation project St. 
Bonifatius as well as the handover of the last (com-
mercial) unit from the legacy project Maistrasse sold 
in 2014. In addition, the sale of a completed project 
development at the end of 2014 contributed k€ 51,450.

Total output includes revenues as well as the change in 
inventories of ongoing construction properties accord-
ing to construction progress (increase in inventories) 
and handovers (decrease in inventories) in the current 
reporting period. In 2014 the ISARIA Wohnbau Group 
had a net increase in inventories of k€ 10.105 (previous 
year: k€ 4,694).

The gross profit margin (gross profit to revenues) was 
almost 27 % in 2014 (previous year: 34 %). This margin 
has fallen mostly due to an amount of k€ 4,140 no 
longer being recognised in income according to IFRS as 
this amount had already been taken directly to equity 
as part of the first-time consolidation of the respective 
special purpose entity (Living Bogenhausen GmbH) in 
the 2013 consolidated financial statements (so-called 
step-up).

The cost of materials increased by k€ 98,211 from 
k€ 29,424 in 2013 to k€ 127,635 in 2014. Of this total, 
k€ 67,696 (previous year: zero) is due to purchase prices 
for land. This increase reflects the increased volume 
of construction compared to the same period of the 
previous year, and also the higher number of units in 
construction.

Other operating income in 2014 mostly includes income 
from the reversal of provisions in the amount of k€ 375 
(previous year: k€ 349) and the derecognition of a li-
ability in the amount of k€ 821. In the previous year 
other operating income also included compensation 
payments from the company’s founder for a sale below 
value in 2009 in the amount of k€ 611, various items of 
non-cash income in the amount of k€ 1,035 and income 
from the sale of investment properties in the amount 
of k€ 649.

Personnel expenses increased in the reporting period 
to k€ 6,604 compared to k€ 3,005 in the same period 
of the previous year. Of this increase, k€ 1,838 is due to 
the first-time inclusion of personnel expenses for One 
Group in ISARIA Wohnbau’s consolidated financial state-
ments during the period under review. The remaining 
increase is attributed to the continual expansion of 
the workforce at ISARIA Wohnbau during the reporting 
period. As of 31 December 2014, 55 employees were 
employed at the ISARIA Wohnbau Group (31 Decem-
ber 2014: 31 employees). Of this total, 14 employees are 
from One Group.

01/01/ – 12/31/2014 
k€

01/01/ – 12/31/2013
k€

Change
k€

revenues 160,224 37,705 122,519

Total output 170,329 42,400 127,929

Cost of materials -127,635 -29,424 -98,211

Gross profit 42,694 12,976 29,718

Personnel expenses -6,604 -3,005 -3,599

Other operating income 1,699 3,543 -1,844

Other operating expenses -13,219 -10,086 -3,133

EBIT 21,644 2,970 18,674

Financial result -10,904 -10,402 -502

EBT 10,740 -7,433 18,173

Income tax expenses / gains -1,468 8,516 -9,984

Comprehensive income 9,272 1,084 8,188

results of operations
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Amortisation/depreciation increased by k€ 2,467 to 
k€ 2,925 (previous year: k€ 458). This increase is partly 
due to scheduled amortisation of the purchase price al-
location performed on 31 December 2013 from the in-
tangible assets as part of the acquisition of One Group 
in the amount of k€ 1,133 performed for the first time 
during the fiscal year. It is also due to the fact that we 
recognised non-scheduled impairment in the amount of 
k€ 1,218 for part of our investment properties to adjust 
these to their lower fair values.

Other operating expenses increased by k€ 13,219 in 
the previous year to k€ 10,086 compared to k€ 3,133 in 
the fiscal year 2014. Of this increase, k€ 1,982 is due 
to the first-time inclusion of expenses for One Group 
during the period under review. In addition, warranty 
and follow-up costs increased by k€ 1,440. This includes 
an increase in the provision for guarantees for the 
units handed over in the period under review, and also 
higher follow-up costs for projects already handed over 
before 2010. Other expenses fell on the whole.

EBIT increased more than seven fold to k€ 21,644 com-
pared to the previous year (k€ 2,970). In terms of rev-
enues, this gives an EBIT margin of almost 14 % (previ-
ous year: 8 %).

The negative financial result increased in 2014 by k€ 502 
to k€ -10,904 compared to k€ -10,402 in the previous 
year. Financial income was substantially higher com-
pared to the previous year (k€ 829) at k€ 4,028 in 2014.  
This is due to one-off effects from adjusting liabilities to 
their present values in the amount of k€ 3,216. Financial 
expenses also increased in 2014 compared to the previ-
ous year (k€ 13,221) by 18 % to k€ 15,626. These mostly 
relate to interest payments to banks in the amount of 
k€ 7,233 and the increase in liabilities for compensa-
tion according to the effective interest rate method 
in the amount of k€ 6,798. The increase in financial 
expenses is directly connected to interest-bearing 
liabilities which are up by a good 41 % year on year.  

These, in turn, are due directly to the corresponding 
higher project volumes to be financed. The fact that fi-
nancing expenses have increased to a significantly lesser 
extent than this figure reflects the substantial improve-
ment in the financing structure. The result from partici-
pating interests carried at equity totalled just k€ 693 in 
the period under review (previous year: k€ 1,990) as 
the corresponding construction project had mostly been 
completed and handed over at the end of 2013.

There was also a substantial year-on-year improvement 
to consolidated earnings before taxes in 2014. This fig-
ure is up k€ 18,173 to k€ 10,740 compared to the previ-
ous year’s figure of k€ -7,433. Income taxes of k€ -1,468 
mostly result from considering the minimum taxation 
for corporation tax and trade tax at ISARIA Wohnbau 
AG in the amount of k€ -2,491. This is offset by income 
from the reversal of deferred tax liabilities of k€ 1,322. 
Earnings after taxes totalled k€ 9,272 (previous year: 
k€ 1,084).

The course of business at an overall group level in 2014 
broke new revenue records in 2014, EBIT improved by 
k€ 18.7 million, there was a further improvement to 
the financing structure, and earnings after taxes were 
also clearly positive. Business was thus highly satisfac-
tory and also surpassed our own expectations. ISARIA 
Wohnbau’s economic position thus once again contin-
ued to improve perceptibly in the past fiscal year.

Earnings in the segments

In terms of the segments, earnings in the ISARIA Wohn-
bau Group were as follows:

Revenues in the largest segment New Construction in-
creased due to the situation described above with prop-
erties handed over and revenues being recognized by 
k€ 79,517 to k€ 112,429 (previous year: k€ 32,912). This 
also includes the sale of the completed project develop-
ment already mentioned. Segment EBIT increased as a 
result by k€ 21,606 to k€ 22,279 (previous year: k€ 673). 

Financing expenses increased slightly by k€ 396 or 
4 % to k€ 9,569 (previous year: k€ 9,569). Considering 
the downturn in financial income from k€ 979 in the 
previous year to k€ 321 in 2014 and the earnings from 
companies consolidated at equity allocated to this seg-
ment in the amount of k€ 693 (previous year: k€ 1,990) 
this results in substantially positive segment earnings 
before taxes of k€ 13,328 (previous year: k€ -5,927). 
Income taxes allocated to this segment of k€ -2,915 
mostly result from considering the minimum taxation 
at ISARIA Wohnbau AG. In the previous year the taxable 
earnings in the New Construction segment were posi-
tive at k€ 8,046 due to the capitalisation of deferred 
taxes on losses carried forwards in 2013. Segment earn-
ings after taxes were also clearly positive at k€ 10,414 
(previous year: k€ 2,119).

Revenues in the Revitalization segment totalled 
k€ 44,633 in 2014 (previous year: k€ 1,914). Segment 
EBIT also increased significantly in absolute terms at 
k€ 5,061 (previous year: k€ 1,370) and was also suf-
ficient to cover financing expenses. However, only 
a low amount of earnings before taxes remain in the 
amount of k€ 161. Segment EBIT was not higher, even 
as a result of the high revenues. This is mostly due to 
an amount of k€ 4,140 no longer being recognised in 
income according to IFRS as this amount had already 
been taken directly to equity as part of the first-time 
consolidation of the respective special purpose entity 
(Living Bogenhausen GmbH) in the 2013 consolidated 
financial statements (so-called step-up). After consider-
ing income from the reversal of deferred tax liabilities, 
this results in segment earnings after taxes of k€ 785 
(previous year: k€ -1,440). In an economic view, con-
sidering the contribution to earnings just mentioned, 
this results in substantially more positive earnings after 
taxes of k€ 4,925. The current construction projects in 
the revitalisation project are thus also profitable.

Business activities in the One Group segment, which 
was included for the first time in the period under re-

view, mostly comprise interest margin business. This 
is reflected in the financial result. One Group contrib-
uted a positive financial result of k€ 3,362 in the pe-
riod under review. This positive financial result allowed 
slightly positive earnings before taxes to be recorded 
in this segment of k€ 112 after covering overhead costs 
in the period under review. Earnings after taxes were 
positive at k€ 460, mostly the result of income from the 
increase to deferred tax assets on losses carried for-
ward. This has led to segment earnings after taxes of 
k€ 572, however this is prior to the consideration of the 
amortisation of the intangible assets acquired as part 
of the acquisition of One Group GmbH. This corresponds 
to the economic segment earnings included in internal 
reporting. However, the intangible assets acquired as 
part of the acquisition of One Group GmbH are also 
to be allocated to the One Group segment at a group 
level. These were subject to scheduled amortisation 
for the first time in the past fiscal year in the amount 
of k€ 1,133. This is offset by the resulting reversal of 
deferred tax liabilities in the amount of k€ 362. In total 
this results in slightly negative earnings after taxes for 
the One Group segment of k€ -199.

Revenues in the Other segment totalled k€ 2,987 
(previous year: k€ 2,879), and these resulted from 
income in connection with the rental of invest-
ment properties as well as k€ 2,333 (previous year: 
k€ 2,138) from the rental of an apartment building in 
Schillerstrasse which is managed for a financial inves-
tor. Segment EBIT in 2014 was depressed by a one-off 
effect in the amount of k€ 1,218 from the extraor-
dinary write-down of part of the investment prop-
erties to their lower fair values and totals k€ -1,312 
(previous year: k€ 926). In the previous year positive 
one off factors totalling k€ 1,782 from the sale of 
investment properties, compensation payments and 
income from writing up real estate assets increased 
this segment’s EBIT. The high financial expenses 
for investment properties mean that the segment 
recorded negative segment earning before taxes of 
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k€ -1,728 (previous year: k€ -2). This also corresponds 
to earnings after tax. In the previous year, segment 
earnings after taxes were positive as a result of the 
positive income tax result at k€ 405.

Net-Asset-Value (NAV)

At a project developer such as ISARIA Wohnbau, cen-
tral assets, properties held for sale and inventories 
under construction are carried at cost. This is a fun-
damental difference between the balance sheet for 
the ISARIA Wohnbau Group and that of a real estate 
holding company, where central assets are carried at 
their market values. In order to make these figures 
comparable with those from real estate holding com-
panies the company has identified the fair value of 
these stocks itself using residual value calculations 
that are standard on the market, and had these con-
firmed by an external expert. In this valuation method 
an expert estimates the income values in agreement 
with the project developers. The budgeted comple-
tion costs including a reasonable profit margin for the 
developer are deducted from the income values. The 
residual amount in this valuation method gives the 
market value of our project developments. The com-
pany then uses these market values to calculate the 
net asset value (NAV), the figure used internationally 
to assess real estate companies, according to EPRA 
standards.

When calculating the EPRA NAV, ISARIA Wohnbau uses 
its equity before minority interests, supplemented by 
hidden reserves from the calculation of the residual val-
ues of the inventories. This calculation was performed 
for the first time on 31 December 2013. As of 31 De-
cember 2014, the company updated these calculations 
while considering the EPRA Best Practice Recommenda-
tions from December 2014. According to these recom-
mendations, “Trading Properties” are to be included at 
their market value without considering deferred taxes. 
According to this method, as of 31 December 2013 the 
EPRA NAV for the ISARIA Wohnbau Group is k€ 91,032 
higher. On 31 December 2014, the EPRA NAV increased 
further to k€ 112,319. This is due to the further increases 
in market prices as well as increases in value due to 
the development of construction rights which caused 
further increases in hidden reserves for the properties 
in the accounts.

Net assets

The company’s net assets are mostly characterised 
by a strong increase in current assets. Total assets 
increased by a good 32 % to k€ 300,417 on 31 Decem-
ber 2014 compared to k€ 227,238 on 31 December 2013.

Non-current assets fell by k€ 4,027 or almost 10 % to 
k€ 38,089 on 31 December 2014 compared to 31 De-
cember 2013 (k€ 42,116). This downturn is due to the 

first time amortisation as part of the purchase price 
allocation from the acquisition of the intangible as-
sets identified as part of the acquisition of One Group 
in the amount of k€ 1,133 and an extraordinary write-
down of k€ 1,218 for part of the investment properties 
to their lower market value performed during the fis-
cal year. In addition, a disbursement included in the 
period under review led to a reduction in the amount 
of the interests in companies included at equity in the 
amount of k€ 1,828.

Current assets increased substantially 42 % to 
k€ 262,328 on 31 December 2014 compared to 31 De-
cember 2013 (k€ 185,123). Within current assets, the 
properties held for sale and other inventories in-
creased on balance k€ 10,105. However, there was a 
major increase in receivables from property sales due 
to the sale of a project development which was com-
pleted at the end of 2014. Payment of the purchase 
price for the receivable of k€ 51,450 was paid in Febru-
ary 2015 as a result of its due date with the exception 
of a residual amount which was not yet due. The re-
sidual amount is expected to be paid by the middle of 
2015. Cash and cash equivalents increased by k€ 9,787 
from k€ 32,303 on 31 December 2013 to k€ 42,090 on 
the balance sheet date.

Financial position
Equity increased to k€ 22,905 in 2014 mostly in the 
amount of the consolidated earnings after taxes by 
k€ 9,299 on the balance sheet date compared to 31 De-
cember 2013 (k€ 13,606). Total assets also increased 
strongly in parallel to the increase in equity, causing 
the equity ratio to only increase by a disproportionately 
low amount to 7.6 % compared to 6.0 % on 31 Decem-
ber 2013.

Non-current liabilities increased by k€ 48,575 to 
k€ 115,571 on 31 December 2014 compared to k€ 66,697 
on 31 December 2013. This increase was mostly due to 
the funds acquired by One Group’s ProReal Deutschland 
Fonds 3 in 2014. This led to an increase in the disclo-
sure of compensation liabilities to investors in ProReal 
Deutschland Fonds. In addition, non-current finan-
cial liabilities to banks also increased on balance by 
k€ 11,206 despite the contradictory repayments as a 
result of a loan that was newly taken out to replace the 
more expensive mezzanine financing in the amount of 
k€ 14,500.

Current liabilities also increased by k€ 15,305 to 
k€ 161,941 on the balance sheet date compared to 
k€ 146,636 on 31 December 2013. The current portion 
of compensation liabilities to shareholders in partner-
ships fell on balance by k€ 1,285. This was offset by a 

* Of these hidden reserves k€ 11,872 (31 December 2013 k€ 28,072) is due to companies in which ISArIA Wohnbau has already secured a majority interest by way of a notarised agreement, 
however for which execution is still subject to conditions precedent, however ISArIA Wohnbau believes that these conditions will be fulfi lled during the course of 2015.    

12/31/2014
k€

12/31/2013
k€

Equity before non-controlling interests 22,905 13,606

hidden reserves of inventories * 89,414 77,425

EPrA NAv 112,319 91,032 

Number of shares 23,764 23,764

NAv per share 4.73 3.83 

EPrA NAv - ISArIA Wohnbau Group 12/31/2014
k€

12/31/2013 *
k€

Change
k€

Non-current assets 38,089 42,116 -4,027

Current assets 262,328 185,123 77,205

  of which: Properties held for sale and other inventories 136,439 126,334 46,061

Equity 22,905 13,606 9,299

Non-current liabilities 115,571 66,996 48,575

Current liabilities 161,941 146,636 15,305

Balance sheet total 300,417 227,238 73,179

Net assets

* Adjusted prior-year fi gures due to the fi nal purchase price allocation of One Group Gmbh
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downturn in the liabilities carried for investors in JK 
Fonds I by fully repaying the deposits in the amount 
of k€ 9,038 and an increase resulting from the reclas-
sification of terms for liabilities to investors in ProReal 
Deutschland Fonds 2 and 3 from non-current to current 
in the amount of k€ 7,761. Current financial debt to 
non-banks fell by k€ 12,129 in the period under review. 
The corporate bond in the amount of k€ 10,000 issued 
in the period under review is offset by repayments 
for mezzanine funds in the total amount of k€ 22,129. 
Current financial debt to banks increased on balance 
by k€ 20,892 in the period under review. This is due 
to newly taking out a loan to finance the purchase of 
a newly acquired plot and the bank liabilities taken 
over as part of the first-time consolidation of a project 
development in the total amount of k€ 32,905. This is 
mostly offset by repayments and partial redemptions 
in the amount of k€ 12,025 for various other projects. 
Trade payables increased by k€ 13,318, mostly due to 
higher liabilities and provisions for construction costs 
not yet settled. In contrast, the deferred interest li-
abilities included in other liabilities fell by k€ 5,272 
as a result of payments. Liabilities from advance pay-
ments fell by k€ 7,817. Here, the reduction as a result 
of the handovers of residential units outweighed the 
increase due to further payments received from con-
tinued construction progress.

Cash in the ISARIA Wohnbau Group increased com-
pared to 31 December 2013 (k€ 32,303) by k€ 9,787 
and totalled k€ 42,090 on the balance sheet date. The 
Group can freely dispose of these funds in the amount 
of k€ 17,003 on 31 December 2014 (previous year: 
k€ 12,393).

The increase in cash freely disposable is composed of 
the cash flow from operating activities in the amount 
of k€ -34,452 (previous year: k€ 679), the cash flow 
from investing activities in the amount of k€ 62 (previ-
ous year: k€ 2,861) and the cash flow from financing 
activities in the amount of k€ 38.999 (previous year: 
k€ -2,910). 

The cash flow from operating activities totalled 
k€ -34,452 in the period under review after k€ 679 in 
the previous period and is mostly due to the consoli-
dated earnings before income taxes in the amount of 
k€ 10,740 plus write downs (k€ 2,925) and the financial 
result (k€ 10,904), the increase in properties held for 
sale of k€ 10,105 and other receivables and financial as-
sets of k€ 58,368, an increase in non-interest bearing 
liabilities and provisions by k€ 10,933 as well as income 
taxes paid in the amount of k€ 1,672. The change in 
the cash flow from operating activities compared to the 
previous year is mostly due to the increase in receiva-

bles as a result of the purchase price payment which 
is due in February 2015 from the sale of a completed 
project development at the end of 2014.

The cash flow from investing activities in the amount 
of k€ 62 in 2014 (previous year: k€ 2,861) is practically 
balanced and is mostly due to the interest received 
less payments made for the acquisition of property, 
plant and equipment. In the previous year this was 
mostly due to cash acquired as a result of business 
combinations after deduction of the purchase prices in 
the amount of k€ 2,861, purchase price payments for 
minority interests acquired in the amount of k€ 2,855 
and purchase prices received for the sale of investment 
properties in the amount of k€ 1,155.

The cash flow from financing activities is positive and 
totalled k€ 38,999 after k€ -2,910 in the previous year. 
This serves to finance the negative cash flow from 
operating activities. Proceeds from taking out financ-
ing for ongoing construction activities in the amount 
of k€ 96,927 exceeds the redemption of financial debt 
in the amount of k€ 44,675 and interest payments of 
k€ 13,253. The change in the cash flow from financing 
activities compared to the previous year was mostly 
due to the funds acquired by One Group’s ProReal 
Deutschland Fonds 3, which have been included in the 
consolidated financial statements since 2014.

Overall evaluation of ISARIA Wohnbau’s financial 
position and results of operations

In 2014 the positive market growth in the past few 
years was reflected in our consolidated financial 
statements for the first time in the form of higher 
revenues and a substantial increase in operating prof-
itability. The structural activities put in place in the 
previous year ensured that this profitability was also 
included in our earnings after taxes. As a result we 
have been able to further sustainably increase the 
ISARIA Wohnbau Group’s finances and profitability in 
fiscal year 2014. Our net assets have also improved 

again perceptibly thanks to the substantial reinforce-
ment to our equity. The Executive Board believes that 
these are excellent conditions for our company’s fur-
ther growth. 

V. Employees 

ISARIA Wohnbau’s employees are one of the key factors 
for our success. They have a wide range of competences 
and experience, and their performance and dedication 
help our group to grow further.

Development of employee numbers

Our staff increased by 10 employees during the year. 
This included 21 new hires, with 11 employees leaving 
our company. This increase expresses our company’s 
growth to date and also its forecast continued growth. 
We have invested in additional, excellently qualified 
employees in particular for project development/tech-
nology and customer support.

On 31 December 2014 the ISARIA Wohnbau Group had 
60 employees (previous year: 50). Of this total, 19 were 
employed in Munich (previous year: 16) in manage-
ment and administration, 15 (previous year: 10) were 
in project development (technology) and 14 (previous 
year: 8) were in sales, marketing and customer sup-
port. One Group in Hamburg had 12 (previous year: 
16) employees. In addition the ISARIA Wohnbau Group 
also employs freelance employees on a commission 
basis, primarily for sales, customer support and pro-
ject management. ISARIA Wohnbau AG itself had an 
average of 41 (previous year: 29) in 2014.

We have a high proportion of women in our work-
force at (57 %). Women also account for 29 % of our 
managers.

12/31/2014
k€

12/31/2013
k€

Change
k€

Cash 17,003 12,393 4,610

01/01/ – 12/31/2014
k€

01/01/ – 12/31/2013
k€

Change
k€

Cash fl ow from

 operating activities -34,452 679 -35,131

 investing activities 62 2,861 -2,799

 fi nancing activities 38,999 -2,910 41,909

Financial position
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Training and Advancement of employees  
and managers

ISARIA specifically promotes and supports the further 
development of its employees and managers. Training 
activities in this regard are tailored to the individual 
employees’ needs.

ISARIA Wohnbau AG is also socially responsible and 
promotes young employees. Our company also trains 
apprentices. We currently have one apprentice who is 
training as an industrial clerk. In addition we also have 
three employees as student trainees and also as part of 
a trainee program.

I. Risk Management System

As part of its business activities, the ISARIA Wohnbau 
Group is subject to numerous insecurities, changes 
and associated risks. In order to be able to operate 
successfully in this environment and to further devel-
op and reinforce its position as a successful provider of 
attractive residential property, the company has to an-
ticipate possible developments at an early stage and 
systematically identify, assess and manage the result-
ing risks. Recognising and using opportunities is also 
a crucial factor. As a result, a functional opportunity 
and risk management system is a central element in 
value-oriented corporate governance.

In addition to business management requirements, 
a risk management system is also required as a 
 result of regulations and statutory requirements (for 
example Section 91 (2) of the Aktiengesetz (Ger-
man Public Limited Companies Act) and the Bilanz-

rechtsmodernisierungsgesetz (German Accounting 
Law Reform Act)).

The group-wide risk management system covers exter-
nal, strategic, operating, financial and reputation risks 
and opportunities for our fully consolidated entities. 
Risks with similar content are grouped together to form 
risk types, for example risks in the regulatory environ-
ment, financial sector risks, technical risks, or project 
risks. The risk officer then prepares and evaluates these 
risks, and communicates these regularly to the deci-
sion-makers, who mange the risks. The internal control 
system focuses on monitoring and managing the iden-
tified risks. The Executive Board is responsible for this 
system at a group level. The internal control system is 
an integral component of risk management.

Risks are managed as an ongoing process. This process 
is broken down into the following phases: identification, 
assessment, management and reporting (see graphic). 

3. Opportunity and risk report

The continuos process of the risk and opportunity management system
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The system was also constantly further developed and 
updated last year. This is an ongoing management task, 
which is pursued as a top priority.

As part of their statutory audit mandate for the audit 
of the consolidated and single-entity financial state-
ments, the auditors review whether the early risk rec-
ognition system is suitable for identifying risks and 
developments which could endanger the company’s 
continued existence at an early stage. The system 
complies with statutory requirements for an early risk 
recognition system and conforms to the German Cor-
porate Governance Code.

II. Risk assessment and risk containment

Assessment method

In order to ensure that risks are evaluated in a uniform 
manner in the company, and thus to ensure that the 
results are comparable, the risks are evaluated accord-
ing to a fixed scoring system, and then according to pre-
defined criteria which are presented below.

The anticipated value is the product of the possible 
damage and the probability of occurrence. The follow-
ing assessment criteria apply: 

The risk-specific opportunities of risk handling are as-
sessed according to the criteria speed of occurrence, 
predictability and ability to influence the risk. These 
components are set as being “low”, “medium” or “high” 
in each specific case. The overall assessment of the op-
portunities of risk handling is the result of the respec-
tive constellation of the three components in the specific 
case and is set out in a so-called risk handling matrix.

The situational relevance considers the fact that risks 
which are fundamentally recognised and which are gen-
erally present in the current situation can be of greater 
or lesser relevance, depending on the respective cur-
rent environment and the activities which have been 
put in place. As a result, risks which can be managed 
are less relevant than risks which are to be expected to 
occur in full. The situational relevance for one and the 
same risk may change over time.

Risk containment measures

To the extent possible and economically feasible, we 
transfer risks that can be insured to external risk bear-
ers via corresponding insurance policies. This is subject 
to the possible risk extent reaching a level which is rel-
evant for the group or for risks which are otherwise 
required to be bundled and managed at group level to 
protect the group’s interests (opportune reasons/ cost 
optimisation/ risks reduction).

The respective risk owners define other countermeas-
ures for the remaining risks depending on their type 

and characteristics. A large number of activities can be 
used in this regard. The following list includes some 
examples:

• We meet market risks with end-to-end sales control 
and in-depth research.

• We minimise operating risks with a large number of 
activities:
• standardised due diligence when purchasing 

properties and land
• Engaging top quality construction companies/

prime contractors according to pre-defined pro-
cesses when placing orders

• Using internal and external specialists to procure 
building rights

• We manage risks from the political and regulatory 
environment via in-depth, constructive dialogue 
with the authorities.

• We manage litigation-related risks with suitable sup-
port for the proceedings.

III. Relevant opportunities and risks

The following section details all of the material op-
portunities and risks that have been identified for the 
Group and which could impact the net assets, financial 
position and results of operations and/or the reputa-
tion of ISARIA Wohnbau and, via the results of its sub-
sidiaries, the net assets, financial position and results 
of operations of ISARIA Wohnbau AG. If opportunities 
and risks can be clearly allocated to a specific operat-
ing segment, this is subsequently presented.

At present, we have not identified any risks that, taken 
individually or collectively, could endanger our compa-
ny’s continued existence. In order to make it easier to 
understand risks and their impact, we have allocated the 
individually assessed risks to the following categories:

Probability of 
Occurance Description Score

1 > 0 % to 5 % nearly excluded 0.05

2 > 5 % to 20 % unlikely 0.2

3 > 20 % to 60 % possible 0.6

4 > 60 % to 100 % likely 1

level of Potential 
Damage Description Score

1 low 0 – 100 k€ 0.01

2 medium 100 – 1,000 k€ 0.1

3 high more than 1,000 k€ 1

Situational relevance Score

1 low relevance 20

2 relevance below average 40

3 moderate relevance 60

4 relevance above average 80

5 fully relevant 100

risk assessment
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Industry and market-related opportunities and risks
Economic risks

The development of the residential property market 
depends on a wide variety of constantly changing fac-
tors which mutually influence each other and which the 
ISARIA Wohnbau Group cannot influence. These include, 
for example the market level of prices for properties 
and land, the relationship between supply and demand 

for real estate in specific locations and price classes, 
the underlying tax conditions, the development of the 
local labour market, the development of the overall 
economy, and the resulting cyclical fluctuations for the 
residential property market. When taking decisions to 
purchase properties, economic factors are also often in-
terpreted highly subjectively by private players on the 
market. They tend to ignore certain developments or to 

increase these. This is easy to understand, as buying a 
house is generally one of the most important economic 
decisions that a private household will have to take. 
The group can only anticipate economic risks and try to 
control these. If major discrepancies emerge between 
the anticipated figures and the actual demand caused 
by the economy, this could lead to associated risks. The 
most major risks include sales risks as a result of falling 
demand and the associated income risks. If demand in-
creases, there is, in particular a procurement risk when 
acquiring projects and for construction services.

In contrast, a significant recovery in the economic situ-
ation on our markets and the associated further in-
crease in demand can offer the opportunity to increase 
selling prices still further.

Given this market environment, the residential real es-
tate market in the greater Munich region and the other 
so-called A cities (Germany’s seven largest cities) in the 
past few years has been relatively crisis-resistant and is 
characterised by a constant high level of demand. How-
ever, this means that there are frequent bottlenecks 
for highly qualified prime contractors or contract-based 
work when awarding tenders for construction services 
as part of individual projects. High demand for services 
by craftsmen leads to higher prices and problems with 
quality. As a result, in future ISARIA Wohnbau may not 
be able to pass on these higher production costs for its 
projects to its customers via higher prices when selling 
properties, as it has been able to in the past. We try to 
minimise this risk with long-term or partner-like rela-
tionships with construction companies. In particular, we 
meet increasing quality problems with a higher level 
of vertical integration in production when monitoring 
construction by using state-of-the-art IT systems.

Risks from competition, diversification and acquisition

The market for project developers in Germany’s A cities is 
characterized by intense competition and a large number 
of well-established medium-sized and large companies, 

which primarily operate in specific regions, as is the case 
for the ISARIA Wohnbau Group. In addition, the ISARIA 
Wohnbau Group is increasingly faced by competitors 
which operate throughout Germany or internationally, 
and which are increasingly aiming to win residential con-
struction projects in the greater Munich region. In order 
to minimise this risk, the Group already formed its Revi-
talization division in 2008. As a result the risk can also 
be spread over the renovation and conversion of existing 
properties, in particular former office properties, as a sec-
ond product area, in addition to the new construction of 
residential properties.

In view of the unchanged tight situation on the  market 
for land in the greater Munich region, in future the 
ISARIA Wohnbau Group will have to constantly use its 
competence in identifying suitable land and real estate, 
developing these and then acquiring these plots of land 
at suitable conditions. At present, we can ascertain that 
competitors on the Munich market are making specula-
tive purchases, i.e., they are basing their calculations on 
selling prices that are higher than the current prices on 
the market, and that they thus expect the price develop-
ments in the past four years to continue. As a result, in 
2014 the ISARIA Wohnbau Group was overbid by corre-
sponding market players in several auctions with secure 
construction rights.

To date, the ISARIA Wohnbau Group has focused its busi-
ness activities on the greater Munich region. As a result, it 
depends to a great extent on local market developments. 
Residential real estate prices in Munich are already the 
highest in the whole of Germany. In spite of the favour-
able conditions, this fact could restrict the further devel-
opment of the real estate market in the city in future, as it 
may not be possible for average groups of house-buyers 
to pay these prices in future. If demand for residential real 
estate on our core market in Munich develops weakly, it 
could be necessary to expand business activities to in-
clude the surrounding region or other locations. The as-
sociated barriers to market entry and costs could have 

risik category Probabilitiy of  
occurrence

level of potential 
damage

risk level

Industry and market-related risks

Economic risks low medium medium

risks from competition, diversification and acquisition low low low

regulatory Environment please refer to page 80 et seq.

Operational risks

Project risks medium medium medium

Participation risks low low low

Organisational risks low low low

IT risiks low low low

hr risks medium low low

reputational risks

reporting in the media medium low low

Sustainability low low low

legal risiks please refer to page 84 et seq.

Financial risks

Interest rate risks low medium medium

Credit risk low low low

liquidity risiks low high medium

Tax risiks please refer to page 87

Other risiks please refer to page 87

Group‘s risks
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a sustained impact on earnings for the ISARIA Wohnbau 
Group, however they also open up new opportunities.

The strategic decision that was taken in the past fiscal 
year to expand the ISARIA Wohnbau Group’s business ac-
tivities to include Hamburg as a second regional market 
is also reducing the risks discussed above. Households in 
Hamburg have a comparable available spend, and house 
prices there are around one third lower than in Munich. 
In addition, in 2014 the ISARIA Wohnbau Group started to 
identify attractive markets in the Munich region.

Regulatory environment 
ISARIA Wohnbau Group’s real estate business

The ISARIA Wohnbau Group’s business activities de-
pend, to a great extent, on specific legal conditions. 
Turnkey sales of residential units to private individu-
als and the receipt of instalments is an activity which 
acquires a license under German commercial law, and 
is subject, in particular, to the regulations included in 
the Makler- und Bauträgerverordnung (Directive for 
Estate Agents and Construction Companies). There are 
not expected to be any changes to these rules in the 
foreseeable future.

However, other changes to national or European law, or 
changes to court rulings could have a negative impact 
on our business activities. Since the start of the 1990s 
the German real estate market relaxed to a significant 
extent for more than twenty years, and has thus not 
been a key political focus. However, during this period 
the legal and tax situation for real estate investments 
in Germany often deteriorated. Serious changes have 
been made in many areas (depreciation periods, dead-
lines for sale transactions, inheritance tax, land tax, 
“Eigenheimzulage” (grant for home buyers)).

Political discussions concerning the scarcity of residen-
tial real estate in urban conurbations started to heat 
up again in 2012, and various statutory initiatives were 
discussed in this regard.

On 01 October 2014, the German Federal Government 
passed a white paper for the introduction of a statu-
tory cap for rental prices for certain properties. As part 
of this process, when existing properties are re-let the 
new rental price would be capped (so-called rental 
price block). According to the government’s white pa-
per, new properties which are used and rented for the 
first time after 01 October 2014 are not covered by the 
rent cap. This could make new residential properties 
even more attractive for both private and also institu-
tional investors. If the German states issue the associ-
ated legislation for the corresponding areas, this white 
paper could come into force in the first half of 2015.

On the whole, there is an increased risk that various 
activities on all political levels could lead to increased 
regulation of the free construction of residential prop-
erties and on rental prices. However, this could also 
be a positive factor, for example through new subsidy 
programs for residential property ownership.

In general, higher statutory requirements for energy 
efficiency could also cause construction costs to in-
crease significantly. The statutory requirements for 
energy efficiency in the current EnEV 2014 (German 
Directive for Energy Efficiency) include moderate in-
creases in requirements for new property and are al-
ready included in our calculations.

ISARIA Wohnbau group can only anticipate these risks 
and try to control these. As these are statutory regu-
lations that apply equally to all market participants, 
the Group thus does not believe that it is subject to a 
particular risk in this regard.

One Group fund business

In Germany, initiating, managing and administering 
closed-end funds are regulated in a variety of ways.

The Kapitalanlagegesetzbuch (KAGB – German  Capital 
Investment Code) came into force in Germany on 

22 July 2013 for the national implementation of the Al-
ternative Investment Fund Manager (AIFM) policy. Ac-
cording to the KAGB, closed-end funds for which units 
are newly issued after 22 July 2013, have to be issued, 
sold and managed by a Kapitalverwaltungsgesellschaft 
(KVG - Capital Management Company). There are various 
requirements for KVGs with regard to their equity fund-
ing, the form and structure of their risk management 
and control system and ensuring end-to-end reporting. 
KVGs must be licensed by the German Financial Services 
Supervisory Authority (BaFin). Additional regulations in 
the KAGB also impact the future product design; for ex-
ample investments have to comply with the principle 
of risk diversification. In future, investment conditions 
have to be presented for each closed-end fund. These 
have to describe the investment strategy and limit its 
content. BaFin must approve the investment conditions. 
A sales license has been newly introduced. This has to 
be obtained from BaFin prior to the start of sales for 
the closed-end fund. As part of the issue of this sales li-
cense, BaFin will also review the prospectus which also 
has to be presented for publicly-offered funds.

One Group is a member of the Bundesverband Sachw-
erte und Investmentvermögen e.V. (bsi) and in future it 
will offer regulated AIF products. It is already equipped 
to deal with these amended statutory conditions. Pro-
Real Deutschland Fonds 2 and ProReal Deutschland 
Fonds 3 have already been fully placed and are covered 
by the transitional regulations in the AIFM Policy and 
the KAGB, and are thus not affected by the new regula-
tory requirements.

Operating risks
Project risks and project opportunities

As a traditional project developer for residential real 
estate, the ISARIA Wohnbau Group does not keep its 
properties in its portfolio permanently, but often sells 
the residential units to customers already during the 
construction phase. As a result, in its New Construction 
and Revitalisation segments, the Group relies on con-

stantly receiving new planning permission required 
for its projects. If this permission under public law is 
not granted, not granted on time, or only subject to 
material conditions or incidental provisions, this can 
preclude the planned construction and development, 
negatively impact or delay it, reduce the value of the 
land, push up the construction costs, and have a mate-
rial impact on marketing. This risk from the procure-
ment of building rights is met via many years’ experi-
ence in project planning.

Business activities are subject to fluctuations, which 
are mostly characterized by the respective current 
stage of construction for the respective multi-year 
project. The conclusion of notarised contracts for 
residential properties, which is reflected in the ISARIA 
Wohnbau Group’s so-called notarised sales, must thus 
be distinguished from the recognition of revenues as 
income in the income statement. Revenues are recog-
nised when the special ownership is accepted by the 
purchaser of the property, and when it is (or the keys 
are) handed over to him. ISARIA Wohnbau minimises 
this risk in that the projects in its portfolio are at dif-
ferent stages of construction.

Outdoor construction activities are subject to weather 
conditions. As a result, a cold, hard winter or an in-
crease in the level of ground water after extended pe-
riods of rain can lead to delays in the construction pro-
gress, and thus to a loss of revenues. It is only possible 
to compensate for this in the following periods with 
a great deal of effort and additional expenses. Any 
such weather-related effects could lead to a substan-
tial downturn in earnings. It is only possible to reduce 
this to a very limited extent with countermeasures, 
such as corresponding scheduling while considering 
the winter period.

Sales of residential units that are not in line with fore-
casts, as well as disruptions to construction progress, 
in particular preparatory and construction activities 
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claims being made against it as a result of contaminat-
ed sites or other ground risks, and also due to hazard-
ous materials in buildings. The ISARIA Wohnbau Group 
aims to reduce the risks of contaminated sites or other 
land risks with corresponding contractual regulations 
and by obtaining expert opinions prior to purchasing 
a property.

The ISARIA Wohnbau Group forms provisions for antici-
pated litigation in connection with existing properties. 
These relate, in particular, to provisions for warranties 
in the amount of around € 3.1 million (previous year: 
€ 2.4 million) and provisions for litigation in connec-
tion with possible follow-on costs in the amount of 
around € 2.3 million (previous year: € 1.5 million).

Participation risks

The individual construction projects are executed by 
special purpose entities in order to minimize risks. 
This results in a participation risk for companies for 
which no control is exercised. Central controlling for 
participating interests monitors the development of 
the participating interests and thus recognizes risks in 
good time. As part of participation controlling, peri-
odic checks for target/actual figures are performed for 
the respective special purpose entities for all costs, 
and the level of sales and income is also constantly 
monitored. All of the employees involved in project 
development are employed by ISARIA Wohnbau AG, 
and control the participations from there.

Organisational risks

The internal organisational structures within ISARIA 
Wohnbau Group, in particular risk management and 
the compliance system have to be further developed 
on an ongoing basis. The acquisition of the participat-
ing interest in One Group GmbH means that the group 
has substantially expanded its business activities 
and the number of its employees in a very short pe-
riod. One Group was been successfully integrated into 
ISARIA Wohnbau’s group structure in 2014. Ensuring 

the development and advancement of suitable organi-
sational, risk monitoring and risk management struc-
tures that keep place with the planned further growth 
and which allow rto recognise incorrect developments, 
incorrect behaviour and risks to be recognised at an 
early stage is, however, a constant challenge for the 
ISARIA Wohnbau Group.

 IT risks

The bulk of our business processes are supported by 
high-performance, state-of-the-art IT solutions. In 
most cases, standard, well-known software is used 
in order to map our processes with a high degree of 
reliability. The material IT components for forecasting 
and accounting and the management of our real estate 
properties are run on our own IT system. This system 
is serviced by a competent service provider. The avail-
ability of data and protection against unauthorized ac-
cess is ensured by using state-of-the-art hardware and 
software technology. All of the relevant data is backed 
up on a regular basis. There are corresponding emer-
gency plans and scenarios for any unexpected IT sys-
tem downtime. However, if any such downtime should 
result in spite of this, this could temporarily restrict our 
performance and cause costs to increase as a result of 
the requisite replacement activities.

HR risks

Competition for highly qualified specialists and execu-
tives continues to be high. The success of the ISARIA 
Wohnbau Group depends, to a substantial extent, on 
the extent to which the Group succeeds in hiring cor-
responding employees, integrating them and ensuring 
their long-term loyalty. Employees’ knowledge and 
abilities are also key factors influencing the positive 
growth of ISARIA Wohnbau. Hiring qualified employ-
ees and ensuring their long-term loyalty to the Group 
will also be of central importance in future. As a result, 
particular attention is paid to succession planning, em-
ployee motivation and fluctuation. ISARIA Wohnbau is 
geared to the capital markets, and is particularly attrac-

that take longer than planned, and other erroneous 
developments when executing projects could lead to 
significantly higher costs.

ISARIA Wohnbau group is a project developer for top-
quality residential real estate, and as such it must 
realise its construction and revitalisation projects 
within the planned timeframe and at the calculated 
cost. Upholding the forecast timetable, costs and 
sales plan depends on a large number of uncertain-
ties and other factors. If unforeseen difficulties arise 
during the construction or revitalisation phase, such 
as the bankruptcy of a prime or sub-contractor, ma-
jor deficiencies in these companies’ performance, or 
restrictions on the construction sites, this may result 
in substantial delays in the project’s timing and ad-
ditional costs that cannot be calculated. Similar risks 
may arise for the development of existing proper-
ties. In addition, there is also the risk that the ISARIA 
Wohnbau Group’s products may not be fully accepted 
by the market, that planned standards are not met, 
and that there are thus vacancies or that the purchaser 
insists on changes, for example because one of ISARIA 
Wohnbau Group’s properties was not accurately calcu-
lated with the result that the projected selling price for 
the residential units is not reached, not fully reached, 
or cannot be reached immediately. This may lead to 
changes to planning and implementation being re-
quired during construction or revitalisation, or it may 
also make new legal permits necessary, which in turn 
leads to substantially higher costs and delays in the 
timetable. In order to meet these risks, large numbers 
of the units are already sold during the planning phase 
before construction work starts or in an early phase 
of construction. This is possible because there is cur-
rently excess demand for affordable, top quality newly 
built properties in Munich, and because the company 
can offer corresponding, attractive products.

Project development business is linked to invest-
ments, which are normally financed to a significant 

extent using borrowing. If banks were to heighten 
their credit conditions in future, or if interest rates 
rise significantly, this would have a negative impact 
on business activities. In addition, conditions on the 
capital market are a particular challenge for project 
development activities. Future project financing con-
ditions will have a decisive impact on if and whether 
new projects can be realized.

In fiscal year 2008 the Revitalisation segment was ex-
panded with the acquisition of office properties which 
are suitable for conversion to residential properties. 
This thus reduced dependency on new construction. 
The Group believes that this diversification of its busi-
ness model offers a competitive advantage. As a re-
sult, it will continue to grow the Revitalization division 
in future, in particular with the APP.ARTMENTS brand.

Low returns in other forms of investment offer oppor-
tunities for real estate as an interesting investment 
opportunity. After the financial crisis, major investors 
are having increased need for secure investments. 
In the case of residential construction projects, gross 
initial returns of approx. 4 % can be realized in the 
greater Munich region, which is an attractive return for 
investors in view of the low interest rates combined 
with the sustained opportunities for increases in value 
for the apartments. However, the prices which can cur-
rently be obtained from individual sales, and also the 
pace of sales, are so attractive that global purchasers 
can hardly compete. The company has not sold any 
properties globally to an investor since 2012.

In real estate project business, construction damage or 
building defects could result in damage compensation 
claims from buyers. In this case, the ISARIA Wohnbau 
Group bears the risk of default if, in turn, it has no 
recourse. The ISARIA Wohnbau Group minimises this 
risk by demanding and receiving warranty guarantees 
from the prime contractors it engages. In addition, 
the ISARIA Wohnbau Group generally bears the risk of 
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damages as he believed that he had been incorrectly 
informed during the IPO in November 2010 as a result 
of the figures from the 2009 financial statements in-
cluded in the securities offering prospectus. The share-
holder already initiated conciliation proceedings in 2013 
against the company and other defendants for purport-
ed damages of € 6 million. Here too, settlement talks 
were being held on 31 December 2014 with regard to an 
out-of-court settlement. If the settlement negotiations 
with the shareholder should fail, it is probable that the 
shareholder will also sue the company. However, con-
sidering even if the greatest possible damage from the 
IPO, the company’s continued existence is not at risk 
any more. In practical terms, the company is convinced 
that the risk is almost completely eradicated as a re-
sult of substantial doubts concerning the acceptability 
and lawfulness of the claims, rights of regress against 
other participants, the value of the shares which has 
now increased significantly and the ongoing settlement 
negotiations.

Additional claims from the IPO have not been asserted 
and the statutory prospectus liability claims became 
time-barred at the latest at the end of 2013.

Compliance

In order to further limit the risk of violations of existing 
regulations, acts of law and policies, an independent 
compliance management system is currently being set 
up. An external firm of consultants is supporting us in 
this regard.

No donations were made to parties, politicians and 
associated institutions (neither cash or non-cash do-
nations).

The company has appointed a data protection officer 
who reports regularly to the Executive Board. During 
the past fiscal year we did not become aware of any 
violations of the provisions of the German Data Pro-
tection Act.

At present and previously there are no proceedings 
against the company, its executive bodies or any of its 
subsidiaries as a result of anti-competitive behaviour or 
the formation of cartels or monopolies. In addition, no 
penalties have been imposed as a result of violations of 
other acts of law or regulations.

Financial risks

The ISARIA Wohnbau Group is exposed to various finan-
cial risks as a result of its business activities. These also 
include, in particular, the risk of changes to liquidity 
or interest rates as well as the risk of business part-
ners defaulting on payments. The Group’s financial risk 
management aims to limit these risks as a result of the 
ongoing operating and financially oriented activities. 
This includes an ongoing, detailed liquidity forecast as 
well as the use of simulations while using worst case 
scenarios.

Interest opportunities and risks

Some contracts include a variable interest rate, which 
is adjusted regularly to current interest rate develop-
ments. Risks from changes to interest rates result from 
fluctuations in interest rates caused by the  market. An 
increase in the general level of interest rates could 
 increase the Group’s financing costs in future or make 
it more difficult to obtain financing in future. In addi-
tion, a higher level of interest rates could also result 
in a deterioration in demand for residential real estate 
and thus the possibilities to sell this, as purchasers 
generally finance at least part of the purchase price 
using borrowing, and if financing costs are higher they 
could put off purchasing a property, elect to buy a less 
expensive property, or even not buy a property at all 
and use an alternative investment. As a result, an 
increase in interest rates could thus have a negative 
impact on the ISARIA Wohnbau Group’s financial posi-
tion and results of operations. In contrast, a downturn 
in interest rates could provide a further boost to de-
mand for residential real estate and also reduce own 
interest costs, and thus have a positive impact on the 

tive for highly qualified employees in a non-transparent 
competitive environment. ISARIA Wohnbau is currently 
in a growth phase in which acquiring new employees is 
particularly important. If the company does not succeed 
in acquiring new specialists and executives to the req-
uisite extent and with the necessary qualifications this 
could endanger the company’s forecast growth. How-
ever, in 2014 the company succeeded in hiring 21 new 
employees, or more than 50 % of the starting number 
of employees.

Reputation risk
Negative media reports

Unforeseeable negative media reports about our prod-
ucts and service or our entrepreneurial activities and 
responsibility could have a major impact on our com-
pany’s reputation, our standing and the image of our 
products. The Internet and social networks mean that 
the dissemination of any such information or opinions 
could be even faster than was the case just a few 
years ago.

A negative report could impact revenues and thus our 
earnings. In order to avoid negative reports, we con-
stantly seek in-depth, constructive dialogue – in par-
ticular with our customers, the media and the world 
of finance. Satisfying our stakeholders is a top priority.

Sustainability

Considering the risks and opportunities offered by 
Corporate Responsibility forms part of the extensive 
management of opportunities and risks for the ISARIA 
Wohnbau Group. In this regard, ISARIA Wohnbau AG 
also started a project to systematically record sustain-
ability topics within the group during the last fiscal 
year. We do report for the first time on the initiatives 
that ISARIA Wohnbau Group has already put in place in 
this regard in a separate chapter of this management 
report.

Legal Risks
ISARIA Wohnbau is a party to court and out-of-court 
proceedings with the authorities, customers, resi-
dential real estate owners’ associations, construction 
companies, neighbours and other participants. Project 
development business tends to be subject to disputes 
as this regularly deals with large amounts and one-off 
business relationships. The company works together 
with a large number of law firms, and uses its con-
tracts and a high level of transparency and quality 
to attempt to avoid future disputes. As a result of its 
particular importance, the following issue is presented 
separately.

Legal preparation of specific events prior  
to the IPO in 2010

During the course of the period under review, the com-
pany sued its former CEO Josef Kastenberger for damag-
es in the amount of around € 3.3 million. The outcome 
of this suit is still open. It relates to various criminal 
actions prior to 2008 when he was the sole managing 
partner of ISARIA Wohnbau AG’s predecessor company. 
As a result of these issues, suit was filed against Mr. 
Kastenberger, and he was sentenced as a result of dis-
loyalty in two cases in 2013. Our claims are generally 
also filed against other parties involved as joint and 
several debtors. From the company’s perspective this 
complex does result in risks in the form of the costs of 
pursuing legal action, however it also brings substantial 
possibilities for the payment of damage compensation, 
however this will not have a material impact on future 
business results.

The company has also sued its former auditor for dam-
ages. This auditor audited the annual financial state-
ments up to 2009. The 2009 financial statements had to 
be extensively corrected with the following 2010 finan-
cial statements. On 31 December 2014 this process had 
reached the stage of promising discussions surrounding 
a settlement. One shareholder has also sued the audi-
tor (and former members of the Executive Board) for 
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regard are in the general developments on the market 
and in interest rates.

The key liquidity outflows are in the ISARIA Wohnbau 
Group’s ongoing liabilities, the financing costs, the 
scheduled disbursements to the limited partners of 
ProReal Deutschland Fonds and the scheduled repay-
ment of the mezzanine capital as well as the 2014/2015 
corporate bond in the amount of € 10.0 million. Liquid-
ity inflows include, in particular, acquired funds from 
One Group (ProReal Deutschland Fonds series), the pur-
chase price payment from the sale of a project develop-
ment which had been completed in the amount of € 
51.5 million and the planned hand overs by the special 
purpose entities. In order to finance further (property) 
acquisitions, issuing a new corporate bond could also 
be considered.

It was possible to repay or extend all of the bonds and 
loans due in 2014.

Tax risks

Material tax risks could result from changes to the lo-
cal tax laws or legislation and different interpretations 
of existing regulations as part of ongoing or future 
external tax audits. At present, out-of-court redress 
proceedings are being held with regard to audit find-
ings for previous years, which bear a tax risk of around 
€ 1.3 million (previous year around € 1.3 million). No 
provisions have been formed in this regard as it is 
not expected that these will be used. Suspension of 
execution has been granted. At the same time, the 
outcome of this suit is still open.

Other risks

In addition to the risks already described, there are 
general factors which are difficult to predict or which 
cannot be predicted at all, and which are thus practi-
cally impossible to influence. These risks include un-
foreseen political changes, civic unrest, major natural 
catastrophes or terrorist attacks. These do not form part 

of our risk management system. Such developments 
could have a direct and indirect impact on the ISARIA 
Wohnbau Group’s business in future. 

IV. Overall assessment by management on 
opportunities and risks

The assessment of the overall risk position results 
from a consolidated observation of all of the key risk 
areas and individual risks. The overall risk situation 
has improved again in 2014 compared to the previous 
year. In the ISARIA Wohnbau Group’s view, at present 
and based on the assumptions made, there are no 
further risks which could endanger the company’s 
continued existence, neither from the past nor from 
developments which can currently be foreseen. The 
ISARIA Wohnbau Group is currently able, and will also 
be able in future, to grow profitably on the market for 
residential property development and to use the op-
portunities and challenges which present themselves, 
without having to enter into disproportionately high 
risks.

V. Key features of the accounting-related 
internal control system

ISARIA Wohnbau AG’s accounting-related internal con-
trol system serves to minimise risks as part of finan-
cial reporting and to avoid incorrect disclosures in the 
annual and interim reports which could have a mate-
rial impact on decisions taken by the addressees for 
this information. The internal control system aims to 
identify possible sources of error and to limit risks in 
the ISARIA Wohnbau Group’s reporting. The structure 
of the accounting-related internal control system is 
closely linked to the internal accounting and financial 
reporting processes and the existing structures to con-
trol the business and central areas. This means that 
there is sufficient security for the preparation of the 
quarterly, annual and consolidated financial state-
ments in line with statutory requirements.

ISARIA Wohnbau Group’s net assets, financial position 
and results of operations. However, as the majority of 
financing agreements include fixed interest rates, the 
Group does not use derivative financial instruments, 
for example to hedge against interest rate risks.

One Group depends on the future growth in demand 
for closed-end alternative investment funds (AIF) and 
the economic attractiveness of the AIF that it sells. 
Placement success also depends on the success of the 
projects that One Group is invested in, and also their 
market communication. A downturn in the ability to 
place One Group’s products could lead to increased 
financing expenses and restrictions on ISARIA Wohn-
bau’s growth. In contrast, if placeability increases, this 
could reduce financing expenses and lead to further 
opportunities for the ISARIA Wohnbau Group’s growth.

 Payment default risk

The Group provides for the risk of payment defaults 
with corresponding management of open items and 
by forming valuation allowances. These risks are re-
corded and reported by corresponding reporting units 
in the ISARIA Wohnbau Group. The company’s debtors 
mostly include a large number of private purchasers of 
residential real estate, who verify their financing when 
purchasing a property.

Liquidity Risk

A further financial risk for ISARIA Wohnbau Group is 
the fact that real estate project development is capital 
intensive. To date it has used a wide variety of forms 
of financing. Part of the capital required for developing 
the respective projects is provided by loans from banks. 
In addition, to a larger extent, alternative financing 
instruments (so-called mezzanine financing) has been 
concluded with additional investors in order to be able 
to verify the requisite equity to the banks or to fully 
finance the projects in this manner for a temporary pe-
riod. Remuneration takes the form of interest payments 
or the disbursement of fixed, non-repayable advance 

profits from the respective projects. As a result of the 
risk profile, remuneration for these funds is higher than 
interest on loans with first-ranking collateral.

In industry-specific terms, construction contract financ-
ing is generally only issued with short terms within the 
one-year range, although project developments and 
construction activities often take a substantially longer 
time. As a result, it is often necessary to prolong financ-
ing while an activity is taking place. The lenders decide 
to prolong loans based on factors including trust in the 
construction company and the projects being devel-
oped. In addition, the general situation on the market 
and the forecast developments also play a role when 
loans are prolonged. Our risk fell perceptibly in this area 
during the past fiscal year, as can be seen by the new 
bank financing successfully concluded in 2014.

The ISARIA Wohnbau Group now has its own financing 
platform as a result of the acquisition of One Group at 
the end of 2013. This means a substantial reduction in 
financial risks in many respects. It has allowed vari-
ous complex financial instruments to be replaced by 
a uniform structure. Inflows are now reliable and can 
be calculated. Costs are also substantially lower than 
for the previous loans in several cases. The Company 
believes that the funds already available via this plat-
form, together with the acquisition of additional fund-
ing in 2015 via the conclusion of a further closed-end 
AIF will enable the pending loan extensions and pro-
ject developments to be fully financed, and that the 
general level of liquidity will thus be secured. The cur-
rent liquidity forecast is only for bonds in the amount 
of around € 5.3 million to be prolonged. The Company 
plans to fully repay/reschedule the mezzanine financ-
ing with its high interest rates in the amount of up to € 
25.3 million. The funds taken out from One Group will 
have to be partially repaid to the investors at the latest 
by 2017. The liquidity forecast includes acquiring new 
revolving funds and thus keeping project financing at 
a certain level over the long term. The risks in this 
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The parts of the internal control system that are rel-
evant for financial reporting, including the IT system, 
are audited regarding their effectiveness by the auditor 
as part of a risk-oriented audit approach. The auditor 
informs the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board 
of any weaknesses and opportunities for improvement.

The ISARIA Wohnbau Group’s accounting is centrally or-
ganised. The annual financial statements for all of the 
major group companies are prepared by the group’s 
own employees in the headquarters in Munich. This 
only does not include the ongoing bookkeeping and the 
financial statements for the One Group fund companies. 
These are prepared by an external firm of auditors. In 
the event that parts of the accounting, such as payroll 
accounting, are sub-contracted to external service pro-
viders, ISARIA Wohnbau bears the final responsibility 
for its financial accounting.

In detail, the accounting process for the 2014 annual 
and consolidated financial statements was as follows: 
The annual financial statements prepared according to 
the German commercial code were prepared internally 
by the accounting department of ISARIA Wohnbau AG 
using the central DATEV accounting software. Taxes 
are then calculated by a firm of tax advisers. An ex-
ternal, independent surveyor identifies the fair values 

of our investment properties. The HGB annual financial 
statements form the foundations for inclusion in the 
database-based consolidation system “LucaNet”. All of 
the adjustment bookings and consolidation activities 
for preparation of the IFRS consolidated financial state-
ments are mapped in this system. The IFRS consolidated 
financial statements are audited by the auditor for the 
financial statements. As part of this audit of the con-
solidated financial statements, the financial statements 
of the subsidiaries included were checked to ensure 
that these are correct. The annual financial statements 
(HGB) of ISARIA Wohnbau AG and its subsidiaries, for 
which there is a statutory auditing requirement, were 
subject to an independent audit.

4. Information according to Section 315 (4) of the HGB

Composition of subscribed capital

On 31 December 2014 ISARIA Wohnbau AG’s share 
capital totalled k€ 23,764 and comprised 23,764,000 
no-par value shares. Each share grants the holder one 
vote at the General Meeting.

Restrictions which relate to the voting rights or 
transfer of shares

The Executive Board is not aware of the existence of 
restrictions within the meaning of Section 289 (4) No. 2 
of the HGB due to agreements between the Company 
and shareholders or due to agreements between share-
holders with regard to voting rights or the transfer of 
shares of the Company.

Participating interests exceeding 10 %  
of voting rights

As far as the Company was aware, on 31 December 
2014 there were participating interests in the capital of 
 ISARIA Wohnbau AG in excess of 10 % of voting rights 
held Helvetic Private Investments AG with 10.05 %. 
There are no shares with extraordinary rights that grant 
the holders controlling powers. In addition, there is no 
type of control of voting rights by shareholders who 
hold a participating interest in the capital and who do 
not directly exercise their control rights.

Statutory regulations and provisions in the articles 
of association on the appointment and dismissal of 
members of the Executive Board and changes to 
the articles of association

Members of the Executive Board are appointed and dis-
missed in accordance with Sections 84 and 85 of the AktG. 
There are no extraordinary regulations in the Company’s 
articles of association. Appointments and dismissals are 
at the sole discretion of the Supervisory Board of ISARIA 
Wohnbau AG. Repeat appointments or extensions to peri-
ods of office for members of the Executive Board are per-
mitted. According to Article 5 of the articles of association, 
the Executive Board can comprise two or more persons; 
the Supervisory Board takes the decision in this regard.

Changes to the articles of incorporation are based on 
Sections 179 and 133 of the AktG and the rules of the 
articles of incorporation. All changes to the articles of 
incorporation must be passed by the General Meeting. 
However, according to Item 11 No. 4 of the articles of 
incorporation the company’s Supervisory Board may 
resolve changes to the articles of incorporation which 
only affect its wording. In line with Section 179 (2) 
Sentence 2 of the AktG, Item 17 No. 3 of the articles 
of incorporation stipulates that a resolution by the 
General Meeting to change the articles of incorpora-
tion must, as a rule, be passed with a simple majority 
of votes cast and the share capital represented when 
the resolution is passed – if there are no mandatory 
statutory regulations to the contrary. The law requires 
a larger capital majority of three quarters of the share 
capital represented when the resolution is passed 
at several junctures. It is required, for example, for 
specific capitalization activities and the exclusion of 
subscription rights.

Authorisations for the Executive Board to issue or 
buy back shares

On the balance sheet date, by way of the resolution 
dated 23 May 2014, the Executive Board is authorised to 
increase the company’s share capital, with the approval 
of the Supervisory Board, through to 22 May 2019 on 
one or several occasions by up to a total of k€ 11,882. 
This will be performed by issuing up to 11,882,000 new 
bearer shares against cash and/or non-cash contribu-
tions. As a rule, the new shares must be offered to 
shareholders for subscription. The Executive Board is 
authorized, with the approval of the Supervisory Board, 
to exclude shareholders’ statutory subscription rights in 
one or several specific cases.

In addition, the Company’s share capital has been con-
ditionally increased by way of a resolution by the Gen-
eral Meeting on 23 March 2012 by up to k€ 10,382. The 
Executive Board is authorized, with the approval of the 
Supervisory Board, to issue bearer convertible bonds or 
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bonds with warrants or a combination of these instru-
ments up to 22 March 2017, with a total amount of up to 
k€ 100,000 with or without a limited term, for a total of 
up to 10,382,000 bearer shares of ISARIA Wohnbau AG 
(Conditional Capital 2012).

Agreements in the event of a change of  
control of the company

If the ownership situation for ISARIA Wohnbau AG 
changes such that a private individual or legal en-
tity or group of persons controls ISARIA Wohnbau AG 
within the meaning of Section 17 of the AktG (change 
of  control), Mr. Christian Dunkelberg and Mr. Michael 
Haupt have the right to terminate their employment 
agreements within eight weeks of becoming aware of 
this circumstance with notice of two weeks to the end 
of the month, and as compensation for the loss of their 
jobs they will receive compensation of 80 % of the re-
muneration, but a maximum of two years of compensa-
tion, which no longer resulted and was paid as a result 
of the premature end of their positions as member of 
the Executive Board.

On 31 December 2014 there were credit agreements in 
the ISARIA Wohnbau Group which require the banks’ ap-
proval for changes to the group of shareholders or which 
result in the loans becoming due. On 31 December 2014 
this was the case for a loan agreement for ISARIA GmbH 
& Co. Objekt Metropolis KG in the amount of around 
€ 15.0 million and a loan agreement for ISARIA Wohnbau 
Objekt Am Münchfeld GmbH for around € 14.5 million.

While the loan agreement for ISARIA GmbH & Co. Objekt 
Metropolis KG includes this right if ISARIA’s interest falls 
below 75 %, the agreement with ISARIA Wohnbau Ob-
jekt am Münchfeld GmbH states that a change of more 
than 50 % of voting rights in the borrower is a condition 
for the bank asserting its rights.

In addition, ISARIA Wohnbau AG has not concluded any 
key agreements for the parent company that are sub-
ject to the condition of a change in control as a result 
of an acquisition offer or a corresponding compensation 
agreement with the members of the Executive Board 
or employees.

The Declaration on Corporate Governance required 
according to Section 289a of the HGB is published on 
ISARIA Wohnbau AG’s Web Site (www.isaria.ag) in the 
Investor Relations section. This is permanently acces-
sible there.

5. Corporate governance report
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Remuneration for the Supervisory Board
Remuneration for members of the Supervisory Board 
is governed by the Articles of Incorporation. It is based 
on the company’s size and the responsibility and scope 
of activities of the members of the Supervisory Board. 
The members receive fixed remuneration, set by the 
General Meeting, plus reimbursement of their out-of-
pocket expenses. The General Meeting re-regulated 
remuneration on March 23, 2012. Accordingly, members 

of the Supervisory Board also receive a meeting fee in 
addition to their fixed annual remuneration. The mem-
bers of the Supervisory Board did not receive any loans 
or advances from ISARIA Wohnbau AG.

Additional details on the remuneration for the Executive 
and Supervisory Boards, in particular on the amount of 
remuneration for the past fiscal year, can be found in 
the notes.

Income

michael haupt Christian Dunkelberg Jan von lewinski
Spokesman of the Executive Board (CEO) member of the Executive Board (CIO) member of the Executive Board (COO)

k€

 Joined: 02/01/2012 Joined: 12/15/2010  Joined: 01/01/2014
2013 2014 2014 

(min)

2014 
(max)

2013 2014 2014 
(min)

2014 
(max)

2013 2014 2014 
(min)

2014 
(max)

Fixed remuneration 248 330 330 330 248 330 330 330 0 300 300 300

Fringe benefits 36 17 17 17 14 14 14 14 0 15 15 15

Total 284 347 347 347 262 344 344 344 0 315 315 315

Single-year variable 
remuneration 100 314 0 330 100 314 0 330 0 290 0 300

multi-year variable 
remuneration 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 100 314 0 330 100 314 0 330 0 290 0 300

Pension-related 
expenses 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total remuneration 384 661 347 677 362 658 344 674 0 605 315 615

Inflow
michael haupt Christian Dunkelberg Jan von lewinski

Spokesman of the Executive Board (CEO) member of the Executive Board (CIO) member of the Executive Board (COO)

k€
 Joined: 02/01/2012 Joined: 12/15/2010 Joined: 01/01/2014

2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013

Fixed remuneration 330 248 330 248 300 0

Incidential payments 17 36 14 14 15 0

Total 347 284 344 262 315 0

Single-year variable  
remuneration 150 50 150 130 50 0

multi-year variable  
remuneration 0 0 0 0 0 0

Other 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 150 50 150 130 50 0

Pension-related expenses 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total remuneration 497 334 494 392 365 0

6. Remuneration Report

Remuneration system for the Executive Board

The remuneration system for ISARIA Wohnbau AG’s 
Executive Board is geared to creating an incentive 
for successfully growing and managing the company, 
gearing it to long-term values. The Supervisory Board 
defines the Executive Board’s remuneration. When 
defining the remuneration for members of the Ex-
ecutive Board, the size and orientation, the economic 
position, the success and the future perspectives for 
the company are considered from the perspective of 
their suitability, as well as the reasonable nature of 
the remuneration considering the peer group and the 
remuneration structure which applies in the rest of 
the company. In addition, the tasks for and contribu-
tions made by the respective member of the Executive 
Board for the company’s success, their individual per-
formance and the performance of the Executive Board 
as a whole are considered when setting remuneration 
for the Executive Board. Particular performance is to 
be reasonably honoured, failing to meet targets leads 
to a reduction in total remuneration. This aims to en-
sure that the remuneration is reasonable.

Components of the Executive Board’s remuneration

Total remuneration for the members of the Executive 
Board comprises fixed salary payments and inciden-
tal payments as well as a variable component which 
should not exceed the fixed annual remuneration 
without good cause.

The basic annual salary is based on the tasks and re-
sponsibilities of the respective member of the Execu-
tive Board. It is paid in twelve equal monthly instal-
ments and remains constant during the term of the 
employment agreement for a period of three years.

The Supervisory Board set criteria for the variable 
remuneration in 2014. These are linked to various 
milestones and company targets for fiscal year 2014. 
Slightly less than half of these criteria are linked to 
concrete financial indicators, the remainder are linked 

to targets which aim to ensure the company’s medium 
to long term success. With regard to 2015, the Supervi-
sory Board has resolved a structure in which the vari-
able remuneration is linked to profitability indicators 
and also the implementation of projects with a long-
term strategic importance for the individual positions 
on the Executive Board.

None of the remuneration components comprise stock 
options or comparable structures, and this is also not 
planned.

Incidental payments and other commitments

The members of the Executive Board receive inci-
dental payments of a minor amount. They pay taxes 
on these payments individually if required. These 
mostly comprise costs, for example for the cash value 
of non-cash payments and other incidental benefits 
such as the provision of a company car. They do not 
receive any additional payments for taking on posi-
tions in group companies. The members of the Execu-
tive Board did not receive any loans or advances from 
ISARIA Wohnbau AG.

Pension commitments

The employment agreements with the members of the 
Executive Board do not include any pension entitlements.

Commitments in the event of a premature end to 
activities as a member of the Executive Board

The employment agreements with the Board members 
Mr. Haupt and Mr. Dunkelberg include an extraordinary 
right to cancel the agreement in the event of a change 
of control. If this extraordinary cancellation right is 
used, the company will pay the Board member com-
pensation in the amount of 80 % of the remuneration 
which no longer arises and is due for payment for the 
period between the date of the premature end to the 
contract and the date on which the contract was sched-
uled to end. The compensation for these Board mem-
bers totals, at most, two outstanding annual salaries.

Total remuneration for the Executive Board
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The forecast reported in the consolidated financial 
statements for 2013 regarding the course of business in 
2014 included statements on the amount of revenues, 
the development of financing costs, operating earnings 
for the One Group sub-group, and consolidated earn-
ings after taxes. The degree to which targets have been 
reached for the individual financial indicators is shown 
in the table “Comparison of Group’s Expectations with 
actual figures”.

The following statements on the future course of busi-
ness and the factors which are regarded as having a 
relevant influence in this regard (market, industry and 
company) are based on the Executive Board’s esti-
mates. As a rule, forecasts run the risk that this growth 
does not occur - in terms of its direction and also its 
extent. The material risks are discussed in the report on 
opportunities and risks.

8. Forecast

Key Financial Figure Actual 2013 Expectations 2014 Actual 2014 reasons for deviations

Sales revenue € 37.7 million € 100 million € 160 million unplanned sale of property following 
completion of the project development phase

Gross profit 34 % no forecast made 27 %

EBIT € 3.0 million no forecast  
made

€ 21.6 million

Financial expenses € -13.2 million +20 – 25 % € -15.6 million/ 
+18.2 %

due to further improved conditions increase 
lower than expected despite increase in 
financing volume

operating result of segment One 
Group (EBT*)

–** slightly positive 
result

€ 0.1 million

result after taxes € 1.1 million mid-single-digit 
millions

€ 9.3 million due to the unplanned sale of property 
following completion of the project 
development phase 

Notarised sales € 111 million no forecast made € 127 million including sale of development property

Orders on hand € 113 million no forecast made € 84 million

Cash inflow One Group Fonds € 43.4 million no forecast made € 57.6 million

Comparison of Group‘s expectations with actual figures

*  before amortisation of intangible assets from the puchase price allocation
**  in 2013 not yet consolidated

On 16 February 2015 the corporate bond 2014/2015 was re-
paid on schedule in the amount of € 10.0 million.

In addition, in February we also received the term sheet 
from a bank to finance the project in Kapstadtring in Ham-
burg with a volume of up to € 16.9 million.

Apart from this, on the date that the group management 
report was prepared, the company was not aware of any 
material events that occurred after the balance sheet date 
and which have a material impact on the group’s business 
growth.

7. Report on events after the balance sheet date

Future orientation of business activities

The ISARIA Wohnbau Group has been established in 
the greater Munich region since 20 years as a project 
developer for high-quality residential properties. Ac-
cording to a current study by BulwienGesa, the ISARIA 
Wohnbau Group is one of the three largest project 
developers for residential property in Munich. How-
ever, as it is very difficult to differentiate the company 
from the other top players, growth in the company’s 
traditional core business is expected to be limited. In 

addition to the division for the new construction of 
residential properties, the Group also revitalizes exist-
ing vacant commercial properties. The Schillerstrasse 
property was handed over in 2012, and in the past 
fiscal year 2014 the Vogelweidestrasse property was 
handed over - the second property completed in this 
division. This means that more than 350 APP.ARTMENTS 
have been realized. The company does not plan to de-
velop commercial projects in parallel in future. Com-
mercial use is only foreseeable for ISARIA Wohnbau 
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as part of the urban development of residential loca-
tions. However, a strategic decision was taken in the 
past fiscal year to expand the ISARIA Wohnbau Group’s 
business activities to include Hamburg as a second re-
gional market. It was already possible to link in to two 
properties in this regard in 2014 - one each for New 
Construction and Revitalisation. However, developing 
these projects through to maturity will take longer 
than the end of 2015. In addition, in 2014 the ISARIA 
Wohnbau Group started to identify attractive markets 
in the Munich region.

General economic developments, and the Munich 
residential property market as the company’s home

The Institut für Weltwirtschaft in Kiel (IfW) believes that 
the economy in Germany is starting to expand again in 
2015 thanks to greater purchasing power. This is due 
to higher net income and also the strong reduction in 
oil prices. It also expects a recovery for the company’s 
investments. Accordingly, the IfW is forecasting Ger-
many’s economy to grow by 1.7 % in 2015 compared to 
1.5 % in 2014. The number of people in employment is 
expected to increase slightly, with the number of un-
employed falling marginally. The economy in the Eu-
rozone is expected to stabilise in 2015, however with 
very different developments in the individual countries. 
Any heightening of the crisis in Greece or the conflict 
in Ukraine could stop the economic recovery for a sus-
tained period.

The outlook continues to be promising for project 
developers in the housing market in the seven larg-
est German cities and in particular in Munich. Lead-
ing analysts believe that the strong demand, the fact 
that not enough apartments are being built, and the 
continued very low interest rates point towards house 
prices continuing to rise. Further increases in the num-
ber of inhabitants in urban regions will ensure that 
demand remains high. Construction activities are in-
creasing at present, however it is still not enough to 
meet requirements in 2015. The number of inhabitants 

in Germany’s seven largest cities increased by 113,000 
in total in 2014. However there were only 30,000 new 
apartments. Given that the average household com-
prises less than two people, the gap between offering 
and demand is continuing to increase. There are thus 
fundamental reasons for a large part of the price in-
creases seen in many German cities.

Low interest rates for financing are keeping house-
buying affordable despite the higher prices. The lack 
of alternative investments is also boosting the acquisi-
tion of residential properties. As a result, prices on the 
housing market in Germany’s seven largest cities are 
set to increase further in 2015, albeit at a slightly slower 
pace. Experts believe that it is not possible to rule out 
overheating on some sub-markets, however a property 
bubble is highly improbable at present.

This trend also continued unchanged in 2014 and cou-
pled with the trend to have more households com-
pared to population numbers, led to an increase in 
demand for residential space. No material change is 
to be anticipated on the market for mortgage inter-
est rates. As a result, there is also positive support 
for the acquisition of residential real estate in future. 
Given this background, we can assume higher rent and 
purchase prices, and the ISARIA Wohnbau Group will 
participate in this thanks to its business model.

Development of the financial position and income

With an order book of around € 84 million on 31 Decem-
ber 2014 the company already has the first secure rev-
enues for 2016 on its books - and 60 % of the revenues 
forecast for 2015. Construction services for all of the prop-
erties scheduled for completion in 2015 have also already 
been completed or mostly assigned. Since the acquisition 
of One Group, financing for the existing project develop-
ments is also secure. In 2015 the substantial increases in 
house prices in Munich over the past few years will also 
have a significantly positive impact on the gross profit 
margin and EBIT for ISARIA Wohnbau.

In the whole, we are expecting our key financial indicators 
to develop as follows in 2015:

• In 2015 the company is forecasting revenues of 
around € 100 million from construction activities 
and handovers.

• Gross profit margin: the revenues forecast for 2015 
include higher margins compared to revenues in 
2014 as these include the growth in market prices 
over the past few years, which is making an in-
creased impact. Accordingly, we are forecasting an 
increase in the gross profit margin to substantially 
more than 30 % in 2015.

• EBIT: the increases in purchase prices over the past 
few years will be recognised in the handovers 
scheduled for 2015. We believe that although the 
volume of revenues will be lower than in 2014, we 
believe that EBIT in 2015 will at least be on a par 
with EBIT in 2014.

• We plan to complete a further majority acquisition of 
a special purchase entity (already certified) in 2015. 
This project is currently still in the development 
phase. We plan to include this special purpose entity 
in the group of consolidated companies during 2015. 
This and also a further increase in project volumes 
will lead to a further absolute increase in financing 
costs in the group compared to the level of 2014. The 
further reductions in interest rates will have a con-
tradictory effect on financing for ongoing projects. In 
total we are forecasting financing expenses in 2015 
to be up to 20 % higher than in 2014.

• One Group is also expected to record slightly positive 
earnings from operating activities in 2015.

• On the whole, in our current forecast for 2015 we are ex-
pecting positive earnings after taxes in the high single 
digit million euro range.

• notarised sales in 2015 and thus also the order book 
will depend on the speed at which the requisite ad-
ditional planning permissions are granted for Karls-
feld and the planned start of sales for the current 
project development in Elsenheimer Strasse. If this 
runs on schedule, we are anticipating it to result in 
notarised sales of up to € 64 million. In addition, the 
possibility of a global sale for the part of the project 
in Elsenheimer Strasse which is planned as a board-
ing house is being reviewed. A corresponding closing 
in 2015 would increase notarised sales.

• One Group is planning to launch sales of its new 
 ProReal Deutschland Fonds 4 in the second quarter of 
2015. We expect that this will acquire funds of at least 
€ 36 million in 2015 which will then be available to the 
group for further investments.

As a result of land already purchased, the project pipe-
line for the coming years after 2015 has already been 
secured and is expected to lead to further increases in 
earnings.

The single entity ISARIA Wohnbau AG only has its own 
operating activities to a minor extent. It is closely linked 
to its subsidiaries and participating interests with a 
large number of corporate agreements and contingent 
liabilities. As a result, the economic growth of its sub-
sidiaries and participating interests is of central impor-
tance for the company. These companies’ results will 
also be a key factor for ISARIA Wohnbau AG’s economic 
growth in 2015. Based on the forecast positive contri-
butions to earnings at the subsidiaries and participat-
ing interests in 2015, we believe that ISARIA Wohnbau 
AG as a single entity will record earnings after taxes in 
the middle single-digit million euros range based on 
its HGB financial statements. Last year the forecast for 
the single entity for 2014 included statements on earn-
ings after taxes based on the HGB financial statements. 
This was forecast to be in the middle single-digit million 
euros range. This forecast was also met with earnings 
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after taxes of € 5.7 million. In a deviation analysis for 
the single entity, the same aspects apply that were al-
ready applied for the deviation analysis at a group level. 
These aspects have a corresponding impact on the in-
come from participating interests in ISARIA Wohnbau 
AG’s single-entity financial statements.

Overall assessment

At present, there are no indicators that demand will fall 
over the short or medium term on the Munich housing 
market. The ISARIA Wohnbau group has long-standing 
knowledge of the market, a secure project pipeline, the 
group’s own financing platform and a substantially im-
proved level of equity, which means that it will benefit to 
an above average amount from the positive growth on the 
attractive real estate market in Munich. The forecast popu-
lation growth in Munich’s population through to 2025 and 
the constant increase in the number of households are key 
indicators for the group that its sales are also secure over 
the medium term and that it will be able to reach its fore-
cast growth targets.

In summary, the Executive Board believes that there are 
secure opportunities to successfully grow the group and 
further improve its financial position and results of op-
erations with the properties in construction which have 
mostly been sold and with the projects already acquired 
or planned.

CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 04
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Notes
01/01/ – 12/31/2014

k€
01/01/ – 12/31/2013

k€

Sales revenue

a) from the sale of property units (7) 156,594 34,577

b) from the lease of property units (8) 3,449 3,129

c) from other deliveries and services 180 0

Change in inventories of properties held for sale  
with finished or unfinished buildings (9) 10,105 4,694

Total output 170,329 42,400

Cost of materials (10)

a) Expenses for the sale of property units -124,813 -26,567

b) Expenses for the lease of property units -2,822 -2,857

Gross profit 42,694 12,976

Personnel expenses (11) -6,604 -3,005

Depreciations / amortisation / impairment charges (18) (19) (20) -2,925 -458

Other operating income (12) 1,699 3,543

Other operating expenses (13) -13,219 -10,086

EBIT 21,644 2,970

Financial income (14) 4,028 829

Financial expenses (15) -15,626 -13,221

result of associates accounted for using the equity method (16) 693 1,990

Financial result -10,904 -10,402

Consolidated result before income taxes 10,740 -7,433

Income tax expenses (-)/ income (+) (17) -1,468 8,516

Consolidated result after income taxes 9,272 1,084

of which attributable to the shareholders of ISArIA 9,294 1,046

of which attributable to non controlling interests -23 38

Other Comprehensive income 0 0

Comprehensive income 9,272 1,084

of which attributable to the shareholders of ISArIA 9,294 1,046

of which attributable to non controlling interests -23 38

Earnings per share in €

Basic (43) 0.40 0.05

Diluted (43) 0.40 0.05

Consolidated Statement of  
Comprehensive Income 
for the Financial Year 2014
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

Assets Notes 12/31/2014
k€

12/31/2013 *
k€ Equity and liabilities Notes 12/31/2014

k€
12/31/2013

k€

I. Non-current assets 38,089 42,116 I. Equity 22,905 13,606

1. Intangible assets (18) 8,555 10,003 1. Subscribed capital (28) 23,764 20,764

2. Investment properties (19) 13,192 14,699 2. Equity and reserves (28) 137,120 131,472

3. Property, plant and equipment (20) 328 393 3. Balance sheet loss -137,976 -147,270

4. Financial assets 4. Deposits made to execute the resolved capital increase 0 8,700

a) Investments in associates accounted for using the equity method (21) 1,040 2,868 Consolidated equity of the majority shareholders 22,908 13,665

b) Other investments (22) 75 37 5. Non controlling interests -3 -59

5. Deferred tax assets (17) 14,758 14,112

6. Other accounts receivable (26) 140 5 II. Non-current liabilities 115,571 66,996

1.  Compensation liabilities to shareholders in  
general partnership (29) 84,855 47,712

2. Financial liabilities to banks (31) 26,562 15,355

II. Current assets 262,328 185,123 3. Deferred tax liabilities (17) 1,335 1,752

1. Properties held for sale and other inventories 4. Other provisions (35) 2,819 2,177

a) Properties and equivalent rights with unfinished buildings (23) 135,799 125,694

b) Properties and equivalent rights with finished buildings (24) 640 640 III. Current liabilities 161,941 146,636

2. Accounts receivable from the sale of property (25) 59,948 4,316 1.  Compensation liabilities to shareholders in  
general partnership (29) 9,699 10,983

3. Income tax receivables (17) 1,707 77

4. Other accounts receivable and financial assets (26) 22,143 22,093 2.  Financial liabilities from silent participations, shareholder loans and  
other forms of capital provision (30) 35,318 47,447

5. Cash and cash equivalents (27) 42,090 32,303

3. Financial liabilities to banks (31) 33,173 12,282

4. Trade accounts payable (33) 28,445 15,127

5. liabilities from payments made on account (34) 39,171 46,988

6. Income tax liabilities (17) 4,237 1,748

7. Other provisions (35) 3,892 2,143

8. Other liabilities (32) 8,006 9,919

Total assets 300,417 227,238 Total equity and liabilities 300,417 227,238

as of 31st December 2014

* See Fig. (3) adjusted prior-year figures due to the final purchase price allocation of One Group Gmbh
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Statement of Changes  
in Consolidated Equity
in the Financial Year 2014

Subscribed 
capital

k€

Deposits made  
to  execute the 
resolved capital 
increase

k€

Equity and  
Reserves

k€

Balance sheet loss

k€

 Consolidated 
 equity of 
the  majority 
 shareholders

k€

Non controlling 
interests

k€

Total consolidated
equity

k€

As of 1st January 2013  20,764 0 130,517 -148,316 2,965 45 3,009

Comprehensive Income 0 0 0 1,046 1,046 38 1,084

Deposits made to  execute the resolved capital increase 0 8,700 0 0 8,700 0 8,700

Transaction costs 0 0 -18 0 -18 0 -18

Contribution from  shareholders 0 0 3,737 0 3,737 0 3,737

Financial guarantees by Josef l. Kastenberger / JK holding Gmbh 0 0 91 0 91 0 91

Capital increase by way of contribution in kind 0 0 -2,855 0 -2,855 -134 -2,989

First-time consolidation One Group 0 0 0 0 0 -8 -8

As of 31st December 2013 20,764 8,700 131,472 -147,270 13,665 -59 13,606

Comprehensive Income 0 0 0 9,294 9,294 -23 9,272

Capital increase 3,000 -8,700 5,700 0 0 0 0

Capital increase by way of contribution in kind 0 0 -52 0 -52 79 27

As of 31st December 2014 23,764 0 137,120 -137,976 22,907 -3 22,905
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Notes 01/01/ – 12/31/2014
k€

01/01/ – 12/31/2013
k€

Consolidated result before income taxes 10,740 -7,433

Adjustments for the reconciliation from Consolidated result before  
income taxes to Cash flows from operating activities

Depreciations / amortisation / impairment charges (18) (19) (20) 2,925 458

valuation allowances (+) / write-ups (-) (23) (24) (25) -544 -1,883

Financial results (14) (15) (16) 10,904 10,402

results from the sale of investment properties 0 -649

Other non-cash expenses / income (36) 216 -624

Decrease (+) and increase (–) in properties held for sale and  
other inventories (23) (24) -9,586 -3,103

Decrease (+) and increase (–) in accounts receivable from the sale of  
property and of other accounts receivable and financial assets  -58,368 3,337

Increase (+) and decrease (–) in trade accounts payable and  
other current liabilities (32) (33) (34) 8,503 1,127

Increase (+) and decrease (–) in other provisions (35) 2,431 -227

Income taxes paid (-) / refunded (+) (17) -1,672 -726

Cash flows from operating activities -34,452 679

Acquisition of intangible assets (18) -19 -18

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (20) -96 -83

Payments from the sale of property, plant and equipment 21 0

Payments from the sale/ for the acquisition of financial assets (26) 0 -2,855

Payments from the sale of investment properties (19) 0 1,155

Corporate acquisitions according to IFrS 3 less cash acquired (3) 0 4,633

Interest received (14) 156 30

Cash flows from investing activities 62 2,861

Net payments from taking out of financial liabilities (29) (30) (31) 96,927 39,338

repayments of financial liabilities (29) (30) (31) -44,675 -33,240

Interest paid (15) -13,253 -9,009

Cash flows from financing activities 38,999 -2,910

Change in cash 4,610 631

Cash at the beginning of the accounting period (27) 12,393 11,762

Cash at the end of the accounting period (27) 17,003 12,393

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement 
for the Financial Year 2014

ISARIA Wohnbau AG (hereinafter also referred to as the 
“Company”, „ISARIA“, or, in connection with its sub-
sidiaries and affiliated companies as “ISARIA Wohn-
bau group) is an Aktiengesellschaft (public limited 
company) under German law. Shares of the company 
are listed on the Regulated Market of the Frankfurt 
Stock Exchange (Prime Standard). ISARIA Wohnbau AG 
is the Group’s parent company. It is registered with 
Local Court of Munich under registration number HRB 
187909. The Company’s registered office is Leopol-
dstrasse 8, 80802 Munich, Germany.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in 
euros (€), as all of the Group’s transactions are based 
on this currency and the euro is thus the Group’s func-
tional currency. Unless other-wise indicated, all figures 
are expressed in thousands of euros (k€). We wish to 
point out that commercial rounding may result in slight 
discrepancies when rounded sums and percentages 
are used. This applies also to the totals and subtotals 
reported in the consolidated financial statements as 
well as within separate tables.

The consolidated statement of comprehensive income 
is prepared according to the aggregate cost method. 
The fiscal year used by ISARIA Wohnbau AG and its 
subsidiaries and joint venture companies included in 
the consolidated interim financial statements corre-
sponds to the calendar year.

(1) Business operations

The ISARIA Wohnbau Group is a project developer for 
residential properties. The Group buys plots of land in 
attractive locations via independent special purpose 
entities/subsidiaries, plans residential properties 
in these locations, constructs these and then sells 
them. The business activities of the ISARIA Wohn-
bau Group include the divisions New Construction 
of Residential Property and Revitalization of Existing 

Properties. The latter includes changing former com-
mercial properties into residential properties under 
the brand APP.ARTMENTS.

The company‘s business model is to sell all apartments 
and houses that it has constructed. ISARIA Wohnbau 
does not aim to rent or hold apartments or houses 
within a portfolio. To date, the company, together with 
its SPEs, has exclusively operated on the high-growth 
greater Munich region where it has ranked among the 
market leaders for several years. However this posi-
tion can only be upheld by making ongoing acquisi-
tions and it cannot be expanded in a reasonable man-
ner. Given this background, in November 2014 ISARIA 
Wohnbau took the strategic decision to expand its 
activities geographically and to include Hamburg as 
a second location. This is also in view of the fact that 
price levels in this city, which is next largest in terms 
of its size, are much lower than in Munich - while 
population growth is also strong and private house-
holds have comparable spending power. The company 
has had an office in Hamburg since December 2014. 
The company’s headquarters, with all of the central 
departments, will continue to be in Munich.

ISARIA Wohnbau has its own financing platform within 
the group with One Group GmbH, Hamburg and its 
subsidiaries (hereinafter referred to as “One Group”) 
which it acquired on 31 December 2013. The business 
activities of One Group mostly comprise conceiving, 
structuring and issuing project development funds for 
residential construction projects in Germany. In ISARIA 
Wohnbau’s home location in Munich these funds in-
vest exclusively in its projects. Investments can also 
be made in external projects in other locations.

The investments always aim to sell the property dur-
ing the investment period. As a result, One Group does 
not hold any participating interests in real estate on a 
permanent basis in its assets.

Notes to the Consolidated 
 Financial Statements
1. General information
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One Group is run as a sub-group within the ISARIA 
Wohnbau Group. There is a separate segment One 
Group in this regard, which shows the earnings of this 
sub-group.

(2) Principles for preparing the annual 
financial statements

The consolidated financial statements as of 31 De-
cember 2014 were prepared in conformance with the 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as sup-
plemented by the provisions of § 315a HGB [Handelsge-
setzbuch, German Commercial Code], and the relevant 
interpretations of the International Accounting Standards 
Board (IASB) as they are to be applied according to Direc-
tive No. 1606/2002 of the European Parliament and the 
European Council on the application of international ac-
counting principles in the European Union (EU).

The financial reporting for financial year 2014 has been 
prepared according to the applicable mandatory stand-
ards and presents a true and fair view of the Group’s net 
assets, financial positions, and results of operations.

The present consolidated financial statements were pre-
pared by the executive board of ISARIA Wohnbau AG on 

09 March 2015 and, subject to approval by the supervi-
sory board, released for publication.

Newly applicable or amended and applicable 
interpretations and standards 

During the fiscal year, the following new or revised 
IFRSs and interpretations were applied (see table Newly 
applicable standards and interpretations). 

In view of the acquisition of the One Group on the last 
balance sheet date, the new standards IFRS 10, IFRS 11 
and IFRS 12 as well as the modified standards IAS 27 
and IAS 28 were being applied on a voluntary basis 
ahead of time. These standards, whose application 
first became obligatory on 01 January 2014, were ap-
plied early on for the 2013 fiscal year as they contained 
new regulations on consolidation, particularly with re-
spect to the in-scope entities. However, this first time 
application led to no new changes, as was also the 
case with the other regulations that were applied for 
the first time.

The Company does not at this time expect future ap-
plication of the new accounting principles to have 
any significant effects on the consolidated financial 
statements. 

Standard / Interpretation Application
 mandatory from

Adoption by  
Eu-Commission

Amendments to IAS 32 Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial 
liabilities 01/01/2014 12/13/2012

Amendments to IAS 36, Impairment of assets – recoverable 
Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets 01/01/2014 12/19/2013

Amendmends to IAS 39, Novation of Derivatives and Continuati-
on of hedge Accounting 01/01/2014 12/19/2013

Newly applicable standards and interpretations

Standard / Interpretation Application
 mandatory from

Adoption by  
Eu-Commission

IFrIC 21, levies 01/01/2015 06/13/2014

Amendments to IAS 19, Defined Benefit Plans: Employee Contributions 01/01/2015 12/17/2014

Annual Improvements to IFrSs 2010–2012 Cycle 01/01/2015 12/17/2014

Annual Improvements to IFrSs 2011–2013 Cycle 01/01/2015 12/18/2014

Annual Improvements to IFrSs 2012–2014 Cycle 01/01/2016 open

IFrS 14, regulatory Deferral Accounts 01/01/2016 open

Amendments to IFrS 11: Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint 
Operations 01/01/2016 open

Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38: Clarification of Acceptable methods of 
Depreciation and Amortisation 01/01/2016 open

Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 41: Agriculture / Bearer Plants 01/01/2016 open

Amendments to IAS 27: Equity method in Separate Financial Statements 01/01/2016 open

Amendments to IFrS 10 and IAS 28: Sale or Contribution of Assets between 
an Investor and its Associate or Joint venture 01/01/2016 open

Amendments to IFrS 10, IFrS 12 and IAS 28: Investment Entities - Applying 
the Consolidated Exception 01/01/2016 open

Amendments to IAS 1, Disclosure Initiative 01/01/2016 open

IFrS 15, revenue from contracts with customers 01/01/2017 open

IFrS 9 Financial Instruments, and subsequent amendments to IFrS 9 and 
IFrS 7 01/01/2018 open

Standards and interpretations already published but not yet applied
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One Finance OFC GmbH, Hamburg to then minority 
shareholder with effect on 01 November 2014 and 
then deconsolidated it. No significant financial effects 
resulted from the sale.

Acquisition of One Group on December 31, 2013

Based on the information available, it was not possi-
ble to valuate some of the assets and debt of the One 
Group GmbH acquired in the 2013 fiscal year with final 

effect on the balance sheet date of the previous year. 
The period of twelve months for finalising purchase 
price allocations provided for under IFRS 3 was utilised; 
as a result, the preliminary allocation of the purchase 
price to individual assets and debts up to the passing 
of this period is permitted.

The purchase price allocation for this acquisition was 
finalised in these consolidated financial statements in 

(3) Consolidation

On the balance sheet date, the present consolidated 
financial statements comprise, in addition to ISARIA 
Wohnbau AG, 37 (previous year: 33) subsidiaries and 
three (previous year: three) joint ventures consolidated 
at equity. During financial year 2014, the scope of con-
solidation changed as follows:

Newly founded companies and/or acquisitions

The following new companies were founded and/or ac-
quired in the fiscal year 2014:

• ISARIA Bau GmbH, Munich 

• ISARIA Holding GmbH & Co. Objekt Hörgensweg KG, 

Munich

• Objekt Kapstadtring 1 GmbH, Munich

• OPD Objekt St. Augustin GmbH, Hamburg

• One Project Development AIF 4 GmbH, Hamburg

• One Komplementär 2 GmbH, Hamburg

• ProReal Deutschland Fonds 4 GmbH & Co. 

geschlossene InvKG, Hamburg

During the 2014 fiscal year, the companies were ac-
counted for in the consolidated financial statements of 
ISARIA Wohnbau AG for the first time by way of full 
consolidation. Only ProReal Deutschland Fonds 4 GmbH 
& Co. geschlossene InvKG was excluded as it was still 
of marginal significance with respect to the Group’s op-
erations in 2014.

Acquisition of equity interests in subsidiaries 
already previously fully consolidated

During the course of the 2014 fiscal year, further interest 
was acquired in various subsidiaries already previously 
controlled by the Group. Specifically, this concerned 
the acquisition of minority interest in the companies 
GINDIWO Gesellschaft für individuelle Wohnungspriva-
tisierung mbH, ISARIA GmbH & Co. Objekt Metropolis 
KG (formerly JK Wohnbaugesellschaft mbH & Co. Objekt 
Defreggerstrasse KG) and J.K. Verwaltungs GmbH & Co. 

Objekt Viktoriastrasse KG. In the previous year, ISARIA 
also acquired further interest in various subsidiaries al-
ready previously controlled by the Group. Specifically, 
this concerned the acquisition of minority interest in 
the companies JK Wohnbau AG & Co. Objekt Maistrasse 
KG, J.K. Wohnbaugesellschaft mbH & Co. Objekt Hohen-
waldeck KG, JK Wohnbau Objekt Karlsfeld 1 GmbH, JK 
Wohnbau AG & Co. Objekt Karlsfeld 2 KG, JK Wohnbau 
AG & Co. Objekt Karlsfeld 3 KG, JK Wohnbau GmbH & 
Co. Objekt Waltherstrasse KG and JK Wohnbau Objekt 
Stahlstrasse GmbH.

To the extent that the subsidiaries are corporations, the 
acquisition was carried as an acquisition of an interest 
without a change of status directly under consolidated 
equity. A comparison of the acquisition costs with the 
carrying amounts of the minority interests disposed 
of resulted in a difference of k€ -52 (previous year: 
k€ -2,855).

In the case of the subsidiaries with the legal form of a 
partnership, in contrast the minority interests were not 
previously carried under equity, but under liabilities. As 
a result, the acquisition of the minority interests led to 
these liabilities being derecognised. As a rule, this dif-
ference has to be recognised in income and carried as 
financial income or financial expense. Financial income 
in the amount of k€ 0 (previous year k€ 325) resulted 
from the acquisition of the aforementioned interest.

Intra-group mergers

Wohnbau Objekt Prinzregentenstrasse GmbH merged 
with fellow subsidiary ISARIA Wohnbau Objekt Willy-
Brandt-Allee GmbH (formerly JK Wohnbau Objekt 
Willy-Brandt-Allee GmbH) on the basis of the contract 
dated November 25, 2014. The resulting effects of the 
merger were eliminated as an intra-group transaction.

Sale of subsidiaries

On 22 October 2014, One Group GmbH sold its major-
ity interest of over 66.67 % in then fully consolidated 

Final presentation of the major classes of assets acquired and liabilities assumed

k€
Carrying amounts at 

date of acquisition
revaluation of assets 

and liabilities
Carrying amounts 

at date of first-time 
consolidation

Other intangible assets 372 5,278 5,650

Property, plant and equipment 129 0 129

Investments in subsidiaries and affiliated companies 28,501 0 28,501

Deferred tax assets 1,795 0 1,795

Properties and equivalent rights with unfinished  
buildings 1,768 0 1,768

Accounts receivable from the sale of property 3,506 0 3,506

Other accounts receivable and financial assets 7,378 0 7,378

Cash and cash equivalents 7,384 0 7,384

Total assets 50,833 5,278 56,111

Compensation liabilities to shareholders in general 
partnership 47,712 0 47,712

Trade accounts payable 860 0 860

Other liabilities 1,458 0 1,458

Deferred tax liabilities 0 1,689 1,689

Total liabilities 50,030 1,689 51,719

Net assets 803 3,589 4,392

Non controlling interests -7 0 -7

Purchase price according to IFrS 3 8,700

Goodwill 4,301
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Name registered 
office

12/31/2014
Share in voting rights

12/31/2013
Share in voting rights

App.artments Gmbh munich 100 % 100 %

GINDIWO Gesellschaft für individuelle Wohnprivatisierung mbh munich 100 % 94.9 %

gindiwo Gesellschaft für individuelle Wohnungsprivatisierung
Objekt St. Bonifatius Strasse mbh

munich 100 % 100 %

ISArIA Bau Gmbh munich 100 % -  

ISArIA Gmbh & Co. Objekt metropolis KG  
(formerly JK Wohnbaugesellschaft mbh & Co. Objekt Defreggerstrasse KG)

munich 100 % 99 %

ISArIA holding Gmbh munich 100 % 100 %

ISArIA holding Gmbh & Co. Objekt hörgensweg KG munich 100 % -  

Isaria III Immobilienverwaltung Gmbh & Co. KG munich 100 % 100 %

Isaria Immobilienverwaltung Gmbh & Co. KG munich 100 % 100 %

ISArIA Tower Gmbh (formerly JK Tower Gmbh) munich 100 % 100 %

ISArIA verwaltungs AG & Co. Objekt viktoriastrasse KG  
(formerly J.K. verwaltungs Gmbh & Co. Objekt viktoriastrasse KG)

munich 100 % 94.9 %

ISArIA Wohnbau Objekt Am münchfeld Gmbh  
(formerly JK Wohnbau Objekt Am münchfeld Gmbh)

munich 100 % 100 %

ISArIA Wohnbau Objekt Karlsfeld 2 Gmbh  
(formerly JK Wohnbau AG & Co. Objekt Karlsfeld 2 KG)

munich 100 % 100 %

ISArIA Wohnbau Objekt Karlsfeld 3 Gmbh  
(formerly JK Wohnbau AG & Co. Objekt Karlsfeld 3 KG)

munich 100 % 100 %

ISArIA Wohnbau Objekt Willy-Brandt-Allee Gmbh  
(formerly JK Wohnbau Objekt Willy-Brandt-Allee Gmbh)

munich 100 % 100 %

J.K. Wohnbaugesellschaft mbh & Co. Objekt hohenwaldeck KG munich 100 % 100 %

JK Wohnbau Gmbh & Co. Objekt maistrasse KG munich 100 % 100 %

JK Wohnbau Gmbh & Co. Objekt Waltherstrasse KG munich 100 % 100 %

JK Wohnbau Objekt Karlsfeld 1 Gmbh munich 100 % 100 %

JK Wohnbau Objekt Stahlstrasse Gmbh munich 100 % 100 %

living Bogenhausen Gmbh munich 100 % 100 %

Objekt Kapstadtring 1 Gmbh munich 100 % -  

One Capital Emissionshaus Gmbh hamburg 100 % 100 %

One Consulting Gmbh hamburg 100 % 100 %

One Group Gmbh hamburg 100 % 100 %

One Komplementär Gmbh hamburg 100 % 100 %

One Komplementär 2 Gmbh hamburg 100 % 100 %

One Project Development AIF 4 Gmbh hamburg 100 % -  

One Project Development Gmbh hamburg 100 % 100 %

One real Estate Gmbh hamburg 100 % 100 %

OPD Objekt St. Augustin Gmbh hamburg 100 % -  

One Group Objekt herbartstrasse 23 Gmbh  
(formerly vrhv verwaltung I Gmbh)

hamburg 94.8 % 94.8 %

JK Wohnbau Fonds I Beteiligungs Gmbh & Co. KG munich 0.00 % 0.00 %

Proreal Deutschland Fonds Gmbh & Co. KG hamburg 0.13 % 0.13 %

Proreal Deutschland Projektfonds Gmbh & Co. KG hamburg 0.01 % 0.01 %

Proreal Deutschland Fonds 2 Gmbh & Co. KG hamburg 0.60 % 0.60 %

Proreal Deutschland Fonds 3 Gmbh & Co. KG hamburg 0.02 % 0.02 %

Fully consolidated subsidiariesaccordance with the provisions of IFRS 3 and within the 
prescribed twelve month period.

Comparative information for the reporting periods prior 
to the finalisation of the first time recognition of the 
acquisition on the balance sheet are to be presented 
retrospectively as if the purchase price allocation had 
occurred at the time of acquisition. The following table 
provides an overview of the final purchase price alloca-
tions (summarised).

The goodwill in the consolidated balance sheet result-
ing from the netting of the considerations transferred 
with the revaluated equity declined by k€ 635 from 
k€ 4,936 as at 31 December 2013 to k€ 4,301 due to 
the modified purchase price allocation. The goodwill re-
sulting from the difference between the purchase price 
and the net assets mostly represents the value of the 
anticipated income and cost synergies from the acquisi-
tion of One Group.

In consideration of the modified purchase price alloca-
tions, the following effects resulted for the consolidated 
balance sheet as at 31 December 2013:

k€ Adjustments
12/31/2013

Goodwill -635

Other intangible assets 934

Deferred tax liabilities 299

Effects of the final purchase price allocations on the 
consolidated balance sheet 

These final purchase price allocations did not result in 
any effects on the consolidated statement of compre-
hensive income in the 2013 fiscal year.

Summary of fully-consolidated subsidiaries 

All subsidiaries controlled by ISARIA Wohnbau AG are 
fully consolidated to the extent that these are of im-
portance for the Group’s financial position and results 
of operations. The Group is not expecting any material 
risks or any material impact on its net assets, finan-
cial position and results of operations and future cash 
flows from non-consolidated companies. Accordingly, 
the following companies were fully consolidated in 
the consolidated financial statements as of Decem-
ber 31, 2014:
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In the case of JK Wohnbau Fonds I Beteiligungs GmbH 
& Co. KG, ProReal Deutschland Fonds 2 GmbH & Co. 
KG and ProReal Deutschland Fonds 3 GmbH & Co. KG 
the share of voting rights is 0 % or just 0.60 % and 
0.02 %, and for ProReal Deutschland Fonds GmbH & Co. 
KG 0.13 % and ProReal Deutschland Projektfonds GmbH 
& Co. KG 0.01 %. However, these companies are fully 
consolidated in the consolidated financial statements, 
as the group controls these companies even without 
holding a majority of voting rights, there are risk 
charges or claims to fluctuating returns, and the group 
has the ability to exercise its control to determine the 
amount of the returns.

Joint Ventures

A joint venture company is a joint agreement in which 
the participants (partner companies) which exercise the 
joint control of the agreement have rights to the net 
assets in the agreement. Joint ventures are included 
in the consolidated financial statements at equity. The 

consolidated financial statements include three (previ-
ous year: three) joint ventures:

In the joint venture companies, real estate projects in 
Munich are developed, constructed and sold together 
with a project partner. On the balance sheet date these 
projects had mostly been completed.

(4) Accounting and valuation policies

The accounting and valuation policies applied in the 
consolidated financial statements are outlined below. 
Further information on individual items in the con-
solidated statement of comprehensive income and the 
consolidated balance sheet is provided, along with the 
associated figures, in the notes below. The consolidated 
financial statements have been prepared in accordance 
with the going-concern principle and applying the cost-
of-acquisition principle.

Revenue recognition and reporting of sales

Sales revenue comprises all revenue resulting from 
the typical business operations of the Group. Sales 
revenue is disclosed without sales tax. As a rule, 
sales revenue is recognised at the time at which the 
products or goods were delivered or the services 
were performed and at which the transfer of risk to 
the customer occurred. The amount of sales revenue 
must be reliably measurable, and it must be possible 
to assume that the accounts receivable can be col-
lected. Price reductions that are granted reduce sales 
revenue. Revenue is recognised at the time at which 
the estate in severalty is accepted by the apartment 
buyer. In the process, sales are recorded proportion-
ately for the collective property as well. The Company 
justifies this by the fact that it is mandatory that the 
principal parts of the collective property be inspected 
by an appropriately engaged authority (e.g. TÜV Süd) 
before acceptance of the estate in severalty by the 
apartment buyer. Recording sales for the estate in 
severalty and the proportional joint property at the 
time the estate in severalty is accepted is common 
practice in this business sector in Germany and does 
not conflict with the provisions of IFRIC 15 if the es-
sential parts of the joint property have already been 
completed by such time.

If the Group enters into a commitment to sell goods or 
perform services in addition to constructing real estate 

(for example, selling a parcel of land or buildings still 
under construction or providing management services), 
the provisions of IFRIC 15 prescribe a test to determine 
whether such a contract must be divided into individu-
ally identifiable parts for which, independently of one 
another, revenue must then be recognised. Revenue 
is then recognised by allocating total revenue among 
the individual parts according to the fair value to be 
assigned to each of these parts individually.

Currently within the Group no construction contracts 
within the meaning of IAS 11 exist. Only in the excep-
tional event that, with increasing progress in construc-
tion, the power of disposition and the material oppor-
tunities and risks associated with the sold real estate 
are transferred to the buyer, there is nevertheless, 
in accordance with the provisions of IFRIC 15, current 
recognition of revenue according to the percentage-
of-completion method, and that according to the ratio 
between costs already incurred and the total costs.

Recognition of other income and interest income

Other income is recognised as it is realised. Interest 
income is recognised according to the effective inter-
est rate.

Recognition of expenses

Expenditures are recognised as expenses when use is 
made of the service or at the time at which it is occa-
sioned. Interest is recognised as an expense according 
to the effective interest rate.

Goodwill

Upon initial recognition, goodwill from a merger is car-
ried at cost. Cost is the excess of the compensation paid 
(acquisition costs) compared to the identifiable assets 
and acquired liabilities. After first-time recognition, 
goodwill is carried at cost less accumulated impairment.

Goodwill is not subject to scheduled amortisation, but 
is tested for impairment at least once per year, and also 

2. Accounting and measurement methods

Name registered 
office

12/31/2014
Share in voting 

rights

12/31/2013
Share in voting 

rights

JK-COr Wohnbauentwicklung Gmbh munich 50 % 50 %

JK-COr Wohnbauentwicklung Gmbh & Co. Wilhelm-hale-Strasse 35 KG munich 50 % 50 %

JK-COr Wohnbauentwicklung Gmbh & Co. Wilhelm-hale-Strasse 45 KG munich 50 % 50 %

Joint ventures
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during the year if there are any impairment indicators, 
in line with the regulations of IAS 36 at a cash-gen-
erating unit level. Newly created goodwill is allocated 
in each case to the cash-generating unit, which is ex-
pected to benefit from the merger. As a rule, the cash-
generating units correspond to the operating segments, 
as goodwill can only be managed at this level.

In order to identify possible impairment, the recov-
erable amount of a cash-generating unit is compared 
with its carrying amount. The recoverable amount of 
an asset is the greater of its value in use and its fair 
value less costs to sell. Impairment is only recorded 
when the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its re-
coverable amount. No write-ups are performed if the 
reasons for impairment recognised in previous years 
no longer applies.

Other intangible assets

Other intangible assets are measured at cost, less de-
preciation and impairment. At present, there are no 
internally generated intangible assets and intangible 
assets with indefinite useful lives, with the exception of 
goodwill. The Company applies the following deprecia-
tion methods and useful lives:

Intangible assets

Depreciation 
method useful life

Software Straight-line 3 to 5 years

Other purchased intangible 
assets

Straight-line 3.5 to 10 years

Other property rights Straight-line 6 years

The amortisation of intangible assets is presented in 
combination with amortisation of fixed assets under 
depreciation and amortisation in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income.

Investment properties

Investment properties comprise all real estate that is 
held to generate rental income or for long-term appre-
ciation and is not used by the Group itself. There are 
no active marketing activities for these properties. The 
properties are recognised at cost at the time of addition. 
The investment properties are depreciated on a straight-
line basis. Depreciation in the year of addition is on a 
“pro rata temporis” basis. The Company applies the fol-
lowing depreciation methods and useful lives:

Investment properties

Depreciation 
method useful life

Investment properties Straight-line 33.3 to 50 years

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are measured at cost, 
less depreciation and impairment. Disposals are recog-
nised at historical costs and with accumulated depre-
ciation. Profits or losses from the disposal of property, 
plant and equipment are reported under other operat-
ing income or expenses. The Company applies the fol-
lowing depreciation methods and useful lives:

Property, plant and equipment

Depreciation 
method useful life

Furniture and fixtures Straight-line 3 to 23 years

Impairments of other intangible assets, property, 
plant and equipment, and investment properties

For intangible assets with a finite useful live, property, 
plant and equipment, and investment properties, an 
impairment test is conducted if concrete indications of 
impairment are present. An impairment is recognised 
in profit or loss if the recoverable amount of the as-
set is less than the carrying amount. The recoverable 

amount is always measured for each asset individually. 
When this is not possible, it is measured on the basis 
of a group of assets that largely generate independ-
ent cash flows. The recoverable amount is the higher 
of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. Every 
impairment is immediately recognised in profit or loss. 
If the reason for impairment recorded in previous years 
no longer applies, the value is written up to at most the 
amount of amortised cost.

Investments in associates accounted for using the 
equity method

Shares in joint ventures are disclosed in the balance 
sheet according to the equity method. The shares 
are recognised in the balance sheet at cost plus the 
changes in the Group’s share in net assets after ac-
quisition. The goodwill associated with a company 
included at equity is included in the carrying amount 
of the share and is not depreciated. When applying 
the equity method, the Group determines whether an 
additional impairment loss must be accounted for with 
regard to the Group’s net investment. The statement 
of comprehensive income contains the Group’s share 
in the companies’ profit under “Result of associates 
accounted for using the equity method”.

Properties held for sale and other inventories

Properties held for sale and other inventories are rec-
ognised at cost or the lower net realisable value. The 
acquisition costs in this case comprise the directly at-
tributable acquisition and preparation costs, i.e., par-
ticularly costs for the parcel of land and incidental ac-
quisition costs. The development costs comprise costs 
directly attributable to the real estate development 
process and such borrowing costs as are apportionable 
to the period of development. The expected net realis-
able value is the recoverable sales revenue expected in 
the normal course of business less selling or develop-
ment costs still to be incurred.

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the ac-
quisition, construction, or development of a qualified 
asset are capitalised as part of the acquisition or devel-
opment costs. All other borrowing costs are recognised 
in the period in which they are incurred.

Provisions

Provisions are formed when there is a current liabil-
ity towards a third party arising from a past event, 
the liability is likely to result in a future outflow of 
resources, and the amount of the liability can be re-
liably estimated. The probability that the outflow of 
resources will occur must be greater than 50 %. Provi-
sions are formed only for legal or actual liabilities to-
wards third parties. Provisions are recognised at their 
probable payment amount and not netted with claims 
for reimbursement. Provisions based on a large num-
ber of similar events are reported in the balance sheet 
at their expected value.

Income taxes (current and deferred taxes)

Income tax expense represents the sum of current (ac-
tual) tax expense and deferred taxes. The current tax 
expense is measured on the basis of taxable income 
for the year. The Group’s current tax expense liability is 
calculated on the basis of the tax rates in effect.

Deferred taxes are measured by the “liability method” 
according to IAS 12, “Income Taxes”. This means that, 
with the exception of goodwill arising on consolidation 
and the initial measurement of assets and liabilities not 
resulting from a business combination and which, at the 
time of the transaction, affect neither the balance sheet 
result nor the income to be taxed, deferred taxes are 
formed for all temporary differences between the car-
rying amounts of assets and liabilities in the IFRS and 
tax accounts, irrespective of the period within which 
these differences balance. Deferred tax claims and li-
abilities are measured using the tax rates that are ex-
pected to be valid in the period in which an asset is to 
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be realised or a debt is to be satisfied. The tax rates 
(and tax rules) that apply as of the balance sheet date, 
or that will soon apply, are taken as the basis.

Deferred taxes relating to items recognised directly in 
equity are likewise recognised in equity. Deferred tax 
assets are formed for accumulated losses brought for-
ward if their realisability is probable.

Contingencies  
(contingent liabilities and assets)

Contingencies are potential liabilities or assets aris-
ing from past events and whose existence will be 
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of 
one or more uncertain future events that are not 
entirely within the Group’s control. Contingent li-
abilities can also be present obligations arising from 
past events and for which an outflow of resources 
embodying economic benefits is not probable or for 
which the amount of the obligation cannot be meas-
ured reliably. Contingent liabilities are recognised at 
their fair value if they were assumed in the course 
of a business acquisition. Contingent assets are not 
recognised. If an outflow of economic benefit is not 
improbable, information on contingent liabilities is 
disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial 
statements. The same applies to contingent assets 
when an inflow is probable.

Financial instruments

According to IAS 39, financial instruments are contracts 
that result in a financial asset for one company and a 
financial liability or an equity instrument for another. 
If the trading and settlement dates are different for a 
financial asset, it is first recognised as of the settlement 
date. A financial instrument is initially measured at fair 
value. For measurement purposes, IAS 39 divides finan-
cial assets into these categories:

• Financial instruments recognised at fair value 
through profit or loss

• Financial investments held-to-maturity
• Loans and receivables
• Financial assets available for sale

The group’s financial assets include cash and cash 
equivalents, trade receivables, receivables from loans 
issued, receivables from affiliated companies and 
other financial assets as well as financial assets. The 
Group defines how its financial assets are classified 
when they are first recognised. The Group has not rec-
ognised any financial asset at fair value in profit or 
loss. The Group does not at present use any derivative 
financial instruments as a hedge against, for example, 
interest rate risks.

Financial liabilities, on the other hand, are attributable 
to both categories:

• Financial instruments designated at fair value in 
profit or loss and financial instruments held for 
trade purposes

• Other financial liabilities

The Group defines how its financial liabilities are 
classified when they are first recognised. The Group’s 
financial liabilities comprise trade accounts payable 
and other liabilities, bank overdrafts, compensation 
liabilities to shareholders in general partnerships, 
financial liabilities from silent participations, share-
holder loans and other forms of capital provision, 
loans and financial guarantees. The Group has not 
recognised any financial liabilities at fair value in 
profit or loss.

Depending on how financial instruments are catego-
rised, they are subsequently measured either at fair 
value or at amortised cost using the effective interest 
rate method. Fair value is determined according to the 
following measurement steps:

• Step 1: prices quoted on active markets (and adopted 
without change) for identical assets or liabilities

• Step 2: input factors that are not the quoted prices 
considered in Step 1 but which can be observed either 
directly or indirectly (i.e., as derived from prices) for the 
asset or liability

• Step 3: factors for measuring the asset or liability not 
based on observable market data (non-observable in-
put factors)

At present, all fair values measured for financial instru-
ments are based on information factors and input fac-
tors as described for Step 2 above.

The amortised costs are acquisition costs less repay-
ments, impairments, and the reversal of differences 
between acquisition costs and the amount repayable 
at maturity.

At present, only the categories “loans and receiva-
bles” (abbreviation: “LaR”) and “available for sale” 
(abbreviation: “AfS”) are used for asset-side financial 
instruments, while only the category “financial li-
abilities measured at amortised costs” (abbreviation: 
“FLAC”) is used for liability-side financial instruments. 
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial as-
sets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market. After their initial recogni-
tion, loans and receivables are measured at amortised 
costs using the effective interest rate method less any 
impairments. Gains and losses are included in the net 
income/loss for the period if the loans and receivables 
are derecognised or impaired, or through the amorti-
sation process.

Financial assets available for sale are assets that are 
classified neither as financial assets to be held for trad-
ing nor as financial assets to be held to maturity and 
that are not loans or receivables. After initial recogni-

tion, the asset is measured at fair value – if it can be 
determined reliably – and gains and losses are recog-
nised in a separate item within equity. If fair value can-
not be determined reliably (e.g., for unlisted shares in 
corporations or partnerships), the asset is recognised at 
historical costs. When the asset is disposed of, or in the 
event that an impairment loss is identified, the amount 
previously recognised in equity is recognised in the 
profit and loss statement.

Financial assets available for sale exist at present ex-
clusively in the form of unlisted shares in corporations 
or partnerships. There are no concrete plans at this 
time to sell these investments. No reliable market 
prices were available for these interests on the bal-
ance sheet date.

Impairment tests are conducted regularly for financial 
assets if indications of an impairment loss are appar-
ent. If the Group determines that there is no objective 
indication of impairment for an individually evaluated 
financial asset, whether it is important or not, it will 
include the asset in a group of financial assets with 
comparable default risk profiles and evaluate them 
collectively for impairment. Assets that are evaluated 
individually for impairment and for which a valuation 
allowance is or continues to be recognised are not in-
cluded in a collective impairment evaluation. If there 
are objective indications that an impairment has oc-
curred, the amount of impairment loss is the difference 
between the carrying value of the asset and the pre-
sent value of the expected future cash flow (with the 
exception of expected future loan defaults that have 
not yet occurred). The present value of expected future 
cash flows is discounted with the original interest rate 
in effect for the financial asset. If a loan has a vari-
able interest rate, the discount rate used to measure an 
impairment loss is the current effective interest rate. 
Unless stated otherwise, the fair value of all current 
financial instruments is, because they are current, the 
carrying amounts.
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A financial asset (or a part of a financial asset or a part 
of a group of similar financial assets) is derecognised if 
one of the following conditions is satisfied:

• The contractual rights to receive cash flows from a 
financial asset have expired.

• The Group has transferred its contractual rights 
to receive cash flows from the financial asset to 
third parties, or has assumed a contractual obliga-
tion for immediate payment of the cash flow to a 
third party under an agreement that satisfies the 
requirements of IAS 39.19 (pass-through arrange-
ment) and, in so doing, has either (a) transferred 
mainly all opportunities and risks associated with 
ownership of the financial asset or, (b), though it 
has neither transferred nor retained mainly all op-
portunities and risks associated with ownership of 
the financial asset, has transferred the power of 
disposition over the asset.

A financial liability is derecognised if the obligation 
underlying this liability has been fulfilled, terminated, 
or has expired. If an existing financial liability financial 
liability is exchanged for another financial liability from 
the same lender on substantially different contractual 
terms or the terms of an existing liability are substan-
tially modified, such and exchange or modification is 
treated as the derecognition of the original liability 
and the recognition of a new liability. The difference 
between the carrying amounts is recognised in profit 
or loss.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net 
amount recognised in the balance sheet only if there 
is at the present time a legal right to set off the re-
ported amounts against one another and the inten-
tion is to settle on a net basis or, with the realization 
of the asset concerned, to settle the associated li-
ability. Bank overdrafts are offset against receivables 
from the same bank if the receivables serve as secu-

rity for the liabilities by assignment and the maturity 
dates for the receivables and liabilities are virtually 
identical.

Leases

Leases in which essentially all risks and opportunities 
associated with ownership of an asset are borne by 
the lessor are classified as operating leases. The leas-
ing payments made are recognised directly in profit or 
loss as expenses in the statement of comprehensive 
income. At present there are no finance leases within 
the Group.

Classification of share capital in general 
partnerships

Financial instruments that entitle the holder to repay-
ment of the capital made available to the company 
must, according to IAS 32, be classified as borrowed 
capital. The subsidiaries of ISARIA Wohnbau AG are 
organised in part in the legal form of a general part-
nership whose articles of association cannot bar the 
partners from terminating and thereby obliging the 
company to disburse settlement balances. Compen-
sation liabilities to shareholders in general partner-
ships are recognised at fair value on the addition date 
and then valuated as a financial liability measured at 
acquisition cost (FLAC) over the remaining term such 
that the repayment amount is reached on the settle-
ment date through the effective interest rate. If the 
estimated amount of the liability to these sharehold-
ers in general partnerships changes, the anticipated 
cash flows are discounted by the original effective 
interest and a resulting profit or loss is collected in 
the reporting period with effect for the profit and loss 
statement.

Employee benefits

Contributions to state-run pension funds for defined-
benefit plans for pension insurance are recognised 
as personnel expenses. At present there are no such 
defined-benefit plans at the ISARIA Wohnbau Group.

(5) Consolidation principles

Business combinations (within the meaning of IFRS 3) 
were accounted for using the acquisition method. Ac-
cordingly, the acquisition costs for the acquisition of the 
company were distributed over the acquired, individually 
identifiable assets and liabilities and contingent liabilities 
in line with their fair values on the date of acquisition. A 
remaining positive difference is recognised as goodwill, 
while a negative difference remaining after further review 
is recognised in profit or loss. Incidental acquisition costs 
are recognised as an expense. If shares in businesses 
fully consolidated before or afterwards are acquired or 
sold (business acquisition with a change of status), the 
differences between the purchase price and the carrying 
amount of the net asset acquired or sold are recognised 
directly in equity. The purchase and sale of property 
companies that do not constitute businesses within the 
meaning of IFRS 3 are usually recognised as a direct ac-
quisition or sale of properties (asset deals). In the case of 
step acquisitions, e.g. when there is a transition from an 
associated company to full consolidation as a subsidiary, 
the previously recognised carrying value of the company 
is re-measured as part of the business acquisition costs at 
fair value, and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in 
profit or loss.

Revenues, expenses, and income, along with receivables 
and liabilities between the included companies, are elimi-
nated. Significant provisional results are eliminated.

(6)  Use of estimates and assumptions

As the consolidated financial statements are drawn up, 
the executive board must make estimates and assump-
tions that have an effect on the items in the consoli-
dated financial statements and the notes to the consoli-
dated financial statements. Actual developments may 
diverge from the estimates and assumptions made. The 
important estimates and assumptions are further ex-
plained below.

Goodwill and other intangible assets

With regard to goodwill and other intangible assets, 
assumptions and estimates are required, in particular 
with regard to the future cash flows, returns and capi-
talisation rates.

The carrying amount for all of the intangible assets, 
including goodwill, totalled k€ 8,555 on the balance 
sheet date (previous year: k€ 10,003), broken down 
into goodwill k€ 4,301 (previous year k€ 4,301) and 
other intangible assets k€ 4,254 (previous year 
k€ 5,702).

Properties held for sale and other inventories

Properties held for sale and other inventories are 
recognised at cost or the lower net realisable value. 
Production-related overheads are included in produc-
tion costs. The amortisation of production-related 
overheads attributable to the development process for 
individual projects is subject to estimates and assump-
tions that affect the amount of production costs to be 
included.

Likewise, when net realisable value is determined for 
the purpose of inventory valuation without loss, esti-
mates and assumptions must be made with regard to 
the sales revenues that can be achieved in the normal 
course of business and the production and sales costs 
still expected as of the accounting date. The carrying 
value of the properties held for sale and other invento-
ries is, as of the balance sheet date, k€ 136,439 (previ-
ous year: k€ 126,334).

Investment properties

The fair values of the investment properties were cal-
culated in 2014 using the income method by an inde-
pendent expert, and total k€ 13,828 (previous year: 
k€ 15,425). For measurement purposes, factors that 
have a direct and considerable effect on fair value, such 
as future rent revenues and applicable discount rates, 
must be estimated.
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Significant measurement parameters were, as in the 
previous year, rates of return on property [Liegen-
schaftszinsen, net annual income in relation to the 
sales price of the property] between 3.5 % and 4.5 %, 
maintenance costs between 4.5 % and 8.0 %, manage-
ment costs between 4.0 % and 5.0 %, and a rent default 
risk between 5.0 % and 6.0 %, each in relation to net 
rents. As of the balance sheet date, the carrying value 
of the investment properties amounted to k€ 13,192 
(previous year: k€ 14,699).

Even impairment tests for investment properties meas-
ured at amortised costs make use of estimates of future 
cash flows resulting from the course of business, esti-
mates that affect the recognition and measurement of 
these facts. Moreover, fair values and costs to sell also 
are based on estimates and assumptions.

Based on these assumptions and estimates, in the fiscal 
year a write-down of k€ 1,218 (previous year: write-up 
of k€ 521) was carried for investment properties, as the 
value in use, which was also ascertained in an expert 
opinion, fell short of the carrying amount by the cor-
responding figure. The expenses from the write-down 
(previous year: write-up) is carried under other operat-
ing expenses (previous year: other operating income) 
in the statement of other comprehensive income. 
Segment reporting includes both the income from the 
write-up as well as the impairment losses in the Other 
segment.

Provisions

The process of determining provisions involves consid-
erable use of estimates. The Group forms provisions 
for follow-up costs from orders already billed. These 
estimates may change as a result of new informa-
tion. The Group forms provisions for payments under 
guarantees if the amount or date of such payments is 
uncertain. Other provisions are formed for individual 
risks for which payment dates or amounts are uncer-
tain. Estimates are necessary for the formation of pro-

visions. This applies especially to provisions formed 
for litigation risks. The outcome of litigation is uncer-
tain in many cases. The actual amounts and dates of 
payment may differ from the original estimates. As of 
the balance sheet date of 31 December 2014, the car-
rying amount of the provisions was k€ 6,711 (previous 
year: k€ 4,320).

Compensation liabilities to shareholders in  
general partnerships

Compensation liabilities for limited partnership inter-
ests are measured at fair value by means of a discount-
ed cash flow model using measurement parameters 
derived from market data. For this purpose, estimates 
of and assumptions are made regarding future repay-
ment obligations. The actual amounts and dates of 
payment may differ from the original estimates. The 
carrying amount of non-current compensation liabili-
ties as of the balance sheet date is k€ 84,855 (previ-
ous year: k€ 47,712), the carrying amount of current 
compensation liabilities comes to k€ 9,699 (previous 
year: k€ 10,983).

Revenue recognition

If the Group enters into a commitment to sell goods or 
perform services in addition to constructing real estate 
(for example, selling a parcel of land or buildings still 
under construction or providing management services), 
a test is performed to determine whether such a con-
tract must be divided into individually identifiable parts 
for which, independently of one another, revenue must 
then be recognised. Revenue is then recognised by al-
locating total revenue among the individual parts ac-
cording to the fair value to be assigned to each of these 
parts individually. These fair values must be estimated 
by the Group. No revenues were recognised on this ba-
sis during the fiscal year (previous year: k€ 0).

Income taxes

To form tax provisions, estimates must be made. It also 
must be determined whether a valuation allowance or 

non-recognition is necessary for deferred taxes. One 
must assess the probability that deferred taxes result-
ing from time differences and losses brought forward 
can be set off in the future against taxable profits. 
There are uncertainties regarding the interpretation of 
complex tax rules and the amount and time of future 
taxable income. To assess the issue of whether de-
ferred taxes from tax loss carry-forwards can be used, 
i.e., if these are not impaired, the company’s earnings 
forecasts and tax strategies that can be concretely 
implemented are used. This is based on the four-year 
(previous year: three-year) medium-term forecast. As 
forecasting certainty decreases the further the date of 
realization is in the future, loss carry-forwards that can 
only be used in the period after the first four years 
of the forecast are not applied. In consideration of 
the Company’s earnings track record and the higher 
probability of expected future profits, the forecasting 
horizon for these consolidated financial statements 
was extended from three to four years. On the bal-
ance sheet date of 31 December 2014, the assets from 
current income taxes totaled k€ 1,707 (previous year: 
k€ 77) and liabilities from current income taxes to-
taled k€ 4,237 (previous year: k€ 1,748). Assets from 
deferred taxes totaled k€ 14,758 (previous year: 
k€ 14,112), and liabilities from deferred taxes totaled 
k€ 1,335 (previous year: k€ 1,752).



ISARIA Wohnbau AG Annual Report 2014 ISARIA Wohnbau AG Annual Report 2014124 125

(7) Sales revenue from the sale  
of property units

Sales revenue from the sale of property units can be ap-
portioned among the individual properties as follows:

Sales revenue from the sale of property units

2014
k€

2013
k€

Prinzregentenstrasse property 51,450 0 

vogelweidestrasse property 42,658 0 

Karlsfeld 2 property 24,026 0 

Karlsfeld 1 property 18,847 28,058 

Karlsfeld 3 property 17,179 0 

maistrasse property 741 447 

Willy-Brandt-Allee property 0 3,163 

Other properties 1,694 2,908 

Total 156,594 34,577 

(8) Sales revenue from the lease  
of property units

Sales revenues from the lease of property units in the 
amount of k€ 3,449 (previous year: k€ 3,129) mostly in-
clude income from the rental of investment properties 
in the amount of k€ 642 (previous year: k€ 742) and in-
come from the sub-rental of properties in the amount of 
k€ 2,333 (previous year: k€ 2,138).  

(9) Change in inventories of  
properties held for sale with  
finished or unfinished buildings

Change in inventories of properties held for sale with 
finished or unfinished buildings

2014
k€

2013
k€

Increase in inventories due to 
construction progress 134,704 35,367 

Decrease in inventories 
through sale (124,598) (30,673)

Total 10,105 4,694 

(10) Cost of materials

Cost of materials

2014
k€

2013
k€

Expenses for the sale of 
property units

land costs 67,696 0 

Ancillary costs for  
purchase of land 3,901 0 

Construction costs incl. 
related costs 53,216 26,567 

124,813 26,567 

Expenses for the lease of 
property units 2,822 2,857 

Total 127,635 29,424 

3. Notes to the Consolidated Statement of  
Comprehensive Income

(11) Personnel expenses

Personnel expenses consist of the following:

Personnel expenses

2014
k€

2013
k€

Wages and salaries 6,016 2,708 

Social security contributions 588 297 

Total 6,604 3,005 

The payments to state-run pension funds during the 
financial year 2014 amount to k€ 238 (previous year: 
k€ 129) and are included in the social security contribu-
tions and retirement pensions.

(12) Other operating income

Other operating income consists of the following: 

Other operating income

 
2014

k€
2013

k€

Write-off of liabilities 821 0 

reversal of provisions 275 349 

Compensation payments 152 842 

reversal of impairment adjust-
ments to accounts receivables 30 106 

Gains from the sale of non-
current assets 0 649 

Other income 420 1,596 

Total 1,699 3,543 

(13) Other operating expenses

Other operating expenses consist of the following:

Other operating expenses

2014
k€

2013
k€

legal, consulting and auditing 
expenses 3,444 2,895

Warranty and follow-up expenses 2,776 1,336

Sales commissions and other 
selling expenses 2,503 2,434

Expenses for premises 857 569

Advertising and travelling expenses 822 791

Compensation for loss of use 512 263

Insurances, contributions and other 
charges 337 222

vehicle expenses 222 10

Expenses from allowances for 
doubtful accounts 0 803

Other 1,746 764

Total 13,219 10,086 

(14) Financial income

Financial income consists of the following: 

Financial Income

2014
k€

2013
k€

Financial income of general 
partners 3,329 705 

Financial income from finan-
cial assets 562 80 

Other financial income 137 44 

Total 4,028 829 
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Financial income from financial assets is mostly due 
to interest income from bank balances and loans. The 
financial income from general partners relates to in-
come from the reversal of compensation liabilities to 
shareholders in general partnerships as well as one-off 
effects from fair value adjustments of compensation li-
abilities.

(15) Financial expenses

Financial expenses

2014
k€

2013
k€

Interest and similar expenses 
from financial liabilities 14,031 10,717

Financing costs 1,366 1,985

Interest expenses from provisi-
ons and non-financial liabilities 113 324

Others 116 195

Total 15,626 13,221 

Interest and similar expenses from financial liabilities 
and financing costs mostly include interest paid on fi-
nancial debt and the effects of using the effective inter-
est rate method.

Interest expenses from provisions and non-financial li-
abilities mostly include the effects from valuing long-
term provisions at their present value, and interest on 
non-financial liabilities, such as tax liabilities.

Of the total financial expenses in the amount of 
k€ 15,626 (previous year: k€ 13,221), k€ 14,543 (previ-
ous year: k€ 11,083) have been capitalised as produc-
tion costs under Properties and equivalent rights with 
unfinished or finished buildings. The capitalisation rate 
in each case lies between 2.52 % and 15.0 % (previous 
year: between 1.87 % and 23.0 %).

(16) Result of associates accounted for using 
the equity method

The result from companies accounted for at equity in 
the total amount of k€ 693 (previous year: k€ 1,990) is 
due in full (previous year: k€ 1,990) to the proportion-
ate changes in equity recognised in income during the 
fiscal year for the joint venture companies included at 
equity in the consolidated financial statements. 

(17) Income taxes

The companies included in the consolidated financial 
statements are subject to German corporation tax 
(including the solidarity surcharge) and trade tax de-
pending on their legal form and activities. The amount 
of the income taxes is measured based on the tax-
able income thus measured, or on the trade income 
thus identified. Deferred taxes are calculated based 
on temporary differences between the tax base and 
the carrying amount in the IFRS balance sheet. If it is 
improbable that deferred taxes will be realized, these 
are written down up to the amount of the deferred tax 
liabilities formed for the respective tax subject.

Deferred tax assets on tax loss carryforwards from 
previous years amounting to a total of k€ 14,758 (pre-
vious year k€ 14,112) are recognised at the level of 
different companies. The company’s forecast for the 
fiscal years from 2015 to 2018 provides positive results 
in this regard, which show that the losses carried for-
wards will be used. The company thus believes that it 
is probable that it will realize its tax entitlement. No 
deferred tax assets will be formed on corporation tax 
loss carry-forwards of around € 33 million (previous 
year: around € 55 million) and trade tax loss-carryfor-
wards of around € 19 million (previous year: around 
€ 37 million), as it is not possible to assume with suf-
ficient certainty that these loss carry-forwards can be 
used as a result of the long forecasting period for the 
respective forecasts.

When calculating deferred taxes, as a rule the valid, 
compound tax rate of 32.98 % (previous year: 32.98 %) 
was applied. With regard to One Group, which was ac-
quired as of 31 December 2013, the compound tax rate 
is 32.28 %.

The deferred tax assets and liabilities are the result of 
differences for the following items:

in k€

Deferred tax 
assets
12/31/2014

Deferred tax 
liabilities
12/31/2014

Non-current assets 0 1,652 

Intangible assets 0 1,327 

Investments in associates 
accounted for using the  
equity method

0 325 

Current assets 77 343 

Properties and equivalent 
rights with unfinished buildings 77 343 

Non-current liabilities 0 256 

Compensation liabilities 
to shareholders in general 
partnership

0 186 

Warranty provisions 0 70 

Current liabilities 0 3 

Other liabilities 0 3 

losses brought forward 15,600 0 

Sub-total 15,677 2,254 

thereof non-current 15,600 1,908 

Netting* (919) (919)

Deferred taxes according to 
consolidated balance sheet 14,758 1,335 

in T€

Deferred tax 
assets
12/31/2013

Deferred tax 
liabilities
12/31/2013

Non-current assets 0 1,818 

Intangible assets 0 1,390 

Investments in associates 
accounted for using the  
equity method

0 428 

Current assets 103 1,667 

Properties and equivalent 
rights with unfinished buildings 91 1,667 

Other receivables 12 0 

Non-current liabilities 206 365 

Compensation liabilities 
to shareholders in general 
partnership

206 285 

Warranty provisions 0 80 

losses brought forward 16,201 0 

Sub-total 16,509 3,850 

thereof non-current 16,407 2,183 

Netting* (2,398) (2,398)

Deferred taxes according to 
consolidated balance sheet 14,112 1,453 

Allocation of deferred taxes Allocation of deferred taxes

* According to IAS 12, deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relating to the same 
tax authority are to be netted if they meet certain other conditions.
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The deferred taxes and current expenses for taxes on 
income are as follows for the financial year:

Actual and deferred taxes

2014
k€

2013
k€

Actual tax expenses (+) / tax income (-) 2,790 (179)

Deferred tax expenses (+) / tax income (-) (1,322) (8,338)

Total tax expenses (+) / income (-) 1,468 (8,516)

Current taxes in the consolidated balance sheet are as 
follows: 

Actual taxes in the consolidated balance sheet

12/31/2014
k€

12/31/2013
k€

Current income tax receivables 1,707 77 

Current income tax liabilities 4,237 1,748 

The income tax receivables result in the amount of 
k€ 1,596 from withheld capital gains tax. Actual income 
tax liabilities particularly concern corporate tax liabili-
ties in the amount of k€ 2,020 (previous year k€ 200) 
and corporate tax liabilities in the amount of k€ 1,230 
(previous year k€ 3).

The following table shows the reconciliation of the 
income tax expense expected in the financial year to 
the tax income or tax expense actually recognised. To 
determine the expected tax income, the 32.98 % Group 
tax rate in effect in financial year 2014 is multiplied by 
income before taxes.

Tax rate reconciliation

2014 
k€

2013
k€

Profit/loss before taxes 10,740 (7,433)

Group income tax rate (%) 32.98 % 32.98 %

Expected tax expenses/income 3,542 (2,451)

Tax valuation allowance  
and use of loss carryforwards  
not yet recognised

(2,999) (3,020)

Permanent differences 838 (2,341)

Taxes from previous  
accounting periods 127 (41)

loss deduction (0) (90)

result of associates accounted  
for using the equity method (103) (217)

Fiscal unit for corporate  
tax purposes 86 (97)

Tax rate differences 0 (25)

Other differences (22) (235)

Total tax expenses/revenue 1,468 (8,516)

Effective income tax rate 13.67 % 114.57 %

Tax losses can be carried forward indefinitely.

No deferred taxes were formed in connection with 
shares in subsidiaries. These would normally accrue at 
the rate of 5 %, owing to the 95 % exemption, when 
shares in corporations are sold. At this time the Group 
does not expect a deferred tax liability from the sale of 
shares in subsidiaries. 

 

The intangible assets “customer relations” are amor-
tised over the expected useful life of 3.5 to 9 years.

The goodwill disclosed results from the merger with 
One Group, see also Note 3, and from 01 January 2014 it 
has been allocated to the One Group reporting segment 

for the purposes of impairment testing (as the relevant 
cash-generating unit).

As part of impairment testing, the value in use de-
termined for this segment was higher than the carry-
ing amount. This calculation is based on forecast cash 

4. Notes to the consolidated balance sheet

(18) Intangible assets

in k€

Goodwill Intangible assets 
acquired in conjunc-
tion with business 
combinations

Other intangible 
assets

Total

Costs of acquisition as of 01/01/2013 0 0 537 537 

Additions 0 0 18 18 

Additions as a result of business combinations 4,301 5,278 * 372 9,951 

Disposals 0 0 0 0 

As of 31st December 4,301 5,278 927 10,506

Depreciations as of 01/01/2013 0 0 442 442 

Additions 0 0 62 62 

Disposals 0 0 0 0 

As of 31st December 0 0 504 504 

Net carrying amount as of 12/31/2013 4,301 5,278 424 10,003 

Costs of acquisition as of 01/01/2014 4,301 5,278 927 10,506 

Additions 0 0 19 19 

Disposals 0 0 0 0 

Disposals as a result of business combinations 0 0 (189) (189)

As of 31st December 4,301 5,278 757 10,336 

Depreciations as of 01/01/2014 0 0 504 504 

Additions 0 1,133 144 1,277 

Disposals 0 0 0 0 

As of 31st December 0 1,133 648 1,781 

Net carrying amount as of 12/31/2014 4,301 4,146 109 8,555 

*  The intangible assets acquired in conjunction with business combinations primarily concern customer relations with historical acquisition costs amounting to k€ 4,157. The corresponding 
write-downs in the fiscal year amounted to k€ 954 resulting in a book value of k€ 3,203 as at 31 December 2014.

Intangible assets
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flows, which have been derived from the forecast ap-
proved by management for the next five years, and 
also the empirical figures previously available for One 
Group. The discount rate before tax is 12 % (after tax 
11.5 %) for the detailed forecast phase, and 11 % for 
the long-term planning phase, and reflects the specific 
risks of this cash-generating unit. The discount rate 
was identified using the CAPM model based on current 
market data and estimates. Impairment testing did not 
result in any impairment as of the balance sheet date.

The intangible assets shown are not subject to any 
property restrictions or restraints on disposal. 

(19) Investment properties

Investment properties

2014
k€

2013
k€

Costs of acquisition as  
of 1st January 17,475 18,235 

Additions 0 0 

Disposals 0 760 

As of 31st December 17,475 17,475 

Depreciations and 
impairments as of  
1st January

2,776 3,363 

Additions 288 (587)

Impairment 1,218 0 

As of 31st December 4,283 2,776 

Net carrying amount  
as of 01/01/ 14,699 14,872 

Net carrying amount as of 12/31/ 13,192 14,699 

The accumulated amortisation as at 31 December 2014 
contains cumulated impairment losses of k€ 1,698 
(previous year k€ 479).

Rented apartments and shop units are disclosed in the 
item “Investment properties”. Total rental income of 
k€ 642 (previous year: k€ 741) was recorded in the in-
come for the period. Expenses of k€ 177 (previous year: 
k€ 205) were incurred for maintenance for the rented 
property. Expenses for vacant properties were of minor 
importance, as was also the case in the previous year. 
Impairments in the amount of k€ 1,218 are contained in 
the segment Other.

(20) Property, plant and equipment

Furnitures and fittings

2014
k€

2013
k€

Costs of acquisition  
as of 1st January 1,623 1,411 

Additions 96 83 

Additions as a result  
of business combinations 0 129 

Disposals 0 0 

As of 31st December 1,719 1,623 

Depreciations  
as of 1st January 1,230 1,125 

Additions 140 105 

Disposals (21) 0 

As of 31st December 1,391 1,230 

Net carrying amount  
as of 01/01/ 393 285 

Net carrying amount  
as of 12/31/ 328 393 

  

The property, plant and equipment shown are not 
subject to any property restrictions or restraints on 
disposal. 

(21) Investments in associates

Because of its percentage share in joint ventures, the fol-
lowing values are allocable to the Group:

Attributable values of associates accounted  
for using the equity method

12/31/2014
k€

12/31/2013
k€

Non-current assets 58 34

Current assets 2,137 6,039

Current liabilities 1,909 5,755

Non-current liabilities 29 38

Sales revenue 521 11,091

revenue 9 76

Expenses -165 9,177

As in the previous year, there are no unrecognised pro-
portional losses in the financial year from joint ventures 
carried under equity method accounting. As of the balance 
sheet date, as in the previous year, there are also no ac-
cumulated unrecognised losses. 

The changes in the carrying amounts for joint ventures 
are as follows:

Associates accounted for using the equity method

2014
k€

2013
k€

Costs of acquisition  
as of 01/01/ 2,868 2,807 

Additions 693 1,990 

Disposals 2,521 1,929 

As of 12/31/ 1,040 2,868 

Carrying amount 01/01/ 2,868 2,807 

Carrying amount 12/31/ 1,040 2,868 

The proportional changes in equity in joint ventures 
measured at equity are recognised under additions 
and disposals.

(22) Other investments

The other investments in the amount of k€ 75 (pre-
vious year: k€ 37) relate to shares in non-listed real 
estate companies, generally of 6.0 % of voting rights, 
for which the fair value cannot be reliably determined 
due to the lack of an active market or other informa-
tion which indicates a market value. The investments 
are carried at amortised cost, since a fair value cannot 
be reliably measured for the investments as of the bal-
ance sheet date.

(23) Properties and equivalent rights  
with unfinished buildings

The disclosure relates to the group’s projects under 
construction in the greater Munich region and Ham-
burg and one project at the One Group in Berlin and in 
the Cologne area.

During the reporting period, no impairments were 
recognised (previous year k€ 380); however, impair-
ment reversals in the amount of k€ 519 (previous year 
k€ 1,970) resulting from increased sales prices were 
performed and were each recognised under changes 
in inventories. The carrying amount of these invento-
ries recognised at fair value less costs to sell comes to 
k€ 1,827 (previous year: k€ 6,437) after impairment).

From the inventories, according to the Company’s 
estimates, expected carrying amounts of approxi-
mately € 65 million (31 December 2013: approximately 
€ 52 million) will be realised only after more than 
twelve months.
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(24) Properties and equivalent rights  
with finished buildings

The reported properties and equivalent rights with 
finished buildings pertain to a flat and motor vehicle 
parking spaces in the amount of k€ 640 (previous 
year: k€ 640). 

(25) Accounts receivable from the  
sale of property

Accounts receivable from the sale of property

The valuation allowances for receivables from the sale 
of property have developed as follows:

Development of value adjustments on accounts receivable 
from the sale of property

2014
k€

2013
k€

As of 01/01/ 356 649 

Additions 20 29 

Disposal 0 0 

release 45 322 

As of 12/31/ 331 356 

The book values for the impaired receivables amount-
ed to k€ 331 as at 31 December 2014 (previous year 
k€ 356).

12/31/2014
k€

12/31/2013
k€

Gross value of accounts receiv-
able from property sales 60,279 4,672 

Specific allowances (331) (356)

Total 59,948 4,316 

Analysis of the  
nonimpaired accounts
receivable from the  
sale of property

carrying
amount

neither impaired 
nor overdue 
as of

of which overdue and non-impaired

< 90 days as 90 – 180 days as 180 – 360 days as > 360 days as

k€ k€ k€ k€ k€ k€

Accounts receivable
from the sale of 
property

of 12/31/2014

59,948 59,914 14 19 1 0

of 12/31/2013

Accounts receivable
from the sale of 
property

4,316 4,276 38 0 2 0

The age structure of the receivables from the sale of property is as follows:

As regards receivables from the sale of property that 
are neither impaired nor in default of payment, there 
are as of the balance sheet date no signs indicating that 
the debtors will fail to meet their payment obligations. 
The receivables from the sale of property are to some 
extent secured through bank guarantees. The Group is 
not permitted to sell them without a payment default 
by their owners or to pass them on as security.

As at 31 December 2014, an amount of k€ 6,000 was 
pledged as security for trade payables under recom-
mendations for the sale of properties, which were re-
paid in February 2015.

(26) Other accounts receivable and  
financial assets 

Other accounts receivable and financial assets

12/31/2014
k€

12/31/2013
k€

Prepayments for property purchases 14,523 7,000 

Security deposits 3,153 3,042 

Accounts receivable from the sale 
of shares 1,130 6,311 

Creditors with debit balances 831 1,732 

Accounts receivable from related 
parties 0 1,502 

Accounts receivable from other 
investments 57 517 

Other 2,589 1,995 

Total 22,283 22,098 

Deposits mostly comprise cash deposits provided for 
rental agreements and warranty guarantees.

Other receivables and financial assets include financial 
assets with a total amount of k€ 5,232 (previous year: 
k€ 13,103).

(27) Cash 

Cash

 
12/31/2014

k€

12/31/2013

k€

Bank 42,075 32,299 

Cash in hand 15 4 

Total 42,090 32,303 

The cash comprise bank balances with a remaining ma-
turity of no more than three months together with cash 
on hand.

Cash in the amount of k€ 2,039 (previous year: k€ 806) 
is due to ProReal Deutschland Fonds GmbH & Co. KG, 
ProReal Deutschland Fonds 2 GmbH & Co. KG and Pro-
Real Deutschland Fonds 3 GmbH & Co. KG and the group 
can only avail of these funds for specific projects, as 
these funds were exclusively provided for investments 
in project developments for these fund companies.

In connection with the financing of existing real estate 
holdings and project companies, a credit balance in 
the amount of k€ 2,061 (previous year: k€ 3,756) was 
pledged to the lending banks on 31 December 2014 for 
the duration of the loan agreement. In addition, there 
are further access restrictions for the purpose of secur-
ing guarantees. As of the balance sheet date, the Group 
had free access to k€ 17,003 (previous year: k€ 12,393) 
in liquid funds.

(28) Subscribed capital

Subscribed capital as of 31 December 2014 amounts to 
k€ 23,764 (previous year: k€ 20,764) and was increased 
in 2014 by k€ 3,000. It is divided into 23,764,000 no-par-
value, fully paid-up shares.
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The acquisition of One Group as of 31 December 2014 
was performed as part of a non-cash capital increase 
against the issue of 3,000,000 new shares of ISARIA 
Wohnbau AG from authorised capital. It was entered 
into the commercial register on 11 February 2014. The 
capital increase only becomes legally effective from 
this date. Given this background, the non-cash capital 
for the previous year increase (in the amount of the 
total acquisition costs for One Group of k€ 8,700) was 
disclosed under a separate item under equity on the 
balance sheet date “Deposits made to execute the re-
solved capital increase”.

The regular annual General Meeting of ISARIA Wohnbau 
AG on 23 May 2014 ruled to dissolve existing authorised 
capital for 2012 and to permit the Executive Board of 
the Company to increase the share capital by issuing 
up to 11,882,000 new bearer shares, on one or more 
occasions, against contributions in cash or in kind by 
22 May 2019 with the approval of the Supervisory Board 
(authorised capital 2014).

In addition, the Company’s share capital has been con-
ditionally increased by way of a resolution by the Gen-
eral Meeting on 23 March 2012 by up to k€ 10,382. The 
Managing Board is authorized, with the approval of the 
Supervisory Board, to issue bearer convertible bonds or 
bonds with warrants or a combination of these instru-
ments up to 22 March 2017, with a total amount of up to 
k€ 100,000 with or without a limited term, for a total of 
up to 10,382,000 bearer shares of ISARIA Wohnbau AG 
(Conditional Capital 2012).

The shareholders generally have a subscription right. 
However, the Executive Board is authorised to exclude 
the subscription right of the shareholders with the con-
sent of the Supervisory Board following further specifi-
cation of the proposed resolution published in the Ger-
man Federal Gazette under agenda item 6 along with 
the invitation to the General Meeting of the Company 
on 15 April 2014.

The corresponding amendment to the Articles of Asso-
ciation on 13 June 2014 was entered in the commercial 
register of the District Court of Munich (HRB 187909).

The addition to the reserves in the amount of k€ 5,700 
for the 2014 fiscal year results from the capital increase 
in connection with the One Group contribution in kind.

(29) Compensation liabilities to shareholders 
in general partnerships

Altogether, short- and long-term compensation liabili-
ties to shareholders in general partnerships comprise 
the following as of the balance sheet date:

Compensation liabilities to shareholders  
in general partnership

12/31/2014
k€

12/31/2013
k€

liabilities to general partners of 
the Proreal Deutschland Fonds 92,616 47,712 

liabilities to general partners  
of the JK Wohnbau Fonds I  
Beteiligungs Gmbh & Co. KG

1,938 10,976 

Other 0 8 

Total 94,554 58,696 

The liabilities to the limited partners of ProReal 
Deutschland Fonds GmbH & Co. KG, ProReal Deutschland 
Fonds 2 GmbH & Co. KG and ProReal Deutschland Fonds 
3 GmbH & Co. KG are limited partners’ interests by fund 
investors in the form of participating interests granted 
to project companies. The liabilities to the limited 
partners of JK Wohnbau Fonds I Beteiligungs GmbH & 
Co. KG concern the limited partners’ interests of the 
fund investors in the form of an atypical silent part-
nership holding in project companies. As at 30 June 
2014, the last contributions were repaid to the inves-
tors of JK Fonds I. As a result, a total of € 38 million 

was fully repaid to JK Fonds I in accordance with the 
prospectus over the last 2 years. The liability displayed 
as at 31 December 2014 concerns the profit distribution 
resolved by the General Meeting of 16 December 2014, 
which was paid out to the fund investors on 28 Febru-
ary 2015.

The residual maturities of the compensation liabilities 
to shareholders in general partnerships are as follows:

Financial liabilities

remaining 
term

< 1 year

remaining 
term

1 – 5 years

remaining 
term

> 5 years

k€ k€ k€ k€

Compensation  
liabilities to  
shareholders in  
general partnership

12/31/2014

94,554 9,699 84,855 0 

Compensation  
liabilities to  
shareholders in  
general partnership

12/31/2013

58,696 10,983 47,712 0 

(30) Financial liabilities from silent 
participations, shareholder loans and 
other forms of capital provision

Altogether, current and non-current financial liabilities 
from silent participations, shareholder loans, and other 
forms of capital provision comprise the following:

Financial liabilities from silent participations, shareholder 
loans and other forms of capital provision

12/31/2014
k€

12/31/2013
k€

STrATOS mezzanine Fonds der  
hANSAINvEST, Wollerau/ Schweiz 25,300 43,929 

Corporate bond 10,000 0 

little rock Business Corp., Panama 
City / republic of Panama 0 3,500 

Other 18 18 

Total 35,318 47,447 

The recognised financial liabilities relate above all to 
property-related financing. All liabilities are allocated 
exclusively to the “other financial liabilities” category. 
The interest rates for the recognised financial liabili-
ties lie between 8.0 % and 15.0 % (previous year: be-
tween 8.0 % and 23.0 %). 

The residual maturity of the financial liabilities from si-
lent participations, shareholder loans, and other forms 
of capital provision is as follows:
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Financial liabilities

remaining 
term

< 1 year

remaining 
term

1 – 5 years

remaining 
term

> 5 years

k€ k€ k€ k€

Financial liabilities 
from silent participa-
tions, shareholder
loans and other forms 
of capital provision

12/31/2014

35,318 35,318 0 0 

Financial liabilities 
from silent participa-
tions, shareholder
loans and other forms 
of capital provision

12/31/2013

47,447 47,447 0 0 

(31) Financial liabilities to banks

Altogether, the current and non-current financial liabili-
ties to banks have the following residual maturities:

Financial liabilities

remaining 
term

< 1 year

remaining 
term

1 – 5 years 

remaining 
term

> 5 years

k€ k€ k€ k€

Financial liabilities  
to banks

12/31/2014

59,735 33,173 19,496 7,065 

Financial liabilities 
to banks

12/31/2013

27,637 12,282 7,199 8,156 

The current financial liabilities to banks are mainly for 
property-related project development plans. The non-
current financial liabilities are, as of the balance sheet 
date, largely for financing investment properties. 

On the balance sheet date the Group has access to un-
used credit lines in the amount of k€ 7,709 (previous 

year: k€ 1,874) earmarked for project development. The 
Group pays no commitment fee for unused credit lines. 
The interest rate for credit lines when used is between 
2.71 % and 6.0 % (previous year: between 2,71 % and 
6.0 %) for the fixed-rate loans or, for one variable-rate 
loan, the Euribor reference interest rate plus 2.5 % (pre-
vious year: Euribor plus 2.6 %).

Assets with the following net carrying amounts were 
pledged as collateral for the Group’s existing financial 
liabilities to banks: 

Assets pledged as collateral 

12/31/2014
k€

12/31/2013
k€

Secured financial liabilities  
to banks 41,530 22,152

Net carrying amount of the 
mortgaged inventories 51,422 45,050

Net carrying amount of the  
mortgaged investment properties 13,192 14,699

The assets pledged as collateral can be realised by the 
lenders if the Group fails to meet its interest and princi-
pal obligations on its financial liabilities.

(32) Other liabilities

The other current liabilities comprise the following:

Other liabilities

12/31/2014
k€

12/31/2013
k€

loan to a project company 4,723 0 

Taxes and duties 806 1,972 

Accrued interests 300 2,797 

Sales tax liabilities 38 710 

Other liabilities 2,138 4,440 

Total 8,006 9,919 

The other current liabilities include financial liabilities 
in the amount of k€ 6,314 (previous year: k€ 5,572). The 
remaining term of the other liabilities was less than one 
year, as was the case in the previous year.

(33) Trade accounts payable

The trade payables due within one year amount to 
k€ 28,445 (previous year: k€ 15,127) as of the balance 
sheet date.

(34) Liabilities from payments made  
on account

The liabilities from payments made on account pertain 
to down payments by buyers for residential units not 
yet handed over. As of 31 December 2014 there were 
liabilities in the amount of k€ 39,171 (previous year: 
k€ 46,988).

(35) Other provisions

Altogether, other short- and long-term provisions have 
developed as follows:

Other provisions

in k€
Warranties Other  

provisions
Total

As of 01/01/2014 2,378 1,942 4,320 

Additions 1,083 3,162 4,245 

Consumption 0 1,508 1,508 

reversal 275 0 275 

Interest effects (56) (14) (70)

As of 31/12/2014 3,129 3,582 6,711 

Thereof current 310 3,582 3,892 

Thereof non-current 2,819 0 2,819 

Provisions for warranty claims are formed on the ba-
sis of past loss experience or estimated future losses. 
There are no guarantee or warranty liabilities that ex-
ceed customary guarantee or warranty liabilities. The 
other provisions include for the most part provisions 
for litigation risks. Any potential claims for reimburse-
ment were not recognised in the balance sheet as it 
was not possible to reliably estimate the outcome of 
current processes on 31 December 2014.



ISARIA Wohnbau AG Annual Report 2014138 139

(36) Consolidated cash flow statement

The cash flow statement shows how the Group’s 
cash has changed in the course of the year under 
review through inflows and outflows of funds. In 
conformance with IAS 7, “Statement of cash flows”, 
a distinction is made between cash flows from 

current business activities, investment activities, 
and financing activities. The cash in the cash flow 
statement exclusively comprises the freely avail-
able cash. If this is added to the cash with restricted 
availability in the amount of k€ 25,087 (previous 
year: k€ 19,910), this results in the cash disclosed on 
the balance sheet. 

5.  Notes to the consolidated cash flow statement

At the balance sheet date the ISARIA Wohnbau Group 
comprises three segments: New Developments, Revi-
talisation, One Group and Other. The segments differ in 
their service profiles and their target customer groups. 
Transactions between segments are recognised accord-
ing to IFRS accounting principles. The activities of the 
JK Wohnbau Group are limited to the greater Munich 
area, and geographical segmentation is considered un-
necessary for that reason. The business activities of the 
segments may be summarised as follows:

•  The service profile of the New Construction segment 
ranges from acquiring, purchasing and, if necessary, 
clearing land to the subsequent planning and de-
velopment of the project and its realisation through 
construction to dividing up the structure in accord-
ance with the German Condominium Act (Wohnung-
seigentumsgesetz) and selling the apartments and 
buildings to private and institutional buyers. This 
segment is the typical property development busi-
ness for new properties.

• The Revitalization segment includes spans acquisi-
tions of existing properties, the subsequent plan-
ning and realization, and in some cases expansion 
if required (e.g., by adding additional stories) for 
these properties, through to breaking up and sell-
ing the apartments to private buyers as owner-
occupiers or as a capital investment, and also to 
institutional investors. In this segment, so-called 
privatization, or the break-up of existing residential 
properties into residential units with the renovated 
or existing units then being sold, is not further pur-
sued. Instead, now only existing vacant commercial 
properties are converted to residential properties, 
preferentially using the APP.ARTMENTS brand.

• As a result of the first-time consolidation of One 
Group as of 31 December 2013, the income and 
expenses for this sub-group have been included in 
ISARIA Wohnbau AG’s consolidated financial state-

ments from 01 January 2014. One Group will form 
a material part of the overall group in future, and is 
included in the new One Group segment. This seg-
ment exclusively shows the success of the business 
activities for the One Group sub-group.

• The Other segment mostly includes rental income 
from real estate.

The revenues and segment results for financial years 
2014 and 2013 break down as follows:

6. Segment Reporting
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in k€ New  
Construction

revitalisa-
tion

One Group Other Consolidation/
reconciliation

Group 

Sales revenue – external

01/01/ - 12/31/2014 112,429 44,633 176 2,987 0 160,224

01/01/ - 12/31/2013 32,912 1,914 0 2,879 0 37,705

Sales revenue – internal

01/01/ - 12/31/2014 0 0 272 0 -272 0

01/01/ - 12/31/2013 0 0 0 0 0 0

Change in inventories

01/01/ - 12/31/2014 -166 875 9,396 0 0 10,105

01/01/ - 12/31/2013 -345 5.039 0 0 0 4,694

Gross profit

01/01/ - 12/31/2014 112,263 45,507 9,843 2,987 -272 170,329

01/01/ - 12/31/2013 32,567 6,953 0 2,879 0 42,400

Depreciations

01/01/ - 12/31/2014 -125 0 -1,286 -1,514 0 -2,925

01/01/ - 12/31/2013 -160 0 0 -298 0 -458

EBIT

01/01/ - 12/31/2014 22,279 5,061 -4,383 -1,312 0 21,644

01/01/ - 12/31/2013 673 1.370 0 926 0 2.970

Financial income

01/01/ - 12/31/2014 321 110 9,786 3 -6,191 4,028

01/01/ - 12/31/2013 979 5 0 2 -158 829

Financial expenses

01/01/ - 12/31/2014 -9,965 -5,010 -6,424 -418 6,191 -15,626

01/01/ - 12/31/2013 -9,569 -2,879 0 -931 158 -13,221

result of associates accounted for using the equity method

01/01/ - 12/31/2014 693 0 0 0 0 693

01/01/ - 12/31/2013 1,990 0 0 0 0 1,990

Income tax expenses (-) / income (+)

01/01/ - 12/31/2014 -2,915 624 822 0 0 -1,468

01/01/ - 12/31/2013 8,046 63 0 407 0 8,516

result after taxes on income

01/01/ - 12/31/2014 10,414 785 -199 -1,728 0 9,272

01/01/ - 12/31/2013 2,119 -1,440 0 405 0 1,084

valuation allowances (-) / write-ups (+) on inventories and receivables

01/01/ - 12/31/2014 -381 925 0 0 0 545

01/01/ - 12/31/2013 -86 1,970 0 0 0 1,884

Segment reporting

In the New Construction segment, the Group generated revenues of k€ 51,450 with one customer, which was more 
than 10 % of total revenues.

7. Other Notes

(37) Contingent liabilities and other  
financial liabilities

The Managing Board has formed provisions of a suf-
ficient amount for risks from litigation and tax risks, 
to the extent that these can be recognized. In total, 
provisions for litigation risks were formed in the 
amount of around € 2.3 million (previous year: around 
€ 1.5 million). A further € 0.7 million (previous year 
€ 1.5 million) were already considered in this regard in 
trade payables. The maximum expected risk is around 
€ 5.4 million (previous year: around € 9.7 million). 
However, the company does not expect to be held li-
able for an amount in excess of the amount of the 
provisions formed.

As of 31 December 2014 there were significant finan-
cial obligations in connection with property acquisi-
tions that had not yet been completed in the amount 
of k€ 25,650 (previous year: k€ 21,000). The due dates 
for these remaining purchase price instalments depend 
on conditions for which their occurrence depends on 
reaching certain development stages under construc-
tion law. According to the Company’s estimation, the 
next instalment of the purchase price in the amount 
of k€ 14,000 is due at the end of 2015; however, it is 
not expected of the remaining development stages to 
become due until mid-2016.

In addition, there is a financial liability from a pur-
chase price increase for a plot of land already acquired 
in the amount of k€ 2,500 (previous year: k€ 2,500), 
which will become due when the new development 
plan is presented. This is not expected to become due 
before the end of 2016.

The financial liabilities resulting from purchase prices, 
which were displayed on the balance sheet date of 
31 December 2013 and which amount to k€ 63, result-
ing from documented, but not yet executed acquisi-
tions of real-estate companies were paid in full in the 

2014 fiscal year. Real-estate financing of approximately 
€ 40 million (book values as at 31 December 2014) will 
be secured when the remaining real-estate companies 
are acquired as is expected in the 2015 fiscal year.

(38) Notes on leasing agreements

Sale-and-lease-back transactions

Under a contract dated 21 December 2011, the Schiller-
strasse property was sold to an institutional investor. 
Under the terms of the sale, the ISARIA Wohnbau Group 
agreed to lease back the property for a period of five 
years at a contractually agreed rent and to sublease it 
itself. The buyer also has the option to extend this blan-
ket lease by another five years. The ISARIA Wohnbau 
Group lets the property on its own account through a 
project company set up for the purpose, thus acting 
under this arrangement as both lessee and lessor. 
The blanket lease entered into on usual market terms 
is classifiable as an operating leasing agreement. The 
resulting fixed lease obligations and rental income are 
included in the tables presented below pertaining to 
the leasing agreements.

The Group as lessee

The group’s obligations from non-terminable leas-
ing agreements relate to rented office premises and 
other operating and office equipment, in addition to 
the general rental agreement already mentioned. The 
expenses from operating leases recognized in income 
through profit and loss totaled k€ 2,670 (previous 
year: k€ 2,608) in the year under review. Of this total 
k€ 2,050 (previous year: k€ 2,010) is due to a sub-rental 
(general rental agreement)

Non-terminable operating leasing agreements give rise 
to the following future obligations:
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minimum lease payments

12/31/2014
k€

12/31/2013
k€

Due date within one year 2,922 2,672

Due date in between one  
and five years 3,471 5,866

Due date after more than  
five years 0 0

Total 6,393 8,538

If the purchaser of the Schillerstrasse property uses his 
extension option for the general rental agreement for 
a further five years, the total minimum leasing pay-
ments will increase by k€ 11,417 to k€ 17,295. In this 
case, the group would have the right to sub-let for a 
further five years.

The Group as lessor

The Group acts as lessor in operating leasing arrange-
ments. Such action consists mainly in letting residential 
and retail units in rented real estate held for investment 

purposes. The Group expects the following payments in 
the next years under non-terminable leasing and lease 
agreements:

minimum lease payments

12/31/2014
k€

12/31/2013
k€

Due date within one year 1,012 1,050

Due date in between one  
and five years 146 246

Due date after more than  
five years 0 0

Total 1,158 1,296

(39) Additional notes concerning  
financial instruments

The following table shows by measurement category 
according to IAS 39 the carrying amounts and fair val-
ues for the financial assets and liabilities recognised in 
the consolidated financial statements:

Assessment
category as
per IAS 39

12/31/2014
Carrying
amount

12/31/2014
Fair value

12/31/2013
Carrying
amount

12/31/2013
Fair value

Assets in k€

Financial assets – Other investments AfS 75 n/a 37 n/a

Accounts receivable from the sale of property lar 59,948 59,948 4,316 4,316

Other accounts receivable and financial assets lar 5,232 5,232 13,103 13,103

Cash and cash equivalents lar 42,090 42,090 32,303 32,303

liabilities in k€

Compensation liabilities to shareholders in  
general partnership FlAC 94,554 100,266 58,696 58,696

Financial liabilities from silent participations, share-
holder loans and other forms of capital provision FlAC 35,318 35,318 47,447 48,149

Financial liabilities to banks FlAC 59,735 59,873 27,637 27,797

Trade accounts payable FlAC 28,445 28,445 15,127 15,127

Other financial liabilities FlAC 5,037 5,037 5,572 5,572

Carrying amounts and fair values 

IFRS 7.25 requires that, for each class of financial in-
strument, a fair value be disclosed in way that allows 
com-parison with the corresponding carrying amount. 
The following notes deal with, in particular, how fair 
values are measured for financial instruments that are 
not to be recognised in the balance sheet at fair value 
but for which, according to IFRS 7, a fair value must be 
stated in addition.

• Cash and cash equivalents, trade accounts receivable 
and payable, and other receivables and liabilities 
have for the most part short maturities, for which 
reason their carrying amounts as of the balance sheet 
date are approximately equal to their fair values. 

• For variable interest rate loans, assuming no change 
in creditworthiness, market value comparisons are 
omitted because of the regular adjusting of the in-
terest rate on the loan to market values. An explicit 
disclosure is omitted also in the case of fixed interest 
rate loans with short-term maturities, since in this 
case the carrying amount represents an approxima-

tion of the market value. For fixed interest rate loans 
with long-term maturities, if there are significant 
differences from the carrying amount, a fair value 
is calculated for comparison. The current interest 
parameters and individual credit standings are ac-
counted for in the form of prevailing creditworthi-
ness or liquidity spreads.

• The financial liabilities from silent participations, 
shareholder loans and other forms of capital provi-
sion consist primarily of liabilities from atypically si-
lent and typically silent participations, of debentures 
in the form of subordinate notes, and of loans for 
individual property companies. For these liabilities 
the Company prepared a market value comparison 
and calculated differences to the carrying amount on 
this basis.

• Compensation liabilities to shareholders in general 
partnerships primarily concern liabilities towards lim-
ited partners of the ProReal Deutschland Fonds 2 and 3.

from interest from subsequent assessment from disposal Net result

Changes in  
fair values

Impairment

2014 k€ 2013 k€ 2014 k€ 2013 k€ 2014 k€ 2013 k€ 2014 k€ 2013 k€ 2014 k€ 2013 k€

Financial assets available 
for sale (AfS) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

loans and accounts  
receivable (lar) 562 80 0 0 0 -803 -44 106 518 -616

Financial liabilities  
measured at
amortised costs (FlAC)

-15,513 -12,705 3,216 -102 0 0 0 0 -12,297 -12,807

Total -14,951 -12,625 3,216 -102 0 -803 -44 106 -11,779 -13,423

Net income from financial instruments per measurement category
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Net income from financial instruments

Net income by measurement category is as follows:

Net income or net losses from loans and accounts re-
ceivable comprise changes in valuation allowances, 
profits or losses from derecognition, cash receipts, and 
reversals of impairment losses from loans and receiva-
bles originally written off. In the period under review, as 
in the previous year, no interest income was collected 
from written-down trade receivables.

(40) Group risk management

The risk management system for the ISARIA Wohnbau 
Group is an integral component of the ISARIA Wohnbau 
Group’s business practice, and spans the individual or-
ganisational workflows at various levels and all types 
of risk. Business forecasting and controlling processes 
are a major component. All organizational units perform 
risk identification and evaluation tasks. Risks with simi-
lar content are grouped together to form risk types, for 
example risks in the regulatory environment, financial 
risks, technical risks, or project risks. These are then 
communicated regularly to the responsible decision-
maker, who controls the risks.

Macroeconomic risks

Given the regional focus of the Group’s business opera-
tions, the economic situation in Germany and in the real 
estate market in Munich and Hamburg are extremely 
important for the Group. Inherent in the domestic econ-
omy are risks resulting from the legal and tax regimes, 
interest rate levels, the general direction of prices, and 
supply and demand trends in the rental and real estate 
market. The Group has no control over these factors. It 
can only anticipate and adjust to them.

Financial risk management

The Group is exposed to various financial risks, which 
result from the group’s operating and financial activi-
ties. The most important financial risks result from the 

creditworthiness and ability to pay on the part of the 
group’s counterparties, from the liquidity risk and from 
changes in interest rates. The Managing Board defines 
the basic features of the financial policy and these 
are monitored by the Supervisory Board. The Group’s 
Controlling Department is responsible for implement-
ing the financial policy and ongoing risk management. 
Certain transactions require the prior approval of the 
Managing or Supervisory Board, who are also informed 
on a regular basis of the scope and amount of the cur-
rent risks.

Credit risk (default risk)

Credit risks arise from the possibility that counterpar-
ties to a transaction are unable to satisfy their obliga-
tions and that the Group will incur a financial loss as 
a result. The maximum credit risk (default risk), disre-
garding netting agreements and any additional secu-
rity or other credit enhancements, is equivalent to no 
more than the carrying amount of the Group’s financial 
assets plus the contingent liabilities already described. 
The Group allows for credit risk by recognising impair-
ments accordingly. As a rule, credit risk is reduced 
through diversification, which is achieved through a 
large number of debtors. Credit risk is further lessened 
by collecting down payments from buyers.

On a historical basis, the Company does not consider the 
risk of bad debt loss to be great. Impairment provisions 
are recognised for doubtful debts. In the case of uncol-
lectible accounts, they are written off completely. Trade 
receivables, which, within the Group, relate mainly to 
receivables from property sales, are subject to active 
risk management with a focus on current receivables. 
The objective of receivables management is to improve 
the Group’s liquidity through an optimised use of assets 
while an acceptable risk level is maintained. The danger 
of risk concentrations may be considered low, since, as 
a rule, most of the trade receivables are from buyers of 
residential units. These receivables are characterised by 
a larger number of distinct debtors.

Liquidity risks

Liquidity risks occur when short-term financial liabili-
ties exceed short-term financial assets. Liquidity risk is 
controlled with the use of Group-wide financial plan-
ning tools and is tracked continuously.

In industry-specific terms, property developer financ-
ing is generally only granted with short terms of a few 
months, although the terms of the project develop-
ments and construction activities are substantially 
longer. As a result of this risk-averse behavior by lend-
ers, financing generally has to be prolonged during an 
activity. Lenders use factors such as industry experi-
ence by the project developer and trust in the projects 
under development when making their decisions to 
extend this financing. The general situation on the 
market and the forecast development continue to play 
a role in prolonging the financing.

In acquiring the One Group at the end of 2013, ISARIA 
Wohnbau now has its own financing platform. As a 
result, financial risks have been significantly reduced 
in many respects. A wide range of complex financial 
instruments were therefore replaced with a uniform 
structure. Inflows are now both reliable and calcula-
ble. The costs are in part also significantly below other 
engagements to date. The Company expects that the 
pending prolongations and projects under develop-
ment can be completely financed with the funds al-
ready available through this platform as well as other 
funds raised in 2015 in connection with the creation of 
another closed Alternative Investment Fund (AIF) and 
that general liquidity will be secured. Current liquidity 
planning therefore only accounts for bonds amounting 
to approximately € 5.3 million being renewed. Fur-
thermore, the complete repayment/ restructuring of 
high-interest Mezzanine financing up to an amount of 
€ 25.3 million is planned. Funds obtained from the One 
Group must be repaid, initially in part, to the inves-
tors no later than 2017. Liquidity planning stipulates 
that new funds will be raised on a revolving basis and 

that therefore project financing will remain at a cer-
tain level over the long term. In this respect, there are 
risks associated with the general development of the 
market and interest rates.

The primary outflows of liquidity are attributed to 
the current liabilities of the ISARIA Wohnbau group, 
costs of financing, the scheduled distributions to 
the shareholders of the ProReal Deutschland Fonds, 
the scheduled repayment of the Mezzanine capital 
and the 2014/2015 corporate bond in the amount of 
€ 10.0 million. Inflows of liquidity are, in particular, 
expected from funds raised by the One Group ( ProReal 
Deutschland Fonds series), the payment of the pur-
chase price from the sale of a completed project de-
velopment in the amount of € 51.5 million and sched-
uled handovers from the project companies. In order 
to finance further acquisitions (of property) it is also 
thinkable to issue a new corporate bond. All bonds and 
loans maturing in the 2014 fiscal year and loans were 
redeemed or extended.

The following table shows the contractually agreed or 
expected (undiscounted) interest and principal pay-
ments on the Group’s primary financial obligations. 
The figures in the table represent undiscounted pay-
ment flows. The interest payments on financial in-
struments with variable interest rates are based on 
the current interest rate as of the balance sheet date. 
Included were all instruments held as of 31 Decem-
ber 2012 and for which payments had already been 
contractually agreed. Not included are projected fig-
ures for new, future liabilities. Financial liabilities that 
are repayable at any time are always allocated to the 
earliest time period.

In addition to the interest and principal payments shown 
here for the primary financial liabilities, there are also 
the potential payment obligations resulting from con-
tingent liabilities as described above in subs. 37.
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in k€

12/31/2014 Cash flows 2015 Cash flows 2016 – 2019 Cash flows > 2020

carrying 
amount

Interest
fix

Interest
variable

repay-
ment

Interest
fix

Interest
variable

repay-
ment

Interest
fix

Interest
variable

repay-
ment

Compensation liabilities 
to shareholders in general 
partnership

94,554 9,699 0 0 26,565 0 92,616 0 0 0 

Financial liabilities from silent 
participations, shareholder  
loans and other forms of 
capital provision

35,318 3,484 0 35,318 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Financial liabilities to banks 59,735 323 544 14,817 1,192 61 5,454 3,033 0 7,065 

liabilities to related companies 
and associates 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Other financial liabilities 5,037 0 0 5,037 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Total 194,643 13,506 544 55,172 27,757 61 98,070 3,033 0 7,065 

Contractually agreed interest payments and repayments of the originary financial liabilities

Contractually agreed interest payments and repayments of the originary financial liabilities

in k€

12/31/2013 Cash flows 2014 Cash flows 2015 – 2018 Cash flows > 2019

carrying 
amount

Interest
fix

Interest
variable

repay-
ment

Interest
fix

Interest
variable

repay-
ment

Interest
fix

Interest
variable

repay-
ment

Compensation liabilities 
to shareholders in general 
partnership

58,696 5,695 0 13,178 10,492 0 31,422 2,185 0 17,563 

Financial liabilities from silent 
participations, shareholder  
loans and other forms of 
capital provision

47,447 6,600 0 47,446 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Financial liabilities to banks 27,637 344 540 9,530 1,233 145 11,632 3,317 0 6,475 

liabilities to related companies 
and associates 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Other financial liabilities 5,572 0 0 5,572 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Total 139,351 12,638 540 75,727 11,725 145 43,054 5,502 0 24,038 

Market risk (interest rate risk)

A market risk results from changes in the market price 
of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities. A market 
risk can have an impact on both the Group’s financial 
results and its equity. To disclose market risks, IFRS 
7 calls for sensitivity analyses that show the effects 
of hypothetical changes in relevant risk variables on 
income and equity.

The Group is not subject to any foreign exchange risks, 
since all of the Group’s business is transacted in euros. 
The Group is subject, however, to the risks inherent in 
changing interest rates. The periodic effects are de-
termined by applying the hypothetical changes in risk 
variables to the financial instruments held as of the 
balance sheet date. It is assumed that the financial 
instruments held as of the balance sheet date are rep-
resentative of the entire year.

Interest rate risks result from interest rate changes, 
which can have negative effects on the Group’s finan-
cial results and its equity. Interest rate fluctuations 
may result in changes in interest income and interest 
expense. Moreover, the market prices of certain finan-
cial assets and liabilities can be affected.

The company is not exposed to market price changes 
resulting from interest risks, as these normally occur 
only in the case of fixed-rate loans, which are not 
measured at fair value. For fixed-rate financial in-
struments that are not recognised at fair value, the 
Company therefore omits a disclosure of market price 
sensitivity.

Sensitivity analyses disclose the effects that changes 
in market interest rates have on interest payments, 
interest income and expense, other components of 
profit or loss, or, as the case may be, on equity. The 
interest sensitivity analyses are based on the follow-
ing underlying assumptions:

• Changes in market interest rates for primary fixed-
rate financial instruments affect income only when 
those instruments are measured at fair value. Ac-
cordingly, no fixed-rate financial instruments meas-
ured at amortised costs are subject to any interest 
rate change risks within the meaning of IFRS 7.

• Changes in market interest rates affect interest 
income on primary, variable-rate financial instru-
ments; accordingly, they also are factored in when 
income-related sensitivities are calculated.

A substantial portion of the ISARIA Wohnbau Group’s 
loans are fixed-rate. For fixed-rate loans, banks can con-
tractually grant the option of adjusting the interest rate 
to changes in general conditions, in which case the inter-
est rate is not to be understood as a variable rate, since 
that would constitute a change in the terms of the loan 
and not a regular, non-contingent, immediate, prime-rate 
dependant interest rate change. A change in the market 
interest level therefore affects only variable-rate loans. 
Taking into account the four (previous year: two) loan con-
tractually defined as variable-rate, a basis point shift of 
± 100 basis points per annum was calculated in relation 
the carrying amount (cf. subs. 31, Financial liabilities to 
banks). A hypothetically resulting effect on the statement 
of comprehensive income would amount in each instance 
to k€ 381 (previous year: k€ 102). Loans to associate com-
panies recognised at equity were not considered.

Capital

As a joint stock corporation, the Company is subject to 
the minimum capital requirements according to German 
stock corporation law. The Group is subject also to the 
customary and industry-specific minimum capital re-
quirements for the banking industry, particularly when 
it comes to financing specific real properties. These 
minimum capital requirements are regularly monitored, 
and they were met during the financial year, as they 
were in the previous year.
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The Group defines its managed capital as group equity. 
The objectives of its capital management are:

•  The ability to ensure the Group’s continued operation 
so that it may continue to offer residential properties to 
customers and income to investors.

•  To have the financial resources that enable the Group 
to invest in areas that can generate income for inves-
tors that is commensurate with the risks incurred.

Capital is monitored with the help of the equity ratio and 
net financial liabilities. These measure as follows:

Capital management

12/31/2014
k€

12/31/2013
k€

Compensation liabilities  
to shareholders in  
general partnership

94,554 58,696

Financial liabilities 95,053 75,083

Trade accounts payable  
and other financial liabilities 33,482 20,699

less cash funds -42,090 -32,303

Net financial liabilities 180,997 122,175

Equity 22,905 13,606

Equity and net  
financial liabilities 203,902 135,781

Equity ratio 7.6 % 6.0 %

(41) Transactions with related companies 
and persons

Companies and persons are “related parties” within 
the meaning of IAS 24 when one of the parties has, 
directly or indirectly, the ability to control or signifi-
cantly influence the other party.

Joint Ventures

Identified as related parties were, first, the following 
joint ventures included in the consolidated financial 
statements according to the equity method (appearing 
as “JK COR” companies in the following list):

• JK-COR Wohnbauentwicklung GmbH
• JK-COR Wohnbauentwicklung GmbH & Co. Wilhelm-

Hale-Strasse 35 KG
• JK-COR Wohnbauentwicklung GmbH & Co. Wilhelm-

Hale-Strasse 45 KG

Companies under the significant influence of a 
major shareholder

In 2014, no companies, which a major shareholder was 
able to significantly influence during the period under 
review, were identified as related parties. 

Relates Parties in Key Positions

The members of the Managing and Supervisory Boards 
are regarded as being related parties. These were as 
follows in fiscal year 2014:

related Persons in Key Positions

management board

michael haupt, CEO

Christian Dunkelberg, COO

Jan von lewinski, COO (since 01 January 2014)

Supervisory board

Prof. Dr. raimund Baumann (Chairman)

robert unger (Deputy Chairman)

michael Kranich

The executive board members belong to no other con-
trolling bodies. The supervisory board members are 
members in the following other controlling bodies:

JK-COR companies

Income with the JK-COR companies in the amount of 
k€ 693 (previous year: k€ 1,990) is related mainly to the 
share of net income contained in the financial results.

Executive Board and Supervisory board 

Total remuneration for the members of the Executive 
Board amounted to k€ 1,924 (previous year: k€ 746). 
Remuneration for the individual members of the Execu-
tive board was as follows in the respective fiscal years: 

Herr Prof. Dr. Raimund Baumann, lawyer and Tax 
Adviser, Stuttgart

• MBS AG – chairman of the executive board
• LMT GmbH & Co. KG – chairman of the executive board 
•  Seibt & Kapp Maschinenfabrik GmbH & Co. KG – advi-

sory board
• Jessen Holding GmbH & Co. KG – advisory board

Herr Robert Unger, lawyer, Berlin 

• no further mandats

Herr Michael Kranich, Executive Director of aeris 
CAPITAL, Pfäffikon, Swiss

• Park & Bellheimer AG – chairman of the executive 
board

• ZetVisions AG – deputy chairman of the supervisory 
board

• Leonardo Venture GmbH & KGaA – deputy chairman 
of the supervisory board

• Epple Holding GmbH – chairman of the advisory 
council

• VRmagic Holding AG – supervisory board

The following table shows the transactions with related 
parties:

revenue Expenses Accounts receivable liabilities

in k€ 01/01/ – 12/31/2014 01/01/ – 12/31/2014 12/31/2014 12/31/2014

JK-COr companies 693 0 0 -81

Executive Board and Supervisory Board 13 1,387 0 7

Total 706 1,387 0 -74

in k€ 01/01/ – 12/31/2013 01/01/ – 12/31/2013 12/31/2013 12/31/2013

JK-COr companies 1,990 0 0 0

JK holding companies 70 2 0 0

Executive Board and Supervisory Board 13 976 0 85

Josef l. Kastenberger 372 847 1,502 0

Total 2,445 1,824 1,502 85

Transactions with related parties
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Remuneration for the Supervisory Board totaled k€ 134 in the past fiscal year (previous year: k€ 208).

michael haupt Christian Dunkelberg Jan von lewinski
Spokesman of the Executive Board (CEO) member of the Executive Board (CIO) member of the Executive Board (COO)

Joined: 02/01/2012  Joined: 12/15/2010 Joined: 01/01/2014

2013 2014 2014
(min)

2014
(max)

2013 2014 2014
(min)

2014
(max)

2013 2014 2014
(min)

2014
(max)

Fixed remuneration 248 330 330 330 248 330 330 330 0 300 300 300

Fringe benefits 36 17 17 17 14 14 14 14 0 15 15 15

Total 284 347 347 347 262 344 344 344 0 315 315 315

Single-year variable 
remuneration 100 314 0 330 100 314 0 330 0 290 0 300

multi-year variable  
remuneration 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 100 314 0 330 100 314 0 330 0 290 0 300

Pension-related 
expenses 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total remuneration 384 661 347 677 362 658 344 674 0 605 315 615

michael haupt
Spokesman of the Executive Board (CEO)

Christian Dunkelberg
member of the Executive Board (CIO)

Jan von lewinski
member of the Executive Board (COO)

Joined: 02/01/2012  Joined: 12/15/2010 Joined: 01/01/2014

2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013

Fixed remuneration 330 248 330 248 300 0

Incidential payments 17 36 14 14 15 0

Total 347 284 344 262 315 0

Single-year variable 
remuneration 150 50 150 130 50 0

multi-year variable  
remuneration 0 0 0 0 0 0

Other 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 150 50 150 130 50 0

Pension-related expenses 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total remuneration 497 334 494 392 365 0

Inflow

Income (42) Personnel

On average, there were 55 employees in fiscal year 
2014 (previous year: 31 employees).

12/31/2014 12/31/2013

Number of employees 60 50

(43) Earnings per share 

Earnings per share is calculated as the ratio between 
the consolidated earnings due to the shareholders of 
ISARIA Wohnbau AG and the weighted average num-
ber of shares in circulation in the year under review. As 
was the case in the previous year, there were no instru-
ments outstanding that could dilute the earnings. As a 
result, the diluted earnings per share is identical to the 
basic earnings per share.

The number of bearer shares accounted for in the calcu-
lation increased from 20,764,000 shares to 23,764,000 
shares due to the entry of the capital increase through 
contribution in kind (acquisi-tion of One Group GmbH) 
on 11 February 2014.

(44) Exemption under § 264(3) HGB or  
§ 264 b HGB 

The following subsidiaries have made use of the ex-
emption under § 264(3) HGB or § 264 b HGB:

• ISARIA Wohnbau Objekt Karlsfeld 2 GmbH (formerly JK 
Wohnbau AG & Co. Objekt Karlsfeld 2 KG)

• ISARIA Wohnbau Objekt Karlsfeld 3 GmbH (formerly JK 
Wohnbau AG & Co. Objekt Karlsfeld 3 KG)

• JK Wohnbau AG & Co. Objekt Maistrasse KG
• ISARIA GmbH & Co. Objekt Metropolis KG (formerly JK 

Wohnbaugesellschaft mbH & Co. Objekt Defregger-
strasse KG)

• ISARIA Verwaltungs AG & Co. Objekt Viktoriastrasse KG 
(formerly J.K. Verwaltungs GmbH & Co. Objekt Viktoria-
strasse KG

• App.artments GmbH 
• ISARIA Tower GmbH (formerly JK Tower GmbH)
• ISARIA Wohnbau Objekt Am Münchfeld GmbH (former-

ly JK Wohnbau Objekt Am Münchfeld GmbH)
• ISARIA Wohnbau Objekt Willy-Brandt-Allee GmbH (for-

merly JK Wohnbau Objekt Willy-Brandt-Allee GmbH)
• Living Bogenhausen GmbH

Share capital and number 
of shares (thousands)

Weighted number of shares 
outstanding (thousands)

01/01/2014 20,764 20,764
12/31/2014 23,764 23,764

Weighted number of common shares outstanding in the financial year 2014 (in thousands) 23,427

Calculation of earnings per share 2014 2013

Consolidated result after taxes on income attributable to the  
shareholders of JKW (in k€)

9,294 1,046

Weighted number of common shares outstanding (in thousands) 23,427 20,764

Basic earnings per share (in €) 0.40 0.05

Diluted earnings per share (in €) 0.40 0.05

Weighted number of common shares outstanding
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(45) Fees of the auditor of the consolidated 
fi nancial statements

The auditor for fiscal year 2014, Nörenberg • Schröder 
GmbH Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, Hamburg, 
charged fees totaling k€ 416 for fiscal year 2014 (previ-
ous year: k€ 462). Of this total, k€ 262 (previous year: 
k€ 405) related to auditing services for the audit of 
the annual and consolidated financial statements, and 
k€ 50 (previous year: k€ 15) related to other consult-
ing services. In addition, fees of k€ 11 (previous year: 
k€ 42) were charged for tax advisory services and 
other services. In addition, expenses of k€ 30 (previ-
ous year: k€ 28) were charged.

All of the stated fees and expenses are net of statutory 
VAT of 19 %. The ISARIA Wohnbau Group cannot deduct 
the VAT invoiced, and it thus has to be recognized as 
an expense.

(46) Events after the balance sheet date

On 16 February 2015 the corporate bond 2014/2015 was re-
paid on schedule in the amount of € 10.0 million.

In addition, in February we also received the term sheet 
from a bank to finance the project in Kapstadtring in Ham-
burg with a volume of up to € 16.9 million.

Apart from this, on the date that these consolidated fi-
nancial statements were prepared, the company was not 
aware of any material events that occurred after the bal-
ance sheet date and which have a material impact on the 
group’s business growth.

(47) Declaration of conformity with the 
German Corporate Governance Code

The declaration of conformity with the German Cor-
porate Governance Code prescribed under § 161 AktG 
 [Aktiengesetz, German Stock Corporation Act] was 
issued by the Executive Board and the Supervisory 
board of ISARIA Wohnbau AG and has been made per-
manently available to the shareholders on the Com-
pany’s Internet page (www.isaria.ag) in the Investor 
Relations section.

Munich, 09 March 2015

Michael Haupt
Spokesman of the 
 Executive Board  |  CEO

Christian Dunkelberg
Member of the 
Executive Board  |  CIO

Jan von Lewinski
Member of the 
Executive Board |  COO
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We have audited the consolidated financial statements 
prepared by ISARIA Wohnbau AG, Munich, comprising 
the statement of financial position, statement of com-
prehensive income, statement of changes in equity, 
statement of cash flows and the notes to the financial 
statements, together with the Group management re-
port for the financial year from 01 January to 31 Decem-
ber 2014. The preparation of the consolidated financial 
statements and the Group management report in ac-
cordance with the IFRS, as adopted by the EU and the 
additional requirements of German commercial law 
pursuant to §315a (1) HGB (Handelsgesetzbuch – “Ger-
man Commercial Code”) is, the responsibility of the par-
ent Company’s legal representatives. Our responsibility 
is to express an opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements and on the Group management report 
based on our audit.

We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with §317 HGB and German 
generally accepted standards for the audit of financial 
statements promulgated by the Institute of Public Au-
ditors in Germany (Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer IDW). 
Those standards require that we plan and perform the 
audit such that misstatements materially affecting 
the presentation of the net assets, financial position 
and results of operations in the consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with the applicable financial 
reporting framework and in the Group management 
report are detected with reasonable assurance. Knowl-
edge of the business activities and the economic and 
legal environment of the Group and expectations as to 
possible misstatements are taken into account in the 
determination of audit procedures. The effectiveness 
of the accounting-related internal control system and 
the evidence supporting the disclosures in the consoli-
dated financial statements and the Group management 
report are examined primarily on a test basis within the 
framework of the audit. The audit includes assessing 
the annual financial statements of the entities included 
in consolidation, the determination of the entities to be 

included in consolidation, the accounting and consolida-
tion principles used and significant estimates made by 
the Company´s legal representatives, as well as evalu-
ating the overall presentation of the consolidated finan-
cial statements and the Group management report. We 
believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for 
our opinion.

Our audit has not led to any reservations.

In our opinion, based on our findings of the audit, the 
consolidated financial statements comply with the IFRS, 
as adopted by the EU, and the additional requirements 
of German commercial law pursuant to § 315a (1) HGB 
and give a true and fair view of the net assets, finan-
cial position and results of operations of the Group in 
accordance with these requirements. The Group man-
agement report is consistent with the consolidated fi-
nancial statements and as a whole provides a suitable 
view of the Group´s position and suitably presents the 
opportunities and risks of future development.

Independent Auditor´s Report 

We assure to the best of our knowledge that the con-
solidated financial statements give a true and fair view 
of the net assets, financial position and results of the 
Group, and the Group Management Report, includes a 
fair review of the development and performance of the 
business and the position of the Group, together with a 
description of the material opportunities and risks as-
sociated with the expected development of the Group.

Responsibility Statement of the Legal Representatives

Munich, 09 March 2015

Michael Haupt
Spokesman of the 
 Executive Board  |  CEO

Christian Dunkelberg
Member of the 
Executive Board  |  CIO

Jan von Lewinski
Member of the 
Executive Board |  COO

Hamburg, 11 March 2015

Nörenberg • Schröder

GmbH Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft 

Cronemeyer
Wirtschaftsprüfer

Michels
Wirtschaftsprüfer
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This annual report contains statements referring to the future. Forward-looking statements are statements which 
are not based on historical events and facts. These statements are based on assumptions, forecasts and evaluations 
of future developments by the management board. These assumptions, forecasts and evaluations were made on the 
basis of all the information which is available at the current time. If the assumptions of future developments used 
in the statements and evaluations do not materialise, the actual results might deviate from the current expecta-
tions. The Executive Board and the Company do not accept any liability with regard to the actual materialisation of 
the forward-looking statements. The Executive Board and the Company do not accept any obligation to continue 
any statements or adjust such to future events and developments over and above the legal requirements. This an-
nual report and the information contained herein do not form an offer for the sale or an offer to buy or subscribe 
securities of ISARIA Wohnbau AG within the Federal Republic of Germany or in any other country. In the United 
States, the shares of ISARIA Wohnbau AG may only be sold or offered for sale after prior registration or, without 
prior registration, on the basis of an exemption from the registration requirement according to the provisions of the 
1933 US Securities Act in its currently valid version. ISARIA Wohnbau AG does not intend to carry out a public offer 
of shares in the United States.

Forward-looking Statements and Forecasts
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